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Chairman's Statement

BN

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) is
encountering unprecedented global and economic challenges
during the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”). Its
much-hailed reopening in early 2023 after three years of
lockdown did not generate the economic rebound that we
hoped for. There are doubts about the strength of China’s
recovery. The growing geopolitical tensions and trade
frictions continue to put off investors, capital outflows amid
weakening foreign investor confidence are valid concerns.

Consumption has become the country’s engine of growth
since restrictions were lifted. Monetary easing and increased
government spending on infrastructure have also boosted
growth. However the prolonged property slowdown
continues to weigh heavily on consumer confidence, since
real estate accounts for a large proportion of household
wealth in China.

However, the disappointing performance was at least in
part cushioned by the Chinese government’s moves since
July 2023 to ramp up stimulus intended to stabilise the
property sector and defuse local government debt risks.
The government is expected to continue implementing
economic and monetary policies to maintain a stable
investment environment, fostering investor confidence and
local consumption.

During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") of the
last three years, Chinlink International Holdings Limited (the
“Company” or “Chinlink”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has adopted a conservative
business approach. We have deleveraged the real estate
investment and downsized financial business operations,
which are highly exposed to market volatility. Actions taken
included disposals of Chinlink International Centre (the
“CIC") to hedge against rising interest costs and uncertainty
of the commercial real estate market in China. The Group
disposed its majority stake in MCM Holdings Limited
("“MCM") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “MCM Group”), a boutique investment bank specialised
in the advisory of foreign investment in China ventures and
capital market, as MCM'’s business was heavily undermined
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by the exits of foreign capital from China and Hong Kong
largely due to the ongoing geopolitical uncertainties. The
grim outlook of the capital market and high maintenance
costs justified this disinvestment. The Group also significantly
scaled down its portfolio of the financial services including
financial guarantee, factoring and money lending because
of the ongoing market challenges and escalating credit risks.
Substantial loss provisions were provided during the Year
for those non-performing loans and guarantees. We believe
most of these problem loans could be recovered through
exercising securities and guarantees, given sufficient time
and effort.

During the Year, the weak Renminbi (“RMB") against the
strong United States dollars (“US$"”) posted a negative
impact on the Group, as most of its assets and income are
denominated in renminbi. Consistently high interest costs
and the tight credit market have restricted the Group's
ability to restructure its debts. The Group’s deleveraging
program was not successful in the distressed property market
environment. Despite continuous efforts to streamline
operating expenses, the Group still suffered from declining
incomes, high debt servicing costs and tight liquidity.

The unsatisfactory Group performance during the Year was
partly attributed to our misguided business focus on asset
heavy real estate investment and financial services, which
are sensitive to macroeconomic environment changes. We
are aware of the structural problem and have developed
plans for diversification. However, the COVID-19 lockdowns
during the last three years and the depressed economy have
restricted our efforts to access other business models, such as
asset management, start-up incubation, and venture capital
investment in new technology and green energy. Given
the gradual rebound of China market and our established
strengths in China, it is time for us to embark on a new
business course.
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Chairman's Statement
By L

As the Chairman of the Group and the controlling
shareholder, | am committed to assisting the Group to
overcome any difficult moment. During this time, | have
provided the Group with my personal financial resources as
necessary, offering this support without consideration, and
| remain committed to extending such assistance moving
forward should the need arise.

As always, | will relentlessly provide my best effort to steer
the Group against the challenges for a better future in the
days ahead with confidence and commitment. Last but not
least, | am most grateful to our friends and colleagues who
have dedicated their support to us over the years.

Li Weibin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Financial Highlights
A 15 fivi 22

TURNOVER BY CONTINUING OPERATING SEGMENTS
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Financial Summary

i 5 i 2

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE=A=+-HLEE 1
HK$'000
Yhn
Continuing operations: RETEEy
Revenue WA 97,278
Gross profit £l 70,776
Loss before taxation ik (423,346)
Income tax (charge) credit it (%) #% 38,220
Loss for the year from continuing operations FESEEEERAEEHE (385,126)
Discontinued operation: BRI
Loss for the year, net of income tax FEEGE  RASEH -
Loss for the year from continuing RERETERCRLEEER,
and discontinued operations TEEHR (385,126)
Loss before non-controlling interests FetiERERAI 2R (385,126)
Non-controlling interests F3 g (334)
Loss attributable to owners FRARANEESE
of the Company (381,784)
Dividends paid BiRRE S
Basic and diluted loss per share RERELEER RES
from continuing operations RiHEHE HK(32.65) cent
Basic and diluted loss per share FEBRIEEEE 2 EREL
from discontinued operation it &t HK- cent #ll
Basic and diluted loss per share REREEERDRLLITEEE
from continuing and discontinued ZERERREERR
operation HK(32.65) cent &l

Note 1:The comparative loss per share has been restated as if

the effect of share consolidation and right issue adjusted

retrospectively during the financial year ended 31 March

2021 have been affected at the beginning of the financial
year ended 31 March 2020.

Note 2:The comparative statement of profit or loss for the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 has been restated as if the
operations discontinued during the financial year ended 31
March 2023 had been discontinued at the beginning of the
financial year ended 31 March 2022.

2003
CECCE
HK$'000
TER

118,770
90,177
(396,321)
18,046
(378.275)

(7,206)

(385,481)

(385,481)
(6,839)

(378,642)

HK(32.21) cent 1l

HK(0.17) cent L

HK(32.38) cent 1L

Mz

M2 :

2022 2021 2020
Sl TE-E “3I%E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TR TiEn
Note 2
(bzk2)
148,935 223,678 425,498
109,468 155,940 144,700
(331,813) (146,712) (79,262)
14,013 (15,467) (39,774)
(317,800) (162,179) (119,036)
(14,549) - (11,830)
(332,349) (162,179) (130,866)
(332,349) (162,179) (130,866)
1,114 16,674 (806)
(334,063) (178,853) (130,060)
Note 2 Note 1
(Bizk2) (FizE1)

HK(27.25) cent (L HK(57.86) cent ML HK(40.76) cent L

HK(1.32) cent 1l - HKB.73) cent Hil

HK(28.57) cent 1l  HK(57.86) cent 11 HK(44.49) cent L
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FZA=t—HUEMBFEEMRAENZ
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[ERIEmREEY » PR BE—ZE "=
FZA=+—HLUBFEERLEE %
BERBE_Z-__F=—RA=+—HLHH
FERMBRR LR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the Year under review, the Group recorded a total
revenue from continuing operations of HK$97.3 million,
representing a drop of 18.1% compared with the year
ended 31 March 2023 (the “Previous Year”). Chinlink’s
performance during the Year is hardly satisfactory amidst
an unfavourable operating environment.

The Company’s business consists of two major categories,
namely property investment business and financial guarantee
services and other financial services business. The majority
of these businesses are conducted in China, except the
money lending business which is conducted in Hong Kong
and is regulated by Money Lenders Ordinance. Both sectors
encountered adverse market conditions in China and Hong
Kong during the Year, thus affecting the Company’s
performance. The economic situation in China has not
improved since the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions in early
2023. During the Year, China was still under the pressure
of a distressed real estate market and its spillover effect
into China’s broader economy. The overall China’s Gross
Domestic Product growth was dragged down as real estate
investment and construction activities were substantially
reduced. The real estate woes have undermined household
wealth and shaken consumer sentiment, leading to declined
spending on housing, appliances, furniture, and other related
products. As local governments in China rely heavily on
land sales and real estate taxes for revenue, the real estate
downturn has strained their budgets and finances, leading
to tighter government spendings. The banking and financial
sectors have significant exposure to the real estate market.
Rising defaults and falling collateral values pose risks to the
stability of the financial system, rendering it difficult for
other businesses, especially for the small and medium-sized
private companies, to obtain financing.

W PHL I i i Be 51
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Management Discussion and Analysis

5 PHL I i i Be 53 M

Faced with such harsh real estate market, the Group’s
income from the property investment segment during the
Year declined by almost 12.4%. After the disposal of CIC
in 2022, the Group lost a new source of income from
rental and property management of CIC. Moreover, revenues
from the Daminggong Construction Materials and Furniture
Shopping Centre (Dongsanhuan Branch)* (the “Commercial
Complex”) dropped despite its high occupancy level of
over 96%. Tenants of the Commercial Complex mostly
specialise in selling home furnishings, decorations, and home
appliances, and they have to struggle for survival as demand
for their goods and services is low due to the sluggish
property market. Hence the Group had to grant generous
rent-free incentives and lower rates to retain tenants for
tenancy renewals. Such measures effectively dragged down
revenues from the Commercial Complex. Furthermore, the
pre-sale of the phase two development of the Commercial
Complex (the “Phase Two”) has come to a halt because
of the difficult market situation. It will take more time
for the Phase Two to generate meaningful income to the
Group. In light of the real estate market downturn, the value
of the Group’s investment properties in RMB declined by
approximately 9% on average.

The Group’s financial services income continue to decline
during the Year. Because of the challenging business
environment and escalating credit risks, the Group has
shrunk its loans and guaranteed portfolios for those high-risk
customers. Expected credit loss was provided for in respect
of certain non-performing loans. The Group will not seek
to expand its financial services until there is a substantial
improvement in the market.

* For identification purpose only.

ERMERENEMESS » ZEBRAKE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEGMENTAL REVIEW

Property Investment Business

The property investment business income for the year was
almost entirely derived from the Commercial Complex and
CIC. The property investment business generated HK$90.2
million in revenue during the Year down HK$12.8 million
or 12.4% from the Previous Year of HK$103.0 million.
The decline was mainly attributed to the loss of an income
source after the CIC Disposal (as defined below) which
was completed in June 2022. During the Previous Year,
the contribution of CIC was approximately HK$8.0 million.
Rental and management services incomes during the Year
from the Commercial Complex amounted to RMB82.4 million
(equivalent to HK$89.7 million) compared with RMB83.5
million (equivalent to HK$95.0 million) in the Previous Year,
only a slight decline of 1.3%. The Commercial Complex still
sustained well despite the harsh property market situation
in China.

As the Group’s income from the property investment is
in RMB, a decrease of approximately 4.0% in our report
in the Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") terms arose from the
depreciation of RMB against HK$. Otherwise, the decline in
revenue in the Year would only be around 8.4%.

Financial Guarantee Services and Other Financing
Services Businesses

During the Year, the Group continued to provide financial
guarantee and factoring services in China and money lending
business in China and Hong Kong. The Group has not
engaged in financial advisory services since the completion
of the restructuring of MCM Group in November 2022.
Due to the unfavourable economy and the tight liquidity
situation in China and Hong Kong, the Group’s has taken
a very conservative approach to the financing businesses.
As a result, incomes from financial services in terms of fees
and interest shrank by 55.1% to HK$7.1 million only, from
HK$15.8 million for the Previous Year because of reduction
in the portfolio size and lower average fee rate charged.

W PHL I i i Be 51

53 &R (ol 8
WEREEFS

AFEENMERBEBRALT2IREE
EREREZEAZERAL o REAFE > ¥
EREERESXWA0,200,0008 7T » BRE
£ #Y 103,000,000 7% 7T 2> 12,800,000 7 7T
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Management Discussion and Analysis

5 PHL I i i Be 53 M

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Profitability Analysis

Upon completion of the MCM Disposal (as defined below)
in November 2022, the financial results of financial advisory
services contributed by MCM Group for the Previous Year
were classified as discontinued operations. For the Year, the
Group's revenue from continuing operations was HK$97.3
million, reflecting a significant decrease of 18.1% from
HK$118.8 million in the Previous Year. Revenue contribution
by segment comprised: property investment of HK$90.2
million (2023: HK$103.0 million) and financial guarantee
services and other financial services of HK$7.1 million (2023:
HK$15.8 million).

Gross profit for the Year decreased to HK$70.8 million,
down 21.5% from HK$90.2 million in the Previous Year.
Gross profit margin decreased to 72.8% from 75.9% in
the Previous Year.

The decrease in revenue and gross profit was mainly
attributable to the drop in revenue from (i) financial
guarantee and other financial services due to lower interest
rate and services fee rate charged to the customers; and
property investment business due to CIC Disposal; and (ii)
the depreciation of RMB against HK$ during the Year.

Other income, gains and losses recorded a gain of HK$72.9
million (2023: HK$60.0 million) for the Year, mainly
attributable to (i) adjustment on carrying amounts of amounts
due to related parties and a director and (ii) exchange
gain arising from the depreciation of RMB against HK$.
During the Previous Year, the gain comprised (i) exchange
gain arising from the depreciation of RMB against HK$; (ii)
interest income from bank deposits; and (iii) adjustment on
carrying amounts of amounts due to related parties and a
director.

B 75 [Cl RS

BFIGES 2T
AZEF+—ATHEMCMEEZTIE(E
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BRI BEER O BACRIELEE
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BITAEEA18.1% o D EED 2 IR AZE
JREIE C W E 90,200,000 0 (ZE =
£ 103,000,000 70) U KB EERIRFE &
HhBr & ARF57,100,0008 0 (— B _=F :
15,800,00037T) ©

AREEEFTEZET0,800,000H 7T » WEFE
290,200,000 TR D 21.5% « EFEHE
F275.9% FEET2.8% ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Previous Year, the Group recorded a one-off
significant loss on disposal of a subsidiary for HK$95.4
million. On 29 April 2022, the Group entered into the
conditional sale and purchase agreement with Shaanxi
Tianheng (as defined below) for disposal of the entire equity
interest in Real King (as defined below) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary incorporated in the PRC which holds CIC,
being one of the investment properties of the Group) for
a cash consideration of RMB132.4 million and the disposal
transaction was completed at the end of June 2022.

The Group recorded loss on fair value change of investment
properties for HK$266.1 million (2023: HK$122.5 million)
during the Year. It was mainly attributable to a fair value loss
of the Commercial Complex and the logistics park project
located at Hantai District, Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province,
the PRC (the “Chinlink ¢ Worldport”) due to the sustained
slump in the property market.

Also, certain customers under our financial services
encountered short-term cash flow difficulties and some of
the loan receivables and factoring receivables are overdue.
The Group has implemented certain measures to protect the
interest of the Group, such as issuing reminders and warning
letters to the customers, obtaining further collaterals from
the customers, closely monitoring the cash inflow from their
receivables etc. For prudence basis, the Group provided
allowance for under expected credit loss of HK$64.5 million
(2023: HK$58.8 million) for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

5 PHL I i i Be 53 M

During the Previous Year, share of profit of an associate
(namely Chinlink Finance Lease Company Limited (“Chinlink
Finance Lease”)) up to mid of May 2022 when the Deemed
Disposal (as defined below) took place amounted to HK$1.2
million. In mid of May 2022, the registered capital of
Chinlink Finance Lease was enlarged as new capital was
injected by an independent third party, as a result, the
Group's effective equity interest in it was diluted from 25%
to 13.6% (the “Deemed Disposal”) and it ceased to be
an associate of the Group since then and was classified as
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income and accordingly, the Group also recorded a loss
on Deemed Disposal of an associate company of HK$1.5
million which was the difference between the fair value of
13.6% investment retained and the carrying amount of 25%
retained equity interest in Chinlink Finance Lease as at the
date of completion of Deemed Disposal.

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs,
travelling expenses, depreciation, legal and professional fees
which totalled HK$53.2 million for the Year, representing
a decrease of HK$19.9 million as compared with HK$73.1
million in the Previous Year. The decrease was mainly due to
(i) reduction in staff costs as the result of streamlining the
workforce during the COVID-19 pandemic; (ii) decrease in
administrative expenses since the completion of CIC Disposal,
and (iii) depreciation of RMB against HK$ during the Year.

Finance costs amounted to HK$173.5 million for the Year,
representing a decrease of HK$12.4 million as compared
with HK$185.9 million in the Previous Year. The decrease
was mainly due to (i) repayment of high-interest bank
and other borrowing with the new low-interest bank loan
obtained from Shaanxi Qinnong Rural Commercial Bank
Company Limited in December 2022; and (ii) depreciation
of RMB against HK$ during the Year which reduced the
finance costs denominated in RMB being translated to the
reporting currency, i.e. HKS$.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

After the MCM Disposal, the Group ceased to engage in
financial advisory services business and the financial results
of the MCM Group for the Previous Year were classified as
discontinued operations of the Group. During the Previous
Year, loss from discontinued operations amounted to HK$7.2
million. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Disposal of subsidiaries” in this Management Discussion
and Analysis.

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss of HK$385.1 million
(2023: HK$385.5 million) mainly due to (i) drop in revenue
from financial guarantee and other financing services and
property investment businesses as the economic situation
in China has not improved since the lifting of COVID-19
restrictions in early 2023; (ii) substantial loss on fair value
change of investment properties due to the unfavourable
real estate market in China and (iii) increase in allowance
provided for under expected credit loss model. Such impact
was partially offset by (i) the decrease in administrative
expenses and finance costs and (ii) a one-off loss of HK$95.4
million arising from the disposal of the entire equity interest
in Real King being recognised in the Previous Year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the bank balances and cash and
pledged bank deposits amounted to HK$64.5 million in
total, representing a decrease of HK$106.5 million from
HK$171.0 million in the Previous Year. The decrease was
mainly due to (i) repayment of bank and other borrowings;
(ii) daily operating expenses of the Group; and (iii) reduction
of pledged bank deposit for financial guarantee business
during the Year.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and other borrowings of
the Group which were mainly denominated in HK$, RMB
and US$ amounted to HK$1,432.8 million (31 March 2023:
HK$1,599.4 million), representing a decrease of HK$166.6
million from that of 31 March 2023, of which HK$1,256.3
million and HK$176.6 million were repayable within one
year and two to five years respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

5 PHL I i i Be 53 M

Details of the significant financing activities completed during
the Year (some of which had imposed specific performance
obligations on the controlling shareholder of the Company
which were subject to announcement disclosure under Rule
13.18 of the Listing Rules and requirements of disclosure
in annual reports under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules)
were as follows:

6.5% Coupon Bonds

6.5% coupon bonds (the “6.5% Coupon Bonds”) with
aggregate principal amount of HK$200.0 million were issued
in four tranches on 7 August 2019, 8 August 2019, 19
August 2019 and 6 September 2019. The 6.5% Coupon
Bonds are secured by the equity interests of certain
subsidiaries, repayable on the day falling on the first
anniversary of the issue dates, interest bearing at 6.5%
per annum and guaranteed by Mr. Li Weibin (“Mr. Li") (the
ultimate controlling shareholder and an executive director
of the Company). During 2020, the 6.5% Coupon Bonds
were matured, of which HK$41.5 million were redeemed
by the Company and the remaining principal of HK$158.5
million were extended for one year pursuant to the deed
of amendment dated 6 August 2020.

On 23 August 2021,
guarantor),

the Company and Mr. Li (as the
with the approval of the bondholders of
the 6.5% Coupon Bonds, executed the second deed of
amendment to amend certain terms and conditions of the
bond instrument of the 6.5% Coupon Bonds, pursuant to
which the maturity dates of the 6.5% Coupon Bonds were
extended for 1 year and the Company can re-issue the 6.5%
Coupon Bonds of up to HK$140.0 million in aggregate.
The maturity date of the new issue shall be the day falling
on the first anniversary of the new issue dates. During the
year ended 31 March 2022, the 6.5% Coupon Bonds with
principal amount of HK$67.0 million were extended for one
year and HK$59.3 million were newly placed and issued.
The proceeds from new placing were used to refinance
the existing borrowings. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 23 August 2021
and 30 September 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the 6.5% Coupon
Bonds were matured, of which HK$28.5 million were
redeemed by the Company and HK$97.8 million were
extended for two years pursuant to the third deed of
amendment dated 12 August 2022. According to the
third deed of amendment, the bondholders were granted
early redemption right to request for early redemption of
bonds on the first anniversary of the extension date. If the
bondholders do not exercise such early redemption right,
they shall receive a one-off additional fixed interest of 2%
of the outstanding principal amount as at the maturity date.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the bondholders of
the 6.5% Coupon Bonds with the principal amount of HK$6.0
million exercised the early redemption right to request for
early redemption of bonds on the first anniversary of the
extension date pursuant to the third deed of amendment
dated 12 August 2022.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group recorded net current
liabilities of HK$1,454.0 million (31 March 2023: HK$1,460.2
million) and the current ratio of the Group calculated as the
Group’s current assets over its current liabilities was 0.34
(31 March 2023: 0.43). The fallback in the current ratio was
mainly due to the significant decrease of bank balances and
cash for repayment of bank and other borrowings and daily
operating expenses of the Group during the Year.

Share Capital

As at 31 March 2024, the authorised share capital and issued
share capital of the Company were HK$625.0 million and
HK$11.69 million respectively (31 March 2023: HK$625.0
million and HK$11.69 million respectively). There were no
changes in the authorised share capital and issued share
capital of the Company during the Year.
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Disposal of subsidiaries

On 14 November 2022, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement to dispose Alpha Yield Limited
(a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which
owned the MCM Group) to certain independent third
parties at a consideration of USD1.53 million (the “MCM
Disposal”). On the same date, the Group entered into
transaction documents to further acquire the share capital
of an existing non-wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Chinlink
Alpha Limited from Alpha Yield Limited at a consideration
of USD1.5 million. Both of the disposal and acquisition were
completed on 14 November 2022. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 14 November
2022. MCM Disposal constituted discontinued operations of
the Group and the financial results of MCM Group for the
Previous Year were classified to discontinued operations.
The Group recognised loss from discontinued operations
(including gain on MCM Disposal of HK$3.4 million) of
HK$7.2 million during the Previous Year.

Under the volatile property market and the rising financing
costs due to tight market liquidity, the Group decided to
reduce its exposure in the China real estate market in the
Previous Year. During the Previous Year, the Group disposed
of the ownership of the CIC, a commercial complex with
office and retail space, through the sale of 100% equity
interest of Real King International (Xi‘an) Information
Technology Company Limited* (“Real King”) (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in
the PRC) to Shaanxi Tianheng Investment Company Limited*
(“Shaanxi Tianheng”) (an independent third party) (the
“CIC Disposal”). The CIC Disposal was completed on 30
June 2022. The net proceeds from the CIC Disposal were
used for the repayment of the debts of the Group. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 29 April 2022, 24 May 2022 and 10 June 2022 and
the circular of the Company dated 25 May 2022. The Group
recognised substantial loss on CIC Disposal of HK$95.4
million during the Previous Year.

* For identification purpose only.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2024 was 0.77
(31 March 2023: 0.69) which was calculated based on the
Group’s total liabilities of HK$2,761.2 million (31 March
2023: HK$3,067.9 million) and the Group's total assets of
HK$3,587.8 million (31 March 2023: HK$4,430.9 million).
The fallback in the gearing ratio was mainly due to loss
arising from (i) provision of under expected credit loss; and
(ii) devaluation of investment properties during the Year.

Material lending transactions

As part of the normal course of business of the Group, the
Group provided certain financial services to its customers,
which included (i) provision of various type of lending, for
instance, factoring loans; entrusted loans; and other loans
etc.; and (ii) provision of financial guarantee service. Details
of the Group's lending business as at 31 March 2024 are
as follows:

(i) Business model of the Group’s lending businesses

As part of the normal course of businesses of the
Group, the Group provided certain financial services to
its customers through its subsidiaries which possessed
relevant licences (including the money lenders license
issued under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter
163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the financing
guarantee enterprise operation license in the PRC
(FEARAENERE E R AREEBEEFFAIEE)), which
included (i) provision of various type of lending, for
instance, factoring loans; entrusted loans; and other
loans etc.; and (ii) provision of financial guarantee
service of which the Group agreed to guarantee the
settlement by its customers of the obligation under
the loan agreements entered into by its customers
(as the borrowers) and the lenders.
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Such financing services are generally provided to
individual and corporate borrowers that have
short-term funding needs. Except for the financial
guarantee granted to customers who are applying
property mortgage loan which involved low-level
of risk and insignificant amount, collaterals and/
or countered guarantee is/are generally requested.
The Group’s clientele is primarily acquired through
business referrals from business partners or
customers, introduction from the banks and the
Group’s management. Customers are enterprises
engaged in various industries (including software
development and information technology consultancy
services, smart fire alarm system project, advertising
design, management of apartments, property
development, research and development and agency
sales of energy-saving products, food and beverage
and entertainment business, trading of construction
materials and provision of landscaping engineering
services, etc.) in the PRC, or individual who needs
a short-term guarantee for application of property
mortgage loan. The source of funds for the lending
business and financial guarantee business was funded
by the internal resources and net proceeds from
the issuance of bonds of the Group. The Group has
internal business unit and risk assessment unit to
assess the risk level of each transaction.
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(i)

Management Discussion and Analysis

Major terms of loans/financial guarantee granted

The interest rate of the loans were ranging from
2.0% to 12.5% per annum and maturity profile of
the loans as at 31 March 2024 were all within 1 year.
All of the loan receivables as at 31 March 2024 were
guaranteed by the legal representatives, shareholders
of the customers and/or independent third party
corporations, of which 90.3% were also secured
by (i) operating income; (ii) the deforestation right
owned by the customers; (iii) trade receivables; or (iv)
post-dated cheques issued by the customers. As at 31
March 2024, HK$152.2 million of the loan receivables
were overdue. Based on the valuation performed by
a qualified valuer, expected credit loss of HK$64.8
million was provided for the Year. To reduce the risk
of bad debt, the Group has implemented certain
measures, such as issuing reminders and warning
letters to the customers, obtaining further collaterals
(like share pledge of the customer or its subsidiaries)
from the customers, closely monitoring the cash
inflow from their receivables.

(ii)
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(iif)

In respect of guarantee fee, the guarantee and
consultancy services fee (in aggregate) charged to
the customers were ranging from 1.0% to 5.0% of
the loan principal per annum except the guarantee
fee charged to individual customers who are applying
property mortgage loan which involved low-level of
risk and insignificant amount, the Group generally
charges a fixed sum ranging from RMB400 to RMB700
per case. The maturity profile of the guarantee
granted by the Group as at 31 March 2024 were all
within one year. Except for the financial guarantee
granted to the customers who are applying property
mortgage loan, all of the guarantee arrangements
are counter-guaranteed by the legal representatives,
shareholders of the customers and/or independent
third party corporations, of which 20.5% were also
secured by trade receivables owned by the customers.
As at 31 March 2024, no underlying bank loans was
overdue. Based on the valuation performed by a
qualified valuer, no further expected credit loss was
provided for in the Year.

The size and diversity of customers

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total loan
receivables amounting to HK$182.9 million and the
total guarantee sum provided by the Group to the
lenders amounted to HK$89.3 million. A summary
of the customer diversity classified by the size of
principal is as follows:

(iif)
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Financial

Lending guarantee

&8 RMERR

Number of Number of

customers/ customers/

(Total lending (Total guarantee

principal (HK$)) principal (HK$))

ZEHE/ ZR#E/

(BRE&42%E (EREE4EEE

Principal range F&HE (7)) (B7)
Below HK$10 million 10,000,000/t T 8/HK$36.2 million  72/HK$89.3 million
8,/36,200,000%75 72,/89,300,000387C

HK$10 million — HK$20 million 10,000,0007%75-20,000,00078 70 5/HK$75.6 million 0/HK$Nil million
5,/75,600,0007 7T 0/ EHT

HK$20 million = HK$30 million 20,000,0007%7c-30,000,0007 75 O/HK$Nil million O/HKSNil million
0/ ZBET 0/ BHTT

HK$30 million — HK$40 million 30,000,000787t-40,000,000587T 2/HK$71.1 million O/HK$Nil million
2,/71,100,00087¢ 0/ ZE

The amounts of lending to the five largest customers
(in aggregate) and the amounts of guarantee sum
granted to the five largest customers (in aggregate)
amounted to approximately HK$125.9 million and
HK$29.1 million, respectively. They accounted for
approximately 68.8% and 32.6% respectively of the
total loan receivables and total guarantee sum of the
Group as at 31 March 2024.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group's revenue, expenses, major assets and liabilities
were mainly denominated in HK$, RMB and US$. During the
Year, the exchange rate of RMB to HK$ depreciated slightly.
As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Directors considered that the
foreign currency risk of the Group was relatively low.

RERAALELANBESH(A
I RBFRARAELANEREE
&5H) D R4#125,900,0008 7T &
29,100,000 7T c REDRMEEREE
A TE_NEZR=+—HZzREKE
FABRREAIERARERLI68.8% K%232.6% °

SMEE R B
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Contingent Liabilities and Charge on Assets

Save as disclosed in Note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 296 of this annual report, the Group
did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had pledged (i) bank
deposits of HK$56.8 million to certain banks as securities
in return for the banks’ provision of loans to the Group's
financial guarantee services customers; (ii) leasehold land
and building with carrying value of HK$20.1 million to
secure obligations under banking facilities; and (iii) certain
investment properties with fair value of HK$2,640.5 million
and equity interest in certain subsidiaries to secure obligation
under certain bank and other borrowings, the 6.5% Coupon
Bonds and 13.0% Coupon Bonds.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitments
contracted but not provided for amounting to HK$24.9
million in respect of the development of Chinlink e
Worldport. Details of the commitments are set out in Note 46
to the consolidated financial statements on page 298 of this
annual report. The Group will fund the capital commitments
through cash generated from operations, bank and other
borrowings and borrowings from the controlling shareholder
of the Company and disposal of assets.

Events after the reporting period

There is no significant subsequent event after the year end
date of 31 March 2024.

Final Dividend

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2023: Nil).

Major Risks

The major risks that may affect the Group’s business are
outlined below:

HARGBREEMRIT
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ZHELTHMRIET - EARITHEENEMT
2R R(i)yAF{EA2,640,500,00078 7T
ZETHREMERETWB AT 2K - (F
AHETRITREAMBER 65%EEEHFK
13.0%REEHEFNEEZER ©

BEEE

RIZEZMWFE=A=+—H > XEEKH
BEETS - HRBEETHNERBE
24,900,000 8T 2 BARKIE - BRAKE 2
BN AN ERFE 298 B 4r & SR RMIE46 ©
FEBREBLEMELEZRE ~ RITAHE
HER - REXABERKRER Z BRI T
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Economic Risk

The Group’s core businesses and properties are located in
Hong Kong and China. As such, the general policies and
politics, and fiscal and monetary policies of the governments
of Hong Kong and China may have a direct or indirect
economic impact on the Group. The Group closely monitors
the economic environment, evaluates the situation and
adjusts its strategy as needed to mitigate these risks.

Credit Risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk results from trade
debtors and loan receivables arising from the sale of goods,
rendering of services to customers and providing loans to
customers, and the provision of guarantees to lending banks
in favour of customers obtaining loans provided by the
lending banks. The Group has a credit policy in place and
credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis. Individual
credit assessments are carried out to determine the credit
limits and terms which are reviewed on a regular basis.

Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its liquidity risk by closely monitoring
its current and expected liquidity requirements, ensuring
that there is sufficient liquid cash, committed bank facilities
and/or loans from its controlling shareholder to meet its
funding needs. In addition, the Group continuously monitors
its compliance with loan covenants.

Compliance Risk

The Group recognises the risks of non-compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group conducts on-going
reviews of laws and regulations affecting its operations
and provides relevant training and guidance to staff.

W PHL I i i Be 51
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Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 10 employees in
Hong Kong, 152 employees in China (31 March 2023: 11
employees in Hong Kong and 167 employees in China).
Employees are remunerated based on their performance
and relevant working experiences, taking into account the
prevailing market conditions. Discretionary performance
bonus may be awarded to employees with reference to the
financial performance of the Group. Other employee benefits
include contributions to mandatory provident funds, medical
insurance and professional development and training.

The Group is dedicated to fostering close working relationships
with customers and suppliers. The maintenance of good
relationship with customers and suppliers is fundamental to
the Group’s operational performance and on-going financial
success.

PROSPECTS

Given the continued weakness in the Chinese real estate
sector and the spillover effects on the overall economy,
particularly on the growth momentum, the weakened
consumer sentiment and investment confidence, the
intensified geopolitical tensions and the subdued external
demand for the exports of goods and services, the outlook
for the Chinese economy is not very encouraging. The Group
will therefore continue to apply a conservative approach to
conducting business in its core business sectors, including
property investment, financial guarantee and other financial
services in China and Hong Kong. It will seek to improve
the Group's financial position with possible asset sales to
minimise the exposure to further turbulence of the Chinese
real estate market, and to seek for refinancing of the short-
term, high-interest borrowings in China onshore to mitigate
against interest rate and exchange risks. The Group will seek
for opportunities to diversify to other promising businesses.
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Recently, the Chinese government has implemented
various policies to stabilise the real estate market, such
as easing lending restrictions and lowering the interest
rates on mortgages and developer financing to improve
liquidity, encouraging mergers and acquisitions of distressed
developers to consolidate the industry. The central
government has also introduced an affordable housing
programme to support local governments and state-owned
enterprises to acquire the unsold home inventory for sale
or lease to the public at reasonable prices as a measure to
solve housing problem for those in need. This is intended
to support housing demand and shift the market away from
excessive speculation on property. It has also introduced
new policies to encourage foreign investment and revive
entrepreneurs’ spirit. Hopefully, such actions will help to
bring the Chinese economy back on track and restore
confidence in consumption and investment.

The Group’s Chinese home base in Xi'an and the bigger
Shaanxi Province is an important economic and technology
powerhouse in the northwest China. It is well-known for
its comprehensive industrial system, vital research and
development capability and advanced technology industrial
base in aerospace, information technology, biotechnology,
and new energy. Shaanxi Province also has significant coal,
natural gas, and oil reserves and well-established vertical
infrastructure and supply chain. In recent years, Shaanxi
Province has been leading globally in manufacturing
electric vehicles, solar photovoltaic materials and panels,
semiconductors, and new materials possessing titanium
and magnesium. With the established network in Shaanxi
Province, the Group is in an advantageous position to expand
and diversify the province’'s strategic industries such as clean
and renewable energy, environmentally friendly materials,
and IT development, through cooperation with local
government entities and academics to support technology
start-ups and foster innovation in the Shaanxi Province.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Weibin (“Mr. Li”), aged 54, joined the Group as
an executive Director since 27 January 2012 and was re-
designated as Chairman and Managing Director of the
Company on 18 February 2012. He is also a director of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li holds
a Bachelor’'s degree in Applied Electronics from Xi'an
Technological University and an Executive Master in Business
Administration from Xi‘an Jiaotong University. Since early
2000, Mr. Li has been engaged in research, production and
sales of electronic components and materials, computer
software and hardware as well as research and sales of
computer related equipment. He has also been engaged in
property development, planning and sales, management,
and other property related investments, cultural and
entertainment businesses. His businesses are present in
Beijing, Xi‘an and Hong Kong.

Mr. SIU Wai Yip (“Mr. Siu”), aged 68, joined the Group
as an executive Director since 27 January 2012. He is also
a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Siu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from The University of
Hong Kong. He has over 10 years’ of experience in banking
and financing and previously held executive positions at
various major international banks, with specialization in
trade financing and corporate banking. Prior to joining
the Group, he was appointed as an executive director of
Matsunichi Communication Holdings Limited (renamed as
Goldin Properties Holdings Limited in 2008, stock code 283)
from January 2005 to February 2006. Goldin Properties
Holdings Limited was privatized in 2018. He was an executive
director of Vincent Intertrans (Holdings) Limited (now known
as Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited,
stock code: 563) from July 1998 to May 1999. The shares
of Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Wing Yiu (“Mr. Lam”), aged 46, joined the
Group as a non-executive Director since 19 May 2023. He
has over 20 years of experience in credit control and risk
management. Mr. Lam is currently the head of credit and risk
control department of Emperor Capital Group Limited (Stock
Code: 717). Prior to that, Mr. Lam worked with Yuanta
Securities (Hong Kong) Company Limited with the title of
associate director and head of credit control department.
He had various positions related to credit control and
risk management in financial institutions including China
Industrial Securities International Financial Group Limited,
BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited and
K.) Limited. Mr. Lam
received his Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Economics

Core-Pacific Yamaichi International (H.

from University of Wollongong and his Master of Commerce
in Fund Management from University of New South Wales.
He is currently a certified Financial Risk manager (FRM).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond (“Dr. Ho"), aged 85, joined
the Group as an independent non-executive Director since
17 December 2013. Dr. Ho is a former member of the
Legislative Council (1996-2012), a former Hong Kong Deputy
to the 10th & 11th National People’s Congress and the
past President of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(1987-1988). He holds a Doctorate in Civil Engineering from
City University of London, United Kingdom; an Honorary
Doctorate of Laws from The University of Manchester, United
Kingdom; an Honorary Doctorate of Business Administration
from City University of Hong Kong; a Bachelor of Science
degree in Engineering from The University of Hong Kong; and
a Postgraduate Diploma in Geotechnical Engineering from
The University of Manchester, United Kingdom. Currently,
Dr. Ho is the Chairman of the Advisory Committee for the
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and LingAo Nuclear
Plant Safety Consultative Committee (2005-present) and
Professional Advisor to The Ombudsman of Hong Kong
(Engineering and Surveying) (1995-2013, 2015-present). He
has served as a Board Member of the Airport Authority Hong
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Kong (2008-2014), the former Chairman of the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council Infrastructure Development
Advisory Committee (2009-2013) and the Founding Council
Chairman of City University of Hong Kong (1992-1994).
He is also an independent non-executive director of GCL
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as GCL-
Poly Energy Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3800), Deson
Development International Holdings Limited (stock code:
262) and AP Rentals Holdings Limited (stock code: 1496).
He was an independent non-executive director of China
State Construction International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3311) from June 2005 to June 2019, Fu Shek Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263) from January 2020 to
October 2021 and Superland Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 368) from June 2022 to July 2023. He also acted as
the chairman and a non-executive director of Veson Holdings
Limited (formerly known as SCUD Group Limited) (stock
code: 1399) from September 2018 to May 2020 and from
September 2018 to June 2020 respectively. The shares of
these seven companies mentioned above are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. LAl Ka Fung, May (“Ms. Lai"), aged 58, joined the
Group as an independent non-executive Director since
18 February 2012. Ms. Lai obtained a Master of Arts in
International Accounting from City University of Hong Kong
in 2001. She has been a Member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since 1999 and is a Fellow
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since
2003. She is the sole proprietor of May K. F. Lai & Co.,
Certified Public Accountant and has been engaged in the
audit field for more than 20 years. She is also an independent
non-executive director of Emperor Entertainment Hotel
Limited (stock code: 296) and was an independent non-
executive director of Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited
(stock code: 887) from June 2008 to May 2017. The shares
of these two companies mentioned above are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. CHAN Sim Ling, Irene (“Ms. Chan"), aged 61, joined
the Group as an independent non-executive Director since 18
February 2012. She graduated with a Bachelor of Laws degree
from The University of Hong Kong in 1985. Ms. Chan is a
retired solicitor with over 20 years’ of experience serving as
an independent non-executive director of listed companies.
She is an independent non-executive director of Emperor
Culture Group Limited (previously known as See Corporation
Limited, stock code: 491), Emperor Capital Group Limited
(stock code: 717) and Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited
(stock code: 887). She was also an independent non-
executive director of Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited
(stock code: 296) from May 1998 to August 2013 and China
Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited (formerly
known as Evergrande Health Industry Group Limited and
New Media Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 708) from
November 2013 to March 2015. The shares of these five
companies mentioned above are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LAM Suk Ling, Shirley (“Ms. Lam”), aged 57, joined
the Group since 27 January 2012 and is currently in the
role of Chief Financial Officer of the Group. She was an
executive Director and Company Secretary of the Group
from 18 February 2012 to 4 April 2019 and from 27 January
2012 to 4 April 2019 respectively. She holds a Master in
Business Administration from The University of Adelaide,
Australia and a Bachelor of Science degree from Murdoch
University, Western Australia. She is qualified as a Certified
Public Accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a Certified Practising Accountant
of CPA Australia. Ms. Lam has over 20 years' of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management, and
also worked for various international audit firms and listed
companies. She is an independent non-executive director of
Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1939)
and was an executive director of AMCO United Holding
Limited (formerly known as Jackin International Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 630) from February 2010 to December
2011. The shares of these two companies mentioned above
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

HEREHEMAR

Ms. LAU Wai Har (“Ms. Lau”), aged 55, has been the
legal counsel of the Group since 1 February 2018 and was
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company on
4 April 2019. She holds a Bachelor of Laws degree and
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of
Hong Kong. Ms. Lau has over 30 years’ of experience in the
legal industry and previously held senior legal positions at
major international and local conglomerates, specializing in
telecommunications, media and technology. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Lau was the in-house lawyer for CSL (a
former subsidiary of the Australian Telstra Corporation),
FOX (a subsidiary of US News Corporation), Hong Kong
Productivity Council and Kader Holdings Company Limited
(Stock Code: 180), a company whose shares have been listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange ever since 1985.

Ms. LEE Wing Yan, Joanne (“Ms. Lee”), aged 48,
joined the Group on 17 October 2011. She is currently
the Corporate Development and Communications Director
and is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning,
corporate communications and investor relations. Ms. Lee
holds a Master in Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. She also obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Studies from City University of Hong Kong
and graduated with first class honors. Ms. Lee has over 10
years' of marketing and business development experience in
consumer electronics and IT industries. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Lee served as a Visiting Fellow at City University
of Hong Kong, Department of Marketing from July 2008
to October 2011. Her teaching areas included Strategic
Marketing, Relationship Marketing and Services Marketing.

Mr. CHAN Kwok Fai (“Mr. Chan”), aged 39, joined
the Group on 3 August 2016. He is currently the Senior
Finance Manager and is responsible for the Group’s financial
management and accounting matters. Mr. Chan obtained a
Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration in Accountancy
from City University of Hong Kong in November 2008. He
has over 15 years’ experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan
worked at a reputable international accounting firm for
about six years and gained extensive experience in auditing
and initial public offering exercises. He is qualified as a
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for
its leadership and control to promote the success of the
Company. The Board will make decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board establishes the Company’s purpose and values,
as well as the strategies and culture that are necessary to
provide for the success of the Company’s business and
sustainability. All businesses in the Group evolve around its
three core values: innovation, integrity, and collaboration.
The Company strides to embed its core values for sustainable
developments into its day-to-day operation.

The Company is dedicated to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance as it believes that corporate
governance practices are fundamental to the smooth
and effective operation of a company and can enhance
shareholders’ value as well as safeguarding shareholders’
interests.

While the Board is responsible for corporate governance
duties, the Board or its delegated committees will review
and monitor (i) the policies and practices on corporate
governance, (i) the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, (iii) the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, (iv) the code of conduct and
compliance manual that is applicable to employees and
Directors, and (v) the compliance with Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
with all code provisions set out in the CG Code for the Year,
save as a deviation disclosed herein.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of
the management of the business and affairs of the Group
with the objective of enhancing shareholders’ value. Major
responsibilities include approving the Company’s overall
business, financial and technical strategies, setting key
performance targets, approving budgets and overseeing
the performance of management.

The Board currently comprises six Directors including two
executive Directors, a non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The number of
independent non-executive Directors represents over one-
third of the Board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. The list of the Directors and their biographical details
are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

The Board meets regularly four times a year, i.e. at
approximately quarterly intervals. During the Year, the
Board convened a total of four regular meetings and the
attendance of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Attendance Records of the Meetings” of this report.

For all such meetings, notice of each regular Board meeting
was given to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meeting and all Directors were given the opportunity to
include matters on the agenda for discussion at the Board
meeting. The agenda and meeting materials were normally
sent to all Directors at least three days before the regular
Board meetings to ensure that they had sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. In addition
to regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met
with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of executive Directors.

All Directors have direct access to the company secretary
of the Company who is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance and compliance issues, ensuring
that Board procedures are followed, as well as taking the
minutes of the Board and committee meetings. Such minutes
are open to inspection by the Directors.
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To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is
no financial, business and family relationship among the
members of the Board.

Mr. Lam Wing Yiu, a non-executive Director, and Ms. Lai Ka
Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene, the independent
non-executive Directors, have entered into the letters of
appointment with the Company for a specified period of one
year commencing on 19 May 2024, 18 February 2024 and
18 February 2024 respectively. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond,
an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed term of
service for three years commencing on 17 December 2022.
All of them are subject to retirement and rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-Laws”).

Pursuant to bye-law 87 of the Bye-Laws, at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election.

Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-Laws provides that (i) any director
appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy on the
Board or, subject to authorization by the shareholders of
Company (the “Shareholders”) in the general meeting as
an addition to the exiting Board shall hold office only until
the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting.

The Company has received annual written confirmations of
independence from all independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers them to be independent in accordance with the
Listing Rules.
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The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. This
is achieved by giving Directors access to external independent
professional advice from legal advisers and auditor, as well
as the attendance of all independent non-executive Directors
at almost all the meetings of the Board and its relevant
committees held during the Year. The Board reviews the
implementation and effectiveness of the aforementioned
mechanisms on an annual basis.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors and the relevant employees. Before the publication
of the Company’s results announcement, notifications were
sent to the Directors and the relevant employees of the
Company to remind them not to be involved in dealing with
the Company’s securities during the blackout period. Having
made specific enquiry of the Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code for the Year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Li Weibin is the Chairman and Managing Director of
the Company.

For the Year, the Company deviated from the code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li Weibin is
the Chairman and the Managing Director of the Company
(the Company regards the role of its Managing Director to
be the same as that of chief executive under the CG Code).
The Board considered that the non-segregation would not
result in considerable concentration of power in one person
and has the advantage of a strong and consistent leadership
which is conducive to making and implementing decisions
quickly and consistently.
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ROLE OF THE CHAIRMAN AND
DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The chairman of the Board is responsible for the leadership
and effective running of the Board, and ensuring that all
significant and key issues arising at board meetings are
properly briefed and discussed and where required, resolved
by the Board timely and constructively. The Board has
delegated the day-to-day responsibilities to the executive
Directors and senior management of the Company who
perform their duties under the leadership of the Managing
Director. The Board has also delegated specific roles and
responsibilities to its committees, having specific terms of
references to define their powers, authorities, and duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee comprises 3 independent non-
executive Directors; namely Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May, Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene and a
non-executive director, namely Mr. Lam Wing Yiu. Ms. Lai
Ka Fung, May is the chairman of the Audit Committee. She
possesses appropriate professional qualifications in finance
and accounting and meets the requirements of Rules 3.10(2)
and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. All of the members of the
Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors
or non-executive Director and none of them are members
of the former or existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed the risk management and internal control
and financial reporting matters and made recommendations
to the Board. The Audit Committee meets at least twice a
year with management and the external auditor and reviews
their reports.
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Members of the Audit Committee and the attendance of

members during the Year are set out in the section headed

“Attendance Record of the Meetings” of this report.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings and

performed the following duties:

(a)

the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 31

reviewed

March 2023 and the unaudited interim consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2023 with recommendation to
the Board for approval,

reviewed annual reports on risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March
2023 covering financial, corporate governance,

internal control and operational functions;

considered the independent auditor’'s engagement
and remuneration in relation to the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023, the unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2023, and non-
audit related services.

reviewed the independent auditor’s independence
and service quality and recommended the Board to
nominate the independent auditor for re-appointment
at the annual general meeting for 2023; and

reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the audit and non-audit fees payable/
paid to external auditors was made up of an audit fee
of approximately HK$1.58 million and a non-audit related
service fee of approximately HK$0.28 million. The latter
included taxation service and professional service.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Ho Chung
Tai, Raymond, Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling,
Irene; a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Lam Wing Yiu;
and an executive Director, namely Mr. Siu Wai Yip. Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond is the chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity and has
established a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) considering a range of objective diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational backgrounds, professional qualifications,
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service and any
other factors the Board considers relevant in alignment with
the strategic objectives of the Company and the environment
in which it operates.

Realising the benefits of gender diversity, the Company
targets that the Board will always maintain a female
representation of at least 30% of its composition. This
target has been upheld since the launch of the policy. When
there is any change in the composition of the Board, the
gender diversity target will be revisited so that the target
will be achieved.

Corporate Governance Report

e SRR

% ENE &

REAFER > ZEBERENMN BN HERZ
BN ZERIEFZHERBERZEER
#71,580,000 B T RIEZHBHEBERBEL
280,000 7T - BEBOIEMRBRBREER
}%o

REMFNEES

AABERBEEFRAUR LIRS RFNEZES
g WEIAHAXEERLE - RRMFHINES
A )N RS NS e
HER -

RERFMESCHIRBIUIFNTESME
REL BRBULREER YL —47F
HITESEMKBESE  UR—RHIITESHE
EREHEM - ERBEIRRGRFMNES
EFE o

FABEER—RIEENZEHE > B
HEBREZENEZTLACHIEEETEN
BEZTEHR(EEEMESTIEHE)) -
BREERRRMER -~ Fik - XTERBEHE
2 EXER K8 - ®8E - MBRRTE
B URESEIR/TELREREBERK
HSERIBHEMHEMBRER -

RRBRAMERZ TIENmER » WU —BH4
FELI0%NUMEFEMRERER - BH
RIELHLUR > ARB—EBRFZER - B8
EENEMSEETMESE 0 ARTEEN
BEERIZ T ERBER > RTMERZBR °

Annual Report 2024 %R | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ Hp 4 20 [ 1 Bt A B2 )

39

-



40

Corporate Governance Report
R BB G

The ultimate decision on Board member appointments will
be based on merits and contributions that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board has maintained a balanced composition in terms
of gender, age, professional qualification, experience, skills
and knowledge. It has performed effectively by providing
sound judgment on strategic issues and effective oversight
of and guidance to management.

Having reviewed the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy and the structure, size and composition of the Board,
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee considered
that the measurable objectives of the Board Diversity Policy
had been met.

As at 31 March 2024, more than 35% of the Group's
workforce was female. The Board considers that the Group's
workforce is diverse in terms of gender. The table below
summarizes the distribution of women at different levels
across the Group as at 31 March 2024.
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The Company has established the Directors’ nomination
policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the
criteria and process on the selection, nomination and
appointment of Directors. According to the Nomination
Policy, the ultimate responsibility for appointment and re-
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board or the
Shareholders at the general meeting as the case may be. The
Board has delegated to the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee the responsibility to evaluate and assess the
optimal structure, size and composition of the Board, as
well as to assess, select and nominate a suitable candidate
for directorship. In assessing the suitability of the proposed
candidate(s), the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
takes into consideration the candidates’ personal ethics,
reputation and integrity, industry or professional knowledge
and experience, skills, expertise, educational qualifications,
background and other relevant personal attributes, his/
her commitment to devoting sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Company’s business, potential and/or actual
conflict of interest of the candidate(s), fulfilment of the
independence requirements for independent non-executive
Directors as set out in the Listing Rules and the diversity
objectives as described in the Board Diversity Policy. If
the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee will rank them by
order of preference based on the evaluation conducted. After
reaching its decision, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee nominates the relevant candidate(s) to the Board
for approval of appointment. As said above, any Director
appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling
a casual vacancy or an addition to the Board) and shall be
eligible for re-election. The Board will make recommendation
to the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election
of Directors at the annual general meeting.
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Our emolument policy aims to maintain an appropriate
balance between business performance and long term
sustainable growth of the Group. In particular, no individual
Board member or any of his or her associates should
participate in deciding his or her own remuneration. The
emoluments payable to Directors are determined by the
Board with reference to the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee’s recommendation as well as the Directors’
performance, duties and responsibilities and the prevailing
market conditions.

Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
and the attendance of members during the Year are set out
in the section headed “Attendance Record of the Meetings”
of this report.

During the Year, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting and performed the following
duties:

(a) reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, including diversity (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualification, experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board
and made recommendations to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy;

HANFHFMEREENTEBRNEBRIRA
RPIFBERZERFEETH - 555!
B EFENENHETABBEAMTTSHA
REBE#HM - BN FTESZME I HES
TREARFTNEEGHEBEZURES
2R - BEREERBFTHRMETE °

REFE  RBMRFHNEEEZNERNE
HEEZRZBRHNFRE S &L FECER

=
—RH °

REFER > BEAFNEZEGERTIRG
B BT TRE :

(@) MHEBBFEHNRE - ABURMEMN > &
BREFEMEZ UL (BEEFRMMKE
B Ef  XERBEER - EXH
%o~ KEBR  BBE ~ M BRFSERR) I
MEEEAABNEERBRIEL 2
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assessed the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors;

reviewed the remuneration packages or fees (including
salary adjustments) of the executive Directors, the
independent non-executive Directors and the senior
management with recommendations to the Board
for approval,

made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-election of Directors; and

reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and members

of senior management of the Company by band for the

Year are disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements on page 219 of this annual report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF THE oiE L E iR

MEETINGS

Individual attendance of each Director at the Board MAEE > BUEFETARBRITZEERE
meetings, the Audit Committee meetings, the Nomination 8% BXZEeEE  ELAFHEES
and Remuneration Committee meetings and the annual BRAREBEFAE((RREERE)) 2@
general meeting ("AGM") of the Company held for the BHE ISR T

Year is as follows:

Name

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Weibin (Chairman and
Managing Director)
Mr. Siu Wai Yip

Mr. Lau Chi Kit (resigned on
19 May 2023)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Wing Yiu (appointed
on 19 May 2023)

Independent Non-executive
Directors

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene

Attendance/Number of meetings

HEEERY

Nomination
and
Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM
£FT BEZEET RaREE RERB
" =t 5% ZEEEE EXT
HITEE
FERAE (FER 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1
BEEAEATE) TEA TER
EEELE 4/4 N/A 11 1/1
TER
BB E (R B _=F N/A N/A N/A N/A
ABE+NHET) TER TEH TER THEE
FEHITESE
MKBEE (R _E_=F 4/4 2/2 N/A 1/1
AR +HBEZMDT) REA
BUIFHITESE
AERE LT 4/4 3/3 11 1/1
BRBELT 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1
FRYEIS 20+ 4/4 3/3 11 1/1
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Code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. Mr. Li Weibin, the Chairman of the Board, attended
the AGM held on 27 September 2023 via electronic means to
ensure that he was also available to answer questions from
the Shareholders. The AGM was chaired by the executive
Director, Mr. Siu Wai Yip. At the AGM, the Shareholders
approved the amendments to the Bye-Laws (among others)
to provide the Directors with the option of attending general
meetings remotely through electronic means if necessary
or appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, the Company provided regular updates on
the business performance of the Group to the Directors. The
Directors are continually updated on the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good
corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company
has maintained a training record in order to assist the
Directors to record the training they have undertaken and
they are requested to submit a signed training record to the
Company on annual basis.

Corporate Governance Report

e SRR
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During the Year, each individual Director has attended

training courses or workshops or was provided with reading

materials relevant to his/her professional and/or duties as

Director. A summary of the training they have received for

the Year is as follows:

REAFER > SENESE2MEHEXE
K/ S8 #EE B BB ERRE R
BUISIRMHAERAREER - RENAFER
B2 2IENIBENT

Type of
training

Name W 1EaIEER

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Li Weibin FRMAELE B
(Chairman and Managing Director) (T/EREFHEIE)

Mr. Siu Wai Yip mEELE

Mr. Lau Chi Kit BT
(resigned on 19 May 2023) (RZEBE_=ZFHFA+NEHEMD

Non-executive Director FHITESE

Mr. Lam Wing Yiu KBS A B
(appointed on 19 May 2023) (RZE2EZ=FHB+NBEZMD

Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITESR

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond RS+ A/B

Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May BRBZL A/B

Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene PRIEIC 22+ B

A: attending course/seminars and/or conferences and/or

forums provided/accredited by professional bodies

B: reading materials relevant to the directors’ duties and

responsibilities

A 2MFEBERE DO ZRE RS
/_‘ZE uﬁ&/:ﬁujuﬁﬂ =

B: RBEEERERETEAZEN
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing and during the Year,

has performed the corporate governance duties which are

set out below:

(a)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

to review and maintain effective risk management
and internal control systems;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged insurance cover to indemnify

Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,

charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in

the execution and discharge of their duties or in relation

thereto.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
good corporate governance practices and sound systems
of risk management and internal control as well as for
the review of effectiveness of these systems. To achieve
a more effective control environment, the Company’s risk
management framework is designed to be an integral part
of the Company’s corporate governance framework as well
as strategic and business planning processes, and it is also
embedded into each key activity and/or function.

Risk Management

The Company adopts a risk management approach that is
systematic and forward-looking to evaluate and manage
current and emerging risks related to the achievement of
the Company’s strategic and operational objectives.

The risk management framework provides key decision
makers and management team with a better understanding
of risks faced by the Group so that potential issues are
flagged before they occur. The benefits of the framework

are:

o To improve business performance and reduce
operational surprises and associated costs or losses;

o To integrate risk management into corporate
governance practices;

o To provide assurance to the Board that significant
risks (including environment, social and governance
risks) are being appropriately managed;

o To enhance capability to reach consensus regarding

potential risks and the appropriate responses;

R EE R A EREEE

EFERIHAEAMERIEEERER
kizzRBEERABEERS » LIKE
NRERMBEETEN - REEEAMZER
BRI > ARFAIZRABEERRBRADRSAA/ER
A EERBRMRBEREFHEBRETH]
iRz —ED » LHRAZETBEEH K H
FEZ R o

mfEETE

ERBRRB—ERRE ARBEEZEARE

ﬁﬁf Mt ek EEEABHARQ S EERN
BRERZEMRTHRENER

BAREEBRSEIERSE %&%ﬁ.@%m
ATHBAEBFFER B - EMma RE
MREZLEREERE - ZiRR 2B T_EA'

. HEXBREKEEEELNIETE
FIRRABRER A B R ;

. RERERECEERAERES ;

. MEFTRFREZSEEEANEAR
(BHERE B RERRER) ;

. S LB TERRKRE S EEREREN
HEBBIEES S
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o To define accountabilities and assign roles and
responsibilities; and

o To establish risk awareness across the organization
involving people at every level.

Risk Management Process

The risk management process is a continuous process. After
the initial assessment, risks are re-evaluated and updated on
an on-going basis to reflect new information and changes
to circumstances so that all relevant risks, including new
ones, are appropriately identified and addressed. The steps
of an on-going monitoring process are illustrated in the
diagram below:

Reporting

BE R

Risk Response
and Action

R EEE RITE

Establish Context
PEREIRIR A=

On-going
Monitoring

'J‘ n‘ﬁ =5 1:9'!!
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R R EEE TR

EREER—BEEENBR - TP TMH
% BT RMFNENMNBRE®L » WUEFR
BHEERAK » SIENNERESE S S5 H
BRI » AL B RFEMEHN TG AR
EHERIER o TENERRBISEETE
i

Risk Identification

| i 38t )

Risk Assessment

BRHT(
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Establish Context

Risks are to be managed through active collaboration
between all levels within the Group, as such, this step
involves establishing the overall risk management governance
structure which defines the designation and enactment
of responsibility for the risk management process. Roles
and responsibilities are defined at the first time of the risk
management process being initiated, and will be revisited
as required.

Risk Identification

Identification of risks is required on an on-going basis for
existing processes and on an ad hoc basis as required when
there is any change to existing businesses and processes such
as new services/products and projects, or to the external
environment such as changes in laws and regulations.

Risk Assessment

The purpose of risk assessment is to determine the risks which
are material and will have an impact on the business goals
and objectives. The judgment on significance and materiality
involves the consideration of likelihood and impact of the
risk. In this stage, the risk rankings of all risk events will be
identified, and all significant risks (including environment,
social and governance risks) should be addressed in the next
stage: Risk Response and Action.

Risk Response and Action

Risk response and action plans should be formulated for
each of the significant risk events identified during the risk
assessment stage.

BE g IRE K] %
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Arisk treatment, being part of the response and action plans,
is to be selected for each significant risk event.

o Acceptance of Risk: No action is taken to reduce the
risk. The risk is accepted.

o Mitigation: The risk is accepted but risk mitigation
controls and action plans will be established to
minimise the negative impacts. The mitigation should
take the form of new measures instead of existing

controls.

o Transfer: Transfer the risk by sharing it with third
parties.

o Avoidance: Adopt risk avoidance measures by ceasing

the activity associated with the risk event.

Reporting

Management will submit risk reports to the Board or its
designated Audit Committee regularly, at least on an annual
basis. Management who owns and manages risks on a day-
to-day basis will, on an annual basis, provides a confirmation
to the Board of Directors on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems.

On-going Monitoring

The Risk Management Working Group revisits the Group’s
risk exposure regularly and will provide advice on additional
risk mitigation plans accordingly. The internal audit is an
independent monitoring function responsible for reviews of
adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems using a risk-based assessment methodology.
Audits will be performed to evaluate whether these systems
are properly functioning.
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Risk Management Governance Structure Bl &SR IELE

All personnel in the Group has the responsibility for REBFFMEABHEEFHERTENRAMS
maintaining good risk management and internal control BNRMEERS - MIBEABEBEMRASE
systems. Collectively all personnel in the Group forms the BN EREEAEIE > MTEFR

risk management governance structure which is illustrated
below:

R

Z2EZNEREGRBEFLWT :

The specific roles and responsibilities of each party involved
are described in details below:

Board of Directors EEE

. Determines the nature and level of the risks that the . BEARAT A UEZ & EEEMN
Company is willing to take in achieving the Group's BEENBRAEEHRKER ;
strategic objectives;

. Through the Audit Committee, oversees the design, . FRBEREZEG > EEBEEHRR
implementation and monitoring of risk management BIEMAIEERAZNFST ~ BRI
and internal control systems by the management; FEEET{E
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Fosters the culture and maintenance of an effective
risk management and internal controls throughout
the Group; and

Receives reports on the Group’s overall risk exposure,
including the status of any significant current and
emerging exposures and trends, relevant mitigation
strategies and the effectiveness of implementation
of risk management framework.

Risk Management Working Group

Composes of Directors, C-suite, senior executives and
led by the Managing Director of the Group (regarded
as the same as chief executive), advises the Board on
risk appetite, risk principles and risk management
framework;

Identifies and evaluates significant strategic, business
and process-level risk exposures of the Group;

Monitors risk responses and mitigation strategies
executed by risk owners and/or their delegates;

Maintains documentation of risks on the risk register
and prepare risk reports for submission to the Board;
and

Represents management to provide a confirmation to
the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.
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Risk Owners

o Heads of departments and business units, operational
level units and managerial staff collectively assume
the ownership of risks within their functional areas
and all responsibilities associated with managing such
risks;

o Implement risk mitigation and internal control
measures that are embedded into day-to-day
activities; and

o Report to the Risk Management Working Group on
any changes or developments regarding risks.

Internal Audit

o Independently monitors and reviews the adequacy
and effectiveness of functionalities of the risk
management and internal control practices;

o Facilitates the Risk Management Working Group
with the risk identification, assessment and reporting
processes; and

o Utilises results of risk assessments to compile a risk-
based internal audit coverage plan.

Internal Control System
Control Environment and Monitoring Activities

The Group’s internal control systems include an
organizational structure with clearly defined delegation of
authority and responsibilities. Policies and procedures have
been established to govern business operations and internal
controls and implemented according to management’s
governance objectives. The Group’s company secretary,
internal and external legal advisors and other management
together oversee adherence to relevant laws and regulations
including the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, etc.
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Budgeting and performance measuring criteria have been
established by the management for its day-to-day monitoring
of business operations. Heads of departments and business
units regularly meet to review business performance, the risks
associated with their operational activities and the relevant
internal control measures embedded in the processes to
mitigate the risks the Group is facing. The management
also regularly prepares monthly reports to the Board on the
Group's performance.

The Group conducts business based on the principles of
fairness, honesty and integrity and is committed to the
highest standards of ethical behavior and accountability.
Its code of conduct sets out the important principles and
expectations of appropriate business conduct to ensure the
compliance of the Group’s employees with the code. An
Anti-corruption Policy is in place to promote and maintain
high level of integrity cultural and professional ethics of the
Group against corruption and bribery and assist employees
in recognising circumstances that may need to or give
rise to the appearance of being involved in corruption or
unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such conduct
which is clearing/strictly prohibited. The Group also actively
prevents and takes measures to guard against being used
as a medium for money laundering activities and terrorist
financing activities and any other activities that facilitate
money laundering or the funding of terrorist or criminal
activities by adopting its anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing policy and procedures across the Group.
In addition, the Group’s whistleblowing policy enables a
transparent working environment and provides channels
and guidelines to all employees about the procedures to
disclose, in confidence and anonymity, any misconduct,
malpractice or irregularities of which they become aware
of. The Group did not receive any report on whistleblowing
incidents during the Year.

Corporate Governance Report

e SRR

EEEEREREREVNRENETERS
BHREE - PPAKEBIBEEEHE
T2 > UBREBRER - BHKEEFHE
98 2 L B2 LA Bz A 7% A 7 52 [ P [0 B =L B2 3t R
ABMERBEREAMEERE - FRERE

BlrEBEzRREHRREFTERRAER

==t
= ©

FEBEQAF HERESHRIEEES
TERARFRRRSKFZEBRETAREEE
A c HI AT HBEEBXBRTZEE
RAVRHE » REGRAEENREETHRN
TR AEEEBRKRETER 0 Ue#E R
MK THNREXCRBESERE HESE
SR ERRG Wi t73Bh & T #iRI Pl AE B E I A
BESRAERHETANEBER > EMmB R
B, BRAR R LEMITR - REBETBEBNAE
EEHRMEITBABREMD FETEER

&%&f%ﬂﬂ)ﬁmjﬁxﬂﬂ H 5 848 B 1R 5%

LR RS M ERME RS LU BN IRE
é‘ﬁjju MERWILERETB 2 ERAEMEBZ
Y o UESh » REEZ BRBERAEH—E
FRNTFRIEL A BURE RERNT
ARBREMNEBZEMDRETS ~ HBET
HAERBERNEFRAMERERERHERER
B3l e RAFER » AEEMEWREEMAS
BEREMHF WS ©

Annual Report 2024 %R | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ Hp 4 20 [ 1 Bt A B2 )

55



56

Corporate Governance Report

6 SRR

The Company’s policy and procedures on disclosure of
inside information provide guidelines in relation to handling
and dissemination of inside information of the Group to
ensure inside information is disseminated to the public in
an equal, timely and effective manner. The policy outlines
the internal procedures for the identification and reporting
of actual or potential inside information, the obligations
of the Group and duties of officers in accordance with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong. Specifically, inside information is
disseminated via the electronic publication system operated
by the Stock Exchange before the information is released via
other channels, such as the press, wire services or posting
announcements on the Company’s website. As soon as
an employee of the Company becomes aware of actual or
potential inside information, or when any Director, officer or
employee of the Company becomes aware of any disclosure
of non-public inside information or breach of this policy, he/
she must promptly report to his/her respective departmental
in-charge, who will further communicate with the Group's
company secretary. The matter will be assessed and the
appropriate course of actions will be determined by the
Board. Audit trail of meetings and discussions concerning
the assessment of inside information will be maintained.

The inside information policy makes specific references to
the SFO, guidelines issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission and the Model Code issued by the Stock
Exchange. It also echoes the code of conduct for how
confidential information or inside information of the Group
should be handled.
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Review of Effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

During the Year, the Audit Committee, with the delegated
authority from the Board, has conducted annual review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, including the relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
procedures for identification, evaluation and management
of the significant risks faced by the Group. Such systems are
designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against failure to achieve business objectives and material
misstatement or loss.

Management has provided confirmation to the Board that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems
are effective.

Based on (i) meetings with executive Directors to discuss
risks and internal controls concerning the Group's business
operations and financial reporting process, (i) review of
internal audit and external audit reports, (iii) review of reports
on the implementation of the Group’s risk management
system, (iv) the monitoring of significant issues and material
internal control defects through reviews conducted by
the internal audit, and (v) confirmation provided by the
management on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, the Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective. There were no
significant control failings, weaknesses or significant areas
of concern identified during the Year.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and was satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the employees of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.
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Internal Audit Function

The internal audit function’s main responsibilities include

the following:

(a)

to independently review and evaluate the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of risk management
and internal control systems regarding the financial,
compliance and operational performance and
safeguarding of assets;

to facilitate management in identification of risks,
and development of risk mitigation and monitoring
strategies as part of the risk management framework;

to monitor operational compliance with the Group's
established policies and procedures; and

to provide advice to the management and conduct
special reviews in specific areas of management
concern in addition to the planned audit activities.

The internal audit function carries out assessment based

on the internal audit annual plan approved by the Audit

Committee, and reports to the Audit Committee periodically

on status of implementation of the agreed audit plan and

any significant risk exposures and governance and control

issues including fraud risks.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE AND
GOVERNANCE

The Group recognises the importance of climate change
avoidance and has developed internal strategies aimed at
creating sustainable value for its stakeholders and minimizing
its negative impact on the environment. To carry out the
Group's sustainability strategy from top to bottom, the Board
holds ultimate responsibility for ensuring the effectiveness of
the Group’s environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
strategies, including those relating to climate change.

Dedicated teams have been established within each business
division to manage ESG issues and monitor progress towards
corporate goals for addressing climate change. These
teams are responsible for enforcing and overseeing the
implementation of relevant ESG policies throughout the
Group and have designated staff members to carry out
these tasks.

The Group’s management and responsible teams regularly
review and adjust its sustainability policies to meet the
evolving needs of stakeholders, including those related to
climate change. Detailed ESG risk and information on the
Group’s management approaches and specific strategies
adopted for environmental and social aspects including
climate change avoidance can be found in various sections
of the ESG Report of the Company dated 28 June 2024. The
Board is satisfied with the adequacy of the Group’s resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget relating to ESG performance and reporting.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. Save as disclosed in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 109 of
this annual report, the Board was not aware of any other
events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the auditor to the Shareholders are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” from pages
86 to 90 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has established a dividend policy (“Dividend
Policy”) in order to provide guidelines for the Company
to consider its dividend payment decision. Under the
Dividend Policy, the Company may consider to declare
and pay dividends to the Shareholders provided that the
Group is profitable and payment of dividends will not affect
the normal operations of the Group. In deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account, among others,
the following factors:

o The Group’s operating results and financial position;
o Key financial metrics such as liquidity;
o The Group’s capital requirements and future

commitments;

o External factors including state of the economy and
capital market conditions;

° Taxation considerations;

° Interim dividend paid, if any;
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° Interests of the Shareholders;
o Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
. Other factors the Board deems relevant.

Payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at the
sole discretion of the Board and subject to any restrictions
under Hong Kong Laws, the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Companies Act”) and the Bye-Laws of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Lau Wai
Har, the company secretary of the Company, took no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board endeavours to maintain on-going dialogue
with the Shareholders and the investing community. The
Directors, the Company Secretary, Corporate Development
and Communications Director and Legal Counsel work
together to respond to requests for information and queries
from the Shareholders and the investing community.

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication
Policy and set out the Group’s objective of providing
clear, full, accurate and timely information of the Group
to the Shareholders and the investing community. The
Board communicates directly with Shareholders through
annual and other general meetings. The Board reviewed
regularly the Shareholders Communication Policy and the
Shareholders and investor engagement and communication
activities conducted during the Year and was satisfied with
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy.
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The Board also provides information of the Group to
Shareholders through the publication of announcements,
circulars, interim and annual reports (including the corporate
governance report) and the ESG report. Updated information
of the Group is also available to Shareholders on the
Company’s website.

The Company recognises the importance of protection
of personal data of Shareholders and is committed to
protecting their personal data in compliance with applicable
data protection laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT
Procedures for convening a special general meeting
(“SGM”) by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene SGM. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
may send a written request to the Board for the convening
of the SGM.
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The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and
must be deposited at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 1203,
12/F., Standard Chartered Bank Building, 4-4A Des Voeux
Road Central, Central, Hong Kong or at the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Standard Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned
would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda once a
valid requisition is received.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The following Shareholders are entitled to put forward a
proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(a) any number of members representing not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of the
Company on the date of the requisition; or

(b) not less than 100 members holding shares in the
Company.
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The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred
to in the proposal must be deposited at the Company’s
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suite 1203, 12/F., Standard Chartered Bank Building,
4-4A Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong or at
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for
the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance
with the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda once valid documents
are received.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than
a retiring Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, the Shareholder should follow the “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
of the Company”, which can be found on the website of
the Company.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing via the following channel:

The Company Secretary

Chinlink International Holdings Limited

Suite 1203, 12/F., Standard Chartered Bank Building
4-4A Des Voeux Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

E-mail: nicolelau@chinlinkint.com

Telephone: 2126 6333

Facsimile: 2126 6399

Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

At the AGM held on 27 September 2023, a special resolution
was passed by the Shareholders to amend the Bye-Laws
in order to conform to the core standards for shareholder
protections set out in Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules
which took effect on 1 January 2022 and incorporate certain
housekeeping changes. The amended and restated Bye-Laws
is available on the respective websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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HEGHE

The Directors present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of
the subsidiaries are set out in Note 51 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries during the Year are set out in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from page 91 to page 93 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis from page 9 to page 27 of this annual report.

ANALYSIS OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The sales to the top five customers for the Year amounted
to HK$7.7 million, representing a decrease of 45.0% from
HK$14.0 million for the Previous Year. The sales to the top
five customers for the Year and the Previous Year respectively
accounted for less than 30.0% of the Group'’s total revenue.
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The purchases from the top five suppliers for the Year
amounted to HK$12.8 million, representing a decrease of
4.5% from HK$13.4 million for the Previous Year. All of
the top five suppliers for the Year were from continuing
operations which represented 48.3% of the total purchases
of the Group. The largest supplier in the Year was from
the property investment segment and accounted for
approximately 21.6% of the total purchases in the Year.
All of the top five suppliers for the Year are located in the
PRC. All of the top five suppliers for the Previous Year were
from continuing operations which represented 46.8% of the
total purchases of the Group. The largest supplier in the
Previous Year was from the property investment segment
(a continuing operations of the Group) and accounted for
approximately 23.9% of the total purchases in the Previous
Year. All of the top five suppliers for the Previous Year are
located in the PRC.

None of the Directors and their close associates or any
Shareholder (who, to the best of the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued shares
of the Company) had any interest in the abovementioned
top five customers and suppliers.

Maintaining good relationships with customers and suppliers
is fundamental to the Group’s operations and success. The
Group is keen to foster a satisfactory and balanced demand
and supply situation and maintain close relationships with
its customers and suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
are set out in the section headed “Major Risks” in the
Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 9 to 27 of
this annual report and Note 4, 47 and 48 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

HEGHE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

A separate environmental, social and governance report
complying with the disclosure requirements under Appendix
C2 to the Listing Rules is published by the Company
separately, on the same day as this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year, together with the reasons therefor are set
out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has no reserves available for distribution to
the Shareholders as at 31 March 2024.

Under the Companies Act, the contributed surplus account
of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium accounts.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Weibin
Mr. Siu Wai Yip
Mr. Lau Chi Kit (resigned on 19 May 2023)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Wing Yiu, (appointed on 19 May 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Siu Wai
Yip and Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May shall retire from the Board
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.
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HEGHE

The names of directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the Year and up to

the date of this report were:

Mr. Li Weibin
FEMLE
Ms. Guo Li Na
SPREM L+

Mr. Wang Hong Li
FRIKE

Mr. Dong Wen Bin
BEXRE

Mr. Yang Zhao
HREARE

Ms. Xu Rong
(-3

Ms. Pei Lu Ya
BT+

Mr. Siu Wai Yip
MERERE

Ms. Wang Jing
FHut

Mr. Tang Yi Feng
Rt

Mr. Xiong Jin
FRERSTE

Ms. Duan Shan Shan
EX TR £+

Ms. Wang Li Juan
Firggut

Mr. Zhou Aimin
BERLE

REFEARBERRS QRN LT M E
NEEFGERZESHRUNT

Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley
MR Z+

Mr. Shen Hao
B b

Mr. Chen Xin Zhong
BT B 4

Mr. Bai Zhi Min
BESEE

Ms. Vivian Pauline Liu
BT

Ms. Xiao Feng
HlELt
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the two executive Directors, Mr. Li Weibin and Mr.
Siu Wai Yip, has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for no fixed term which may be terminated by
one month’s notice in writing by either party respectively.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Lam Wing Yiu, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed
term of one year commencing on 19 May 2024.

Each of the two independent non-executive Directors,
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a fixed term of one year commencing on 18 February
2024 respectively.

The independent non-executive Director, Dr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a fixed term of three years commencing on
17 December 2022.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
and their respective associates in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
and underlying shares of the Company

EFMESTHRAERTATREM
RECEE Z iR « R RESFH
BEZETRER

RIEZMF=A=+—8 > E=ERERQH
ERTHAEURBESEBZHBALTAER
RNEREEREIE (EERESMAEKRGS
XVER) 2 Bfn ~ MERMREST > A A
BRRAREIRIRES RAERAIHE352147F
BEZECMZERRER » WREBELHAR
BEFETESRNEETRASTHEER
REVRMRFTZ R EEAWT -

REREEREE0.018 T2 BiERRIERM
RHEZRE

Approximate percentage
of the total number of

Number of issued shares of the
Name of Director Capacity ordinary shares Company
EEATBEITRG
R 5145 TiEREE mE Aot
(Note 1)
(Hfz£1)
Mr. Li Weibin (“Mr. Li”") Beneficial owner 53,464,480
FER A (TEEE)) BaEAA
Interest of controlled corporation 659,810,560
SEGEEER (Note 2)
(Byz2£2)
713,275,040 61.001%
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Notes:

1. Based on 1,169,287,752 ordinary shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2024.

2. These shares were held by Wealth Keeper International

Limited (“Wealth Keeper”), the entire issued share capital
of which was wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li.
Accordingly, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in the
entire 659,810,560 shares held by Wealth Keeper by virtue
of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of their
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 21 September 2012, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”), which was approved by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on the same date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant share options to the eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

According to the Scheme, the Board may grant share options
to the eligible participants as defined in the Scheme to
subscribe for such number of shares as the Board may
determine. Share options granted should be accepted within
28 days from the date of the letter of grant. Upon acceptance
of the share options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. Subject
to the terms of the Scheme and all applicable laws, the
Board has the power to determine the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made.
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The exercise price of share options shall be determined
by the Board, which shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company on the date of approval and
adoption of the Scheme provided that the Company may
at any time seek approval from its Shareholders to refresh
the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
approval by the Shareholders in general meeting where
such limit is refreshed. Share options previously granted
under any share option schemes of the Company (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such
schemes or exercised options) will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed.

The total number of shares which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) to
each eligible participant in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue as at the date of grant unless such grant has been
duly approved by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in
general meeting at which the relevant eligible participant
and his associates abstained from voting. Share options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-
executive Directors or any of their respective associates in
any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
issued share capital on the date of grant and with a value
in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance
by the Shareholders.

BREZTEEREFTEE > RBAEAMU
TzEeE I (IRMNERHEBHWEAREE
H) EM e HRER PR ZIHE ; (i)
RN P EIRIR H B AR LA E % B AP
ESAMBERLABZFHRHE ; Kii)kHD
HIE °

TTRRBEZ T 8 R AR B E R H MR ES
BRHZTAERBREMAIZETZRODBEL
RAGBEN M ERFENZAEEAERAT
ZEETRMBEZ10% > HEAREIRE
R RERAGS KRR ERZREBENS
REHEEHARBREERZEZRTRNZ
10%  REtBREEMIRER > FAREBEER
BRI RS BIFTIR N 2 R (BRI
ZESENARTE - EEEH - BRYMHELT
EZ B TR EERN ©

REERHERESR(BEREER) 28]
EE12@E B AR > RREZ B RAREE
MEMERESSETESEER2EE LB
KRE(BIEETH Btk RTERER
) EITEMATETZRMER  ~1318
BRYEBZEBETRHZ21% » EBRAR
ERRRAE LEREEBEBRERZEN
HOEBIBRSN > MAMAERSHEREBRE
ATEEZAEG ERERE - WEEM121E
BHERFrERRABIERTEERES
BEEABRBRATEHBRESHEHEHR
APNBZEETRAZI%REBESH
5,000,000 7T » BB ERESAAE > 5
AI{EE o
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The period during which a share option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save
that no share options can be exercised more than 10 years
after it has been granted. There is no general requirement
that a share option must be held for any minimum period
before it can be exercised. The Scheme expired on 20
September 2022.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
14 September 2018, the Company was authorised to
refresh the scheme mandate limit to issue a maximum of
132,486,969 shares options (before adjustment arising
from capital reorganisation (effective on 19 February 2021)
and rights issue (effective on 25 March 2021)) under the
Scheme. After adjustment arising from capital reorganisation
and rights issue, the refreshed scheme mandate limit was
adjusted to 26,497,393 share options. Notwithstanding the
forgoing, the shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares
in issue from time to time.

As mentioned above, the Scheme expired on 20 September
2022. None of the above 26,497,393 share options has been
granted since 25 March 2021. As the Scheme expired on
20 September 2022, no share option may be granted out
the above 26,497,393 share options immediately after the
expiry date of the Scheme. During the year ended 31 March
2024, 1,484,737 share options lapsed and no share options
were exercised and cancelled. The number of share options
available for grant under the scheme mandate as at 1 April
2023 and 31 March 2024 was nil.
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The movements in the share options granted under the MRAFE » BIFZTEE L 2 BREESES
Scheme during the Year are shown below: R
Number of share options
RiREHE
Date of Exercise
At Granted Exercised Cancelld  Lapsed At grant price of
Name or category of 1 April  during  during  during  during 31 March  of share Validity period of share share
participants 2023 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2024 options options options
WIBZZE AEER AEEM SEER KEER RIECRE BREZRL iz
SEE AR mE-B  RY  f%®  ## XM ZA=+-A BY b B PAE i3
HK$
per share
gk
Executive Directors
wirE%
Mr. Li Weibin 157,127 - - - (157127) - 240413 24-04-14 t0 23-04-23 (Note 1) 31.7390
3y —Z#MA  -WEMAZTRAE
~tmA ZZEMAZ+=R (1)
Mr. Siu Wai Yip 109,623 - - - (109,623) - 240413 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 (Note 1)~ 31.7390
REERE —Z#MR  -WEMAZTRAE
~tmA ZZEMAZ+=R ML)
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 73,082 - - - (73082 - 2404413 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 (Note 1)~ 317390
(resigned on 19 May 2023) —ZfmF  —EEENACHMAE
fafrs (W2F2= [ Z=EMAZ+=R(lE1)
ERTNARME)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUgiTES
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond 73,082 = = - (73,08 - 171213 17-12-14 10 16-12-23 (Note 3) ~ 37.2227
fIgREL —ZE+ZR -WETZATtHE
+tA Z=E+ZR+AB )
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May 36,541 = = - (36541) - 240413 24-04-14 t0 23-04-23 (Note 1)~ 31.7390
BT —=fMA -MENA-TMAZ
—+mA Z=EMAZ+=R (1)
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene 36,541 - - - (36541) - 240413 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 (Note 7). 31.7390
RERut —=fm3  -MERAZFMAE
~tmA ZZEMAZ+=R (ML)
Sub-total 485,996 - - - (485,99) -
It
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Name or category of
participants

BREVAIER

Others
Rt

Employees

&

Other eligible participants
AftRBREEE

Sub-total
gt

Total
i

At
1 April
2023

A—®R=T
==

mE-H

475,034

146,163

374,544

995,741

1,481,737

Number of share options

FRiESR
Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed At
during  during  during  during 31 March
the Year the Year the Year the Year 2024

KEER AEEM FEEM AEER RIICDE
R M #® XN =ZA=+-H

S S - (475,034) S

S S - (146,163) S

S S - (374)544) S

= = - (995,741) -

S S - (1481,737) S
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grant
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options
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=k

24-04-13
—Z%MA
e !

291113
—=f+-A
ZthA

24-04-13
—=ENA
—+lH
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Validity period of share
options

BRIEZEHE

24-04-14 10 23-04-23 (Note 1)
—-MEMR-+MAZE
ZZENACTER(MET)

29-11-14 t0 28-11-23 (Note 2)
-NE+-BZ+AHE
ZZE+-AZHNR ()

24-04-14 to 23-04-23 (Note 1)
—MENA_+MAEE
ZZEMAZ+=R1)

Exercise
price of
share
options
kg
(i |
HK§

per share
ShET

31.7390

383120

31.7390
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Notes: Wi

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %

The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 24 April 2014 until 23 April
2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next 20% of the share
options shall become exercisable from 24 April 2015 until
23 April 2023 (both days inclusive); (iii) the next 20% of
the share options shall become exercisable from 24 April
2016 until 23 April 2023 (both days inclusive); (iv) the next
20% of the share options shall become exercisable from 24
April 2017 until 23 April 2023 (both days inclusive); and
(v) the remaining 20% of the share options shall become
exercisable from 24 April 2018 until 23 April 2023 (both
days inclusive).

The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 29 November 2014 until 28
November 2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next 20% of the
share options shall become exercisable from 29 November
2015 until 28 November 2023 (both days inclusive); (iii) the
next 20% of the share options shall become exercisable
from 29 November 2016 until 28 November 2023 (both
days inclusive); (iv) the next 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 29 November 2017 until 28
November 2023 (both days inclusive); and (v) the remaining
20% of the share options shall become exercisable from
29 November 2018 until 28 November 2023 (both days
inclusive).

The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 17 December 2014 until 16
December 2023 (both days inclusive); (i) the next 20% of the
share options shall become exercisable from 17 December
2015 until 16 December 2023 (both days inclusive); (iii) the
next 20% of the share options shall become exercisable
from 17 December 2016 until 16 December 2023 (both
days inclusive); (iv) the next 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 17 December 2017 until 16
December 2023 (both days inclusive); and (v) the remaining
20% of the share options shall become exercisable from
17 December 2018 until 16 December 2023 (both days
inclusive).
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The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately
before the date on which the share options were granted,
i.e. 23 April 2013, 28 November 2013 and 16 December
2013, were HK$0.56, HK$0.68 and HK$0.68 per share,
respectively.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” and
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME",
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries

at no time during the Year was

a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the Shareholders (other than Directors
or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
otherwise notified to the Company are set out below:
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Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying
shares of the Company

Name of substantial Shareholder Capacity
FTERRLIE HH 15

Wealth Keeper Beneficial owner
Wealth Keeper BmEAA

Ms. Cao Wei (“Ms. Cao”) (Note 2) Interest of spouse
BRut (MErt)) (fz2) i

Notes:

1. Based on 1,169,287,752 ordinary shares of the Company

in issue as at 31 March 2024.
2. Ms. Cao is the spouse of Mr. Li.

3. These shares comprised (i) 53,464,480 shares personally
held by Mr. Li, and (ii) 659,810,560 shares held by Wealth
Keeper, the entire issued share capital of which was wholly
and beneficially owned by Mr. Li. Mr. Li is the spouse of Ms.
Cao. Accordingly, Ms. Cao was deemed to be interested in
the said numbers of shares respectively held by Mr. Li and
Wealth Keeper by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no other
persons had any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

REREEBRRIBRAERAEZRE

Approximate percentage
Number of of the total number of
ordinary shares of shares in issue of the

HK$0.01 each Company
SREE0.0148TT HEAT] B RITRG
ZEBR#E Yy B Ba Rt
(Note 1)
(Frat1)
659,810,560 56.428%
713,275,040 61.001%

(Note 3)

(Fra£3)
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1. BAANBR _E_NE=HB=+—HBE%{T
1,169,287,752 8 L @Rt E o
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53,464,480 %1% > K(ii)EHWealth Keeper
F5H 2 659,810,560 & 15 » M Wealth
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TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions

No related party transaction or transaction that constitutes
connected transactions under the Listing Rules was entered
into by the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group were entered into or in existence during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” from pages
33 to 65 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution
and support are valued at all times. The Group regularly
reviews compensation and benefits policies according to
industry benchmarks as well as the individual performance of
employees. Other fringe benefits, mandatory provident fund
and share options are provided to retain loyal employees
with the aim to form a professional staff and management
team that can bring different levels of success to the Group.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" from pages 73 to 79 of this annual report, the
Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreements
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-Laws, the Directors, secretary and other
officers and every auditor of the Company for the time being
shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain
by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duties in their respective
offices or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has taken out insurance against all losses
and liabilities associated with defending any proceedings
which may be brought against Directors and other officers
of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on it.
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EMOLUMENTS POLICY

The emoluments policy of senior management of the Group
was set up by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company adopted the Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the Scheme
are set out in the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME"
above.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) namely Dr. Ho Chung
Tai, Raymond, Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim
Ling, Irene, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

Directors’ Report
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In view of the fact that Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ms.
Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene have served
as INEDs of the Company for more than nine years, the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee highly valued their
positive contributions, impartial opinions and independent
guidance over the past years, as well as their character
and integrity, and was of the opinion that Dr. Ho, Ms. Lai
and Ms. Chan would be able to continue to have effective
oversight of the management as INEDs. Their in-depth
understanding of the Company’s operations and business,
and their extensive knowledge, skills and experience in their
areas of expertise shall continue to bring a wide range of
valuable and independent insights to the Board. Based on
the assessment of all these relevant factors and the written
confirmations from Dr. Ho, Ms. Lai and Ms. Chan to the
Company that they satisfied all the criteria for independence
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee considered that Dr. Ho's, Ms.
Lai's and Ms. Chan’s length of tenure with the Company
would not affect their independence. The Board, taking into
account the above factors, as well as Dr. Ho's, Ms. Lai's
and Ms. Chan’s individual attributes which can enhance the
Board'’s diversity and optimal composition, is satisfied with
their independence.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-Laws of the Company, or the laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made donations amounting to
approximately HK$Nil (Previous Year: HK$nil).
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best of the knowledge of the Directors,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was
held by public as at the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
of the Company the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the Year and discussed with the management
of the Company on auditing, risk management, internal
control and financial reporting matters. Information on
the composition of the Audit Committee is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 33 to 65 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB") was appointed
as the auditor of the Company on 4 May 2020 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year were audited by HLB who will retire and offer itself for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company for the re-appointment
of HLB as the auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Li Weibin

Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B A% BRI

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Chinlink International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”)
set out on pages 91 to 367, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss from continuing
operations and net loss for the year of approximately
HK$385,126,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. As
at 31 March 2024, the Group was in net current liabilities
position of approximately HK$1,454,031,000, and its
bank balances and cash amounted to approximately
HK$7,606,000 only. As at that date, the Group had
outstanding borrowings and bonds of approximately
HK$1,256,286,000 and HK$266,363,000 respectively which
were repayable on demand or due for repayment or renewal
in the next twelve months after 31 March 2024. The Group
has defaulted in repayment of principals and interest of
borrowings and bonds of approximately HK$178,348,000
and HK$40,278,000 respectively as at 31 March 2024, as
a result the carrying amounts of the defaulted borrowings
and bonds of approximately HK$930,092,000 and
HK$163,988,000 respectively as at 31 March 2024 were
repayable on demand as at 31 March 2024. The default
of these borrowings and bonds triggered cross default of
another borrowing, approximately HK$17,713,000 as at
31 March 2024, which was originally due for repayment
in December 2024. The bank and financial institutions are
contractually entitled to request for immediate repayment
of the outstanding borrowings and bonds of approximately
HK$947,805,000 and HK$163,988,000 respectively as at
31 March 2024. These events and conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in Note 37 and Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditors’” Report
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(continued)

The directors have certain plans and measures to improve
the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set
out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which is dependent
on the outcomes of these plans and measures, which are
inherently uncertain and subject to multiple uncertainties,
including (i) whether the Group is able to accelerate
the construction progress for pre-sale of the phase two
development of the Xi’an Commercial Complex (the “Phase
2 of the Xi'an Commercial Complex”); (ii) whether the
Group is able to successfully negotiate with the banks and
financial institutions to secure the renewals of the Group’s
bonds and borrowings to meet its liabilities when they fall
due; (iii) whether the Company is successful in implementing
alternative capital raising initiatives to provide additional
funds for the Group; and (iv) whether the Group is able to
implement its cost control measures to attain positive cash
flows from operations of the Group.

We have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves about the appropriateness of
the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements because
of the lack of detailed analyses provided by management
in relation to its plans and measures for future actions in
its going concern assessment which take into account the
uncertainty of outcome of these plans and measures and
how variability in outcome would affect the future cash
flows of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements and we were unable
to determine whether such adjustments might have been
found necessary.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the “HKFRS") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “"HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“"HKSA") issued by the HKICPA
in accordance with Section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act
and to issue an auditors’ report and solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
toward or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we were not able to form an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun

Practising Certificate Number: P06901
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

A o TH 2t B HoAth %2

CONTINUING OPERATIONS:
Revenue

Services

Rental

Interest

— Other interest revenue

Total revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income, gains and losses
Loss arising from disposal of
a subsidiary
Loss on deemed disposal of
interest in an associate
Loss on fair value change of
investment properties
Allowance under expected credit
loss model, net of reversal
Share of profit of an associate
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year from
continuing operations

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Loss for the year from discontinued
operations, net of tax

Loss for the year

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z% =& Z 44 =
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Notes

Ktz

42(a)

19

18

10

1"

15

2024
—E-mEF
HK$000
FHT

65,624
26,315

5,339

97,278
(26,502)

70,776
72,936

(266,137)

(64,463)

(9,750)
(53,209)
(173,499)

(423,346)

38,220

(385,126)

(385,126)

[IRVE~E

A=+—HILFE

2023
—ET=F
HK$'000
TAT

77,232
30,175

11,363

118,770
(28,593)

90,177
60,034

(95,353)
(1,553)
(122,526)
(58,820)
1,161
(10,401)

(73,091)
(185,949)

(396,321)
18,046
(378,275)

(7,206)

(385,481)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

Other comprehensive

(expense)/income

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations

Share of exchange difference of
an investment in an associate

Reclassification of cumulative
translation reserve upon deemed
disposal of interest in an associate

Reclassification of cumulative
translation reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries

Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Fair value (loss)/gain on equity
investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, net of
tax

Other comprehensive expense for the
year, net of income tax

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company:

— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Loss for the year attributable to non-
controlling interests:

— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations

Loss for the year attributable to non-
controlling interests:
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2024
—EomE
HK$’000
T

Notes

Kzt

(127,515)

(23,838)

(151,353)

(536,479)

(381,784)

(381,784)

(3,342)

(3,342)
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(192,359)

(2,495)

(4,153)

(16,323)

519

(214,811)

(600,292)

(376,622)
(2,020)

(378,642)

(1,653)
(5,186)

(6,839)



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EmE T =F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
MiaE FAET FAET
Total comprehensive expense for the MUTFTATEGAEERE
year attributable to: FASZ4R%E .
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIE Y =N (532,678) (574,286)
Non-controlling interests JEITERe RS (3,801) (26,006)
(536,479) (600,292)
Total comprehensive expense ERAREEAEGLEE
attributable to owners of P2 4R%E -
the Company arises from:
— from continuing operations —REFEEEER (532,678) (574,249)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEZEER - (37)
(532,678) (574,286)
HKcents HKcents
=3 (I =il
LOSS PER SHARE BREE
Loss per share attributable to ERFEE AEL
owners of the Company rEEFREIE
for the year:
From continuing and discontinued REFERBZLE
operations AT EE o
— Basic —&K 14 (32.65) (32.38)
- Diluted —#E (32.65) (32.38)
From continuing operations REFFEREER
- Basic —EK 14 (32.65) (32.21)
— Diluted —#E (32.65) (32.21)
From discontinued operations KEDRIEREE
— Basic —H&K 14 - 0.17
— Diluted — s - (0.17)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the MEMI MR R s S B ERE ~ — 2D ©

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-NE=A=+—H

2024
“EZlmE
Notes HK$°000
o3 FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y~ BB RRE 16 101,919
Right-of-use assets FREESE 17 18,044
Investment properties BB 18 2,640,470
Equity investment at fair value through  EAFEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income W EmRE 21 69,605
Deposit paid for land auction THIRE 2 BN EE 20 866
Financial assets at fair value through AT ESt ABm
profit or loss EMEE 22 -
Deposits s 26 1,679
2,832,583
Current assets MENEE
Properties under development for sale RER 2 FEME 23 598,514
Trade receivables FEU B 5 ER1B 26 701
Trade receivables from FEWRE R 2B 5
related companies BRTE 26 1,173
Loan receivables FEWER 24 11,822
Factoring receivables FEW B £ (RIBRIE 25 52,002
Other receivables, deposits and HMEUERTE « &
prepayments KFEFIE 26 26,509
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITER 27 56,846
Bank balances and cash IRITAEGERIRE 28 7,606
755,173
Current liabilities PrEUR=Ri
Trade payables FEfT B ZER1E 29 666
Other payables and accruals HAFE(IBRIB M FE ST
=9 29 175,763
Loans from staff BTE 30 2,125
Construction costs accruals FEEHRERA A 31 323,573
Receipts in advance FEUWERIE 33 9,348
Lease liabilities HEaE 34 5,155
Contract liabilities L= 32 123,415
Deposits received from tenants and mEEREFWE
customers & 24,060
Deferred income IEIEWTA 35 17,547
Financial guarantee contracts MEERELY 43 804
Tax payable FE(IIRIA 4,099
Bank and other borrowings RITREMMER 37 1,256,286
6.5% coupon bonds 6.5%ZEES 38 102,375
13.0% coupon bonds 13.0% ZEEH 38 163,988
2,209,204
Net current liabilities RENBEEEE (1,454,031)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRHSAR 1,378,552

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % i rfs 4 [ B 12 B A5 BR 23 W)
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2023
_ET=F
HK$'000
FET

118,061
24,245
3,076,168

93,443
917

1,698

3,314,532

633,751
4,654

1,244
102,617
174,931

28,208
80,694
90,286

1,116,385

705

154,999
6,339
347,478
9,342
4,793
132,230

24,334
14,908
1,792
2,388
1,548,526
100,649
228,108

2,576,591
(1,460,206)

1,854,326



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

o W B IR DL R

At 31 March 2024 R-ZE_HE=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NE BT =F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
iot=3 FHET FHET
Non-current liabilities JERENAE
Deferred income EIEWTA 35 1,464 14,702
Amounts due to directors E{JEERIA 36 45,210 34,035
Lease liabilities HE&R 34 14,270 20,139
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 37 176,552 50,869
Amounts due to related companies FESRIE R RIRIE 36 90,474 88,626
Deferred tax liabilities FIEIRIAE(E 39 224,059 282,953
552,029 491,324
826,523 1,363,002
Capital and reserves BERKiEE
Share capital [ 40 11,693 11,693
Reserves (=3 809,856 1,342,534
Equity attributable to owners of EYNSIE ZEUN S
the Company 821,549 1,354,227
Non-controlling interests IR S 4,974 8,775
826,523 1,363,002
The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 367 EEER T IMFEARAZ T N\EHERE
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of T EHINENEI67TE I E I FHBIRE »
Directors on 28 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: WEHLTALREREE
LI Weibin SIU Wai Yip
=) mEE
Director Director
EF EES
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the WEMIPIEAB R AR S I TS IRzR 2 — &

consolidated financial statements.
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98

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

»iﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

Notes:

@)

(i)

(iii)

The entities established in the People’s Republic of
China (the "“PRC") are required to appropriate 10% of
its net profit, as determined under the China Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises (2006) and other relevant
regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC,
to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches
50% of the registered capital.

Subject to the approval of equity holders of the entities
established in the PRC, statutory surplus reserves may be
used to net off with accumulated losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital, provided that the balance of
statutory surplus reserve after such capitalisation is not less
than 25% of the registered capital.

Pursuant to the Interim Measures for the Administration
of Financial Guarantee Companies issued at 1 September
2010 by the Shaanxi Province government authorities
in the PRC, companies providing financial guarantee
services shall establish unearned premium reserve equal
to 50% of guarantee premium recognised during the year
and indemnification reserve of no less than 1% of the
outstanding guarantee balances.

Other reserve represents (i) the difference between the
amounts by which the non-controlling interests were
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid that
was recognised directly in equity which arose from equity
transaction in prior year and (ii) the deemed contribution
from the controlling shareholder of the Company.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.

“ME=A=t—HILFE

His :

(i)

(iii)

BB MR S IR Tz —

RAREARAEME(THE) RZNERA
REALRIBI10% (RGP B EEREARRYF

B XSS E (CTETRE) REMER
ROETE) BRELTRFRE > EEEH
EEFMELRNS0% °

RN RERL I BB RIS AHLER
BRT  EZEEBRHEABETBRBHERBH
BWA) > HABREELR > EEZER
EREERFHBEGTSENREMEERRN
25% ©

BEPERAEBRFHFIN _E—FFAN
A—BEGH(RELERABDEEDITH
EIVRE - REHRBMRERRBZABER
TRFPEEEFE BERFEREDAE
RUEABIS0%) » DIRERBEERS (R
R REEBERAEERE1 %) ©

HihfEER)IFER#E D 2 AR RERS
FEEZRERFMERNERED BN
REZRATEZBZEZBR)ERREE
NEERBRRZHE ©

Lo o
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Adjustments for:
Interest income from money lending
Interest income from factoring
Bank interest income
Finance costs
Share of profit of an associate
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary, net

Loss on deemed disposal of
interest in an associate

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Loss on fair value change of
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

Allowance under expected credit
loss model, net of reversal

Loss on fair value change of
investment properties

Adjustment on carrying amount of
amount due to a director

Adjustment on carrying amount of
amount due to related parties
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GaBEemRa

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

Notes

HiaE

HEER
BRERIE 18
FBISE R

ERIEEE R

BEIEE

BEMBEUA

7 AR EEF B U

RITH B A 7
U %N

HME—REEE A B EF] 19
HE—REHBARZE

18558
RIEHER —EBEA
Bl 2 B518 19
Mz~ BERRBITE

16
FRESENE 17
HEME - BEREE
2B 7
BAFEFABRZE
B EZ AT EES)
518358 7
TR EREENIET
23 E > MNFREE 9
KREMEZ N FEEH)
Jgi=] 18
FEN—REERIBZER
EEZ B 7
FE(IREE A LERIEZ BR
EEZ R 7

2024

—E-E

HK$°000
FTET

(423,346)

(423,346)
(2,703)
(2,636)

(760)
173,499

9,320
5,409

64,463

266,137

(1,593)

(16,358)

2023
—ET=F
HK$'000
TAT

(396,321)
(7,206)

(403,527)
(7,853)
(3,510)
(3,888)

186,115
(1,161)
91,976

1,553

7,903
8,660

6,949

58,820

122,526

(1,665)

(15,985)

99



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ARl B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_NF=H=+—HILFE

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Increase in properties under
development for sale
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

Decrease in trade receivables from
related companies

Decrease in other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Decrease in loan receivables

Decrease/(increase) in
factoring receivables

Increase in trade payables

Increase/(decrease) in receipts in
advance

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in deposits received
from tenants

Increase in other payables and accruals

Decrease in financial guarantee
contracts

Net cash generated from operations
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

PRC income tax paid

Interest received

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

AERBERZHEYE

R E ZARIERLD, . (18
)

REERARZE5REA
P

HMEUWERE ~ RERTE
IR R D

W ERRL

PRI R S RIBRIER LD,
(1)

& B ZIRIEE M

FawRIEE M, Gail)

BHBE GIL) N

BIES IR Z S0,
GHizb)

A SR TR R P 21 22
s

MERRA0HED

KEETRE PR
BENEENER
EATEFER
BWFE

REEBEE B

Notes

HaE

2024
—E-mE
HK$'000
FHET

71,434

(77,248)

1,779

331

6,188
56,333

102,176
15

534
(1,430)

1,098

29,499

(366)

190,343

(1,298)
2,658

191,703
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2023
—EC=F
HK$'000
TAT

46,919

9,295
28,613

(34,055)

(4,150)

40,845

(237)

45,585

(593)

47,469
(90)
(1,876)
4,106

49,609



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ARl ERR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—TomE  ZEI=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
iot=3 FHET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Net cash inflow from disposal of HENBABZREMA
subsidiaries HEE - 158,709
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BEMEHEZ
plant and equipment FriSFIE = 124
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEFABRZ
assets at fair value through profit or TREEZFTSMIE
loss - 2,139
Interest received BUFIE 760 3,888
Purchase of property, BEYE « BRERHRE
plant and equipment (1,283) (23,820)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEERFRITER (16,755) (35,381)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits  $REVEIRIRIRITER 36,249 148,414
Refund of deposit paid for land auction T#iHE >~ BF{R:E
IR - 9,314
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REEBELZREFHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 18,971 263,387
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ARl B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_NF=H=+—HILFE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of 6.5% coupon bonds

Interest paid

New other borrowings raised

New bank borrowings raised

Repayment of other borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Loans from staff

Repayment of loans from staff

Advances from related companies

Repayment of advances from
related companies

Advance from directors

Repayment to directors

Repayment of lease liabilities

Bank overdraft raised

Repayment of bank overdraft

Repayment of 13.0% coupon bonds

Acquisition of additional interests in
a subsidiary

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

RE R
Eime 5% ZaMEE
RIS
$ 18 L A5
RT3
B
(BRI 55
BTEH
EEeTER

SR RE AT 2 B

g

&

BERBRENTZEM

REEFEZBM
BEESENA
BEEHEER
HIRIRTTES
BERITEX
ER13.0%REEF

Wais — I B A B Z &R S

Ny

#Em

MERBERAZRZREE

2024

—EE

Notes HK$°000
Mt FHET

(6,000)
(129,022)
49,422
15,674
(104,533)
(30,800)
2,125
(5,985)
51,800

(51,695)
9,538
(2,509)
(4,685)
(12,457)
(68,528)

(287,655)
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2023
—EC=F
HK$'000
TAT

(21,433)
(177,670)
155,553
1,000,147
(1,030,900)
(193,227)
6,316
(7,476)
133,857

(104,847)
8,749
(419)
(8,276)
990
(520)
(11,774)

(11,719)

(262,649)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GaBEemRa

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —ET=fF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Jiog=3 FHET FEIT
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH R&RRS%EEH GF
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ) HENNBREE (76,981) 50,347
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ROA—BZHERREE
AT 1 APRIL ZEER 90,286 42,608
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE SMNEEREH 2 HE
RATE CHANGES (5,699) (2,669)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MR=A=+—BzZHER
AT 31 MARCH, REEFEEH
Represented by bank balances and {RIBITEERIRE
cash 7,606 90,286
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF He&RREEEBEEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS: o
Bank balances and cash RITEERIRES 28 7,606 90,286
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the BEM ISR AR B I T ERzT" 2 —H 7 ©

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted limited liability entity and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate
holding company is Wealth Keeper International
Limited (“Wealth Keeper”), incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands and the ultimate controlling
shareholder of Wealth Keeper is Mr. Li Weibin (“Mr.
Li”), the chairman and managing director of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information” to the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are property
investment, provision of financial guarantee services
and factoring services in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The presentation currency of the consolidated
financial statements is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
which is also the functional currency of the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
("HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

—REN RARREE

KRB BREZMARIINEER R
BEREET A  ERNESTEBHS
REMABRRB(THAZML) £ o
EEERREBERABINEBE
WR B B M A 1L Z Wealth Keeper
International Limited (T'Wealth
Keeper]) > MWealth KeeperZ 4%
ERBRRATEEAE (TFEERE) (K
NE)EERESMRIKIE) o ZNTEM
MERERTEESEMIAMA BN FE
W2 REIER NS

KABPBREZERAT - WB LR Z
TEEBRTEAREBREYER
B RERBEERRE kB ERER
7% o

REMBREDUBT(ET) 2
5] s BRI RERBNNEER © Bx
SHEERIN > AERESNEERE
EF (TF#TY) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group incurred
a net loss from continuing operations and net loss
for the year of approximately HK$385,126,000. As of
31 March 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,454,031,000, while its bank
balances and cash amounted to approximately
HK$7,606,000 only as at 31 March 2024. In
addition, the Group had outstanding borrowings
and bonds of approximately HK$1,256,286,000 and
HK$266,363,000 respectively which were repayable
on demand or due for repayment or renewal in
the next twelve months after 31 March 2024. The
Group has defaulted in repayment of principals and
interest of borrowings and bonds of approximately
HK$178,348,000 and HK$40,278,000 respectively as
at 31 March 2024, as a result the carrying amounts of
the defaulted borrowings and bonds of approximately
HK$930,092,000 and HK$163,988,000 respectively
as at 31 March 2024 were repayable on demand
as at 31 March 2024. The default of these
borrowings and bonds triggered cross default of
another borrowing, approximately HK$17,713,000
as at 31 March 2024, which was originally due for
repayment in December 2024. The bank and financial
institutions are contractually entitled to request for
immediate repayment of the outstanding borrowings
and bonds of approximately HK$947,805,000 and
HK$163,988,000 respectively as at 31 March 2024.
Further details are set out in Note 37 and Note 38.
These events and conditions indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
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—RERRREREE ()

BE_Z_NWE=B=+—B8LtHE
B> AEBELRFERESERTER
R AR EFE51849385,126,000/87T ©
ATE_NEZRA=+—H » xEE
BRea@E$541,454,031,00078
T MER_Z_NE=B=+—H
ZIRTEERIRSEL%A7,606,000
BT o IS REER T TWEFE=
B=1+—HBXRR+_EIZREXE
ERIREEREBEZHAREEBN
K& RI4I7%41,256,286,0008 T K
266,363,0008 7T c AEEENRZE
THE=ZB=+—HEXEEERK
BH AT R EDHI#178,348,000
BT K% 40,278,000 7T 0 AL 0 BT
EIMFE=A=+—HENERRE
% Z BREE 2 5]49930,092,00078 7t
$2163,988,000 Bt Z T ZHF=
B=+—HERERER - ZZEEN
REHFBHNENF —EER(NIZZ
ME=B=+—H#&%17,713,000%
TO) RXIEBH » ZEZEEREENRZEZ
ME+ZAFHEE - RITREE
BRARREERERINEENZ
EIMNFE=ZA=+—HKEENER
K (&% Bl #4974 947,805,000 78 7T &
163,988,000/ 7T © E—HsHIEE M
37K MI5E38 c EEERIEREAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

The directors of the Company have performed an

assessment of the Group’s future liquidity and cash

flows, taking into account the following matters:

(i)

the Group is seeking to accelerate the
construction progress and thereby the
preselling of the service apartments of the
Phase Two Development (as defined below).
The proceeds arising therefrom will be used
for settling the construction fees, repayment
of existing loan facilities and general working
capital;

the Company has actively negotiated with
banks and financial institutions to secure the
renewals of the Group’s bonds and borrowings
to meet its liabilities when they fall due;

(a) the Group has requested extending
the repayment of the defaulted
principals and interests of the bank
and other borrowings of approximately
HK$23,743,000 and HK$30,895,000
respectively. The directors of the
Company are confident in further
extending the repayment of the
principals of the bank and other
borrowings taking into consideration
the long-term relationship with the
lenders. However, the extensions
were subject to final approval by the
lenders as of the date of these audited
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS 1. —KRENRGREEE)

OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

(ii)

the Company has actively negotiated with

banks and financial institutions to secure

the renewals of the Group’s bonds and

borrowings to meet its liabilities when they

fall due; (continued)

(b)

On 22 September 2023, the Group
entered into a supplemental deed in
respect of the settlement and purchase
deed with a financial institution for
13.0% coupon bonds. According to the
supplemental deed, the Group agreed
to repay accrued interest and principal
in a total amount of approximately
US$10,700,000 in two tranches on or
before 31 December 2023. Upon the
Group's fulfilment of the conditions,
the Group will obtain a discount for
repayment of the remaining balance
in the last instalment. However, the
Group failed to repay as scheduled. The
Group has been actively negotiating
with the financial institution for the
rescheduled repayment plan and the
directors of the Company are confident
that the rescheduled repayment plan
will be agreed with the financial
institution.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS 1. — BRI R AR EEE (B)
OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (continued) FFIEEEEE (48)

(iii)

(iv)

the Group has received written confirmation
dated 28 June 2024 from Mr. Li, the ultimate
controlling shareholder, that he will provide
continuing financial support to the Group
to enable the Group to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for
the foreseeable future, and agreed not to
demand repayment of any of the amounts
due to him by the Group in the next twelve
months from the date of approval for issue
of these consolidated financial statements;

the Group has taken measures to tighten cost
controls over production costs and expenses
with the aim of attaining profitable and
positive cash flows from its operations;

the Group may consider to dispose non-core
business and/or financial assets if required;
and

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

(vi) the Group is currently soliciting different
sources of funds, including additional banking
facilities to further support the Group’s funding
needs should the aforesaid operating cash
inflows turned out to be less than forecasted

The directors of the Company have considered the
above measures (“Measures”) and refinancing plans
("Refinancing Plan”) and believe that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due for the foreseeable future.
On this basis, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.
However, should the above refinancing plans not be
able to be implemented successfully, or the existing
facilities provided by Mr. Li are no longer available
to the Group, the Group may not have sufficient
funds to operate as a going concern, in which case
adjustments might have to be made to the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to reclassify the non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively and to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _NF=H=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October  Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two
model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the Year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements is amended to replace all instances of the
term "significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (continued)

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance but has affected the disclosure of
the Group’s accounting policies.

Impact on amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The amendment narrows the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The Group has applied
the amendments on temporary differences related to
leases as at 1 January 2022. However, they did not
have any material impact on the overall deferred tax
balances presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as the related deferred tax balances
qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong

The Company and its subsidiary are operating in Hong
Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to employees
under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group
makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for
the retirement benefits of each individual employee.
Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of
the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP
(the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take
effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).
In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance,
the last month’s salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date (instead of the date of termination
of employment) is used to calculate the portion of
LSP in respect of the employment period before the
Transition Date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong (continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance
for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this,
the Group has implemented the guidance published
by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and
more relevant information about the effects of the
offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising
from employer MPF contributions that have been
vested with the employee and which could be
used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a
deemed contribution by the employee towards the
LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19
to account for the deemed employee contributions
as a reduction of the service cost in the period in
which the related service is rendered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong (continued)

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of
the Abolition, these contributions are no longer
considered “linked solely to the employee’s service
in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF
contributions after the Transition Date can still be
used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation.
Therefore, it would not be appropriate to view the
contributions as “independent of the number of years
of service” and the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead,
these deemed contributions should be attributed to
periods of service in the same manner as the gross
LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19.

Based on management’s assessment, the change has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs and interpretation in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability?

(Revised) Statements - Classification by
the Borrower of a Team Loan
that contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024.
£ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs and
interpretation will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except
for investment properties and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

MG AMBRRZBERE
AREFBREN (&

RREEHBRRZEE ()

AFEENFERBTH2HEERAKR
FRZPHEBRERNWNNEEREER
AN ZER > MAmZBERESP
ERBRNEREMGESAMGE -
REFEERNEBRZATER » K&
EEEZEmE2RAENGEAHEE
HEEEERFAMEEZEENEREY
B oo ZERAMBRERPIEAERS
URBEREZAFENDRILEEE
TE o EREBMBREERIB2RLUR
DRERZNTBERNZLURG BE
RITTR 7 ~ RETEMBRSER
F16MARZEER S AR FELRE
LB IFATFEZFE(MEEE
RIFE2FFER 2 PSR FENSEE
FHERIE36HEERET Z ERER)
BRSN o

FEMEELATFEZFEFRTHZ
HEFZEBRZEEZRS RRER
HRERZEE  URZBEEE TS —
RRZEEZRERRERBEAZ
BEEZMHR2HEE > KMEELER
mMZAES] °

118 CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ v & 13 B P B 4 BR A 5] | Annual Report 2024 4§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

MG AMBRRZBERE
AREFBREN (&

HREREZEZ ()

FEER BB LD Z RIS
228

THEENAERREAHNBAD ZIE
R EBRNBAR ZREZE
HARIFERR S - AEBHERE
mRIFERER D Z AREEERE
URBMERKBARZ AN REm 2
8 UEREAEERIFERERZ
BamttfIRcEBRIFEREDEE
MEREARER o

PREAZ FERERBEREACHHE
WHREBATEZEZERELE > TH¢
o EHEER  TRBRAARER
Ao

122 CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ v & 13 B P B A BR 23 5] | Annual Report 2024 3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 Financial instruments or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in
the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 April 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet
the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework")
except for transactions and events within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it
has assumed in a business combination. Contingent
assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquire and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by— transaction basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income,
as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously
held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset
within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and presented
on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group's performance
in transferring control of goods or services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF REGSMBHRRZEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AEABEREN (&
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers HERSHZ W (8

(continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (continued)

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

The Group uses time-elapsed output method for
property management services, financial guarantee
services and asset management services and cost-
based input method for logistics services in measuring
the progress of the performance obligation.

BEOF IRESR I 7t © 51 BT BAIE T
BYEE (&)

ey

BN 2
TERERANETIEETREBR A LT
2 IRBEAEEREBITENEEM
TEHEIEA (B TEREEITERME
HEENMRRA) BT - BRAZE
RERMAEBENER S RAREE
HIRERFRBATIB N ©

FEERFERNSENEER » ¥
MEEERY MEERBRBREE
EERFBHRBAEERB®E L L I
HYRRBHEAURAEREENTA
& o

136 CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ v & 13 B P B 4 BR 22 5] | Annual Report 2024 3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the

lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

MG AMBRRZBERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AEABEREN (&
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued) fHE (&

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9")
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the standalone
price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRUNGESHBRRZBERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFBREN (A

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued) fHE (&
Changes in the basis for determining the future RIF R E L BB TE AR AR FEST
lease payments as a result of interest rate RGBT

benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future MAF EEENEERNEERREE
lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark NRNWEEEEMS » AEEERESE
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient e[ {THE 5% > BSBERAAEALIR
to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the R KETHENHIREMERE
revised lease payments using the unchanged discount HEaf UHEREREEEFEY
rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the HEREE EEREFTEUTER
related right-of- use assets. A lease modification is B> HAREBAMNEEENENHRER
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and M E

only if, both of these conditions are met:

. the modification is necessary as a direct . AN EEENENEREBRM
consequence of interest rate benchmark BRNBBN ; &
reform; and

. the new basis for determining the lease . EEHENMTNEEELH
payments is economically equivalent to the FERRIBEEE (BNEEEN
previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately AIRYEZE) o

preceding the modification).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not
to assess whether the change is a lease modification
if all of the following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms

and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF REGSMBHRRZEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AEABEREN (&
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued) fHE (&
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recognised as receivables at commencement
date at amounts equal to net investments in the
leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than
those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors)
are included in the initial measurement of the net
investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases
(continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model. Variable
lease payments for operating leases that depend on
an index or a rate are estimated and included in the
total lease payments to be recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on index or a rate are recognised
as income when they arise.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone selling prices.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction
of rentals.

The Group accounts for a change in the lease payments
of a finance lease as a lease modification, that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in accordance
with the requirements of HKFRS 9. If the change
represents a substantial modification, the finance
lease receivables of the original lease are derecognised
and a derecognition gain or loss calculated using the
revised lease payments discounted at the revised
discount rate is recognised in profit or loss on the
date of the modification. If the change does not
represent a substantial modification, the Group
continues to recognise the finance lease receivables
in which such carrying amount will be calculated at
the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the related receivables’ original
discount rate. Any adjustment to the carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss at the effective date
of modification.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the Group assesses the classification
of each element separately based on the assessment
as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the
entire property is accounted as an operating lease.
Specifically, the entire consideration (including any
lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between
the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element
at initial recognition.

When the property payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements, the entire property is generally classified
as if the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of
the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re— attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and state managed retirement benefit scheme
in the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors,
employees and consultants providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments without taking into consideration all non-
market vesting conditions determined at the grant
date is expensed on a straight line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expenses.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and
the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.

MG AMBRRZBERE
AREFBREN (&

HE (4&)
MERBLXFERAGFEZREYEM
s SFEHIEERIER » HRKASE
BHESHWREIARYEZIREE
SRIFERRRERE - HKEWER
TIE > BREYETDRBEUERE
HEMIFFZBHERBEMEMEaZ
BARDEENmABENZEBRRN
FA o RIERIILRR -

Pt EAEREDEREEEKERM
HEERNHEERZ ZIEIERIEM
o AEEESRERBNREEN
ERREENHEESR -

MBI REBERNEEEENEER
5Ms > AEELAEEREB G
AE 12 ED AR EERRER
HAEE - T RAJEBSEN AR
8 B = SR AR IR N PO B ER AR I F BY PR
ER > AEEZRIEHEERREN
EIEFRIHE & > WP A BRI K
ERRESVEERIESR ©

156 CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ v & 13 B P B 4 BR 23 5] | Annual Report 2024 3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will accept
the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be
use by individual group entities in their income tax
filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes
are determined consistently with the tax treatmentin
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is
reflected by using either the most likely amount or
the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.

Construction in progress includes property, plant
and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets other than construction in progress less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
properties under construction for such purposes).
Investment properties include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded as held
for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets
and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Construction costs incurred from investment
properties under construction are capitalised as part
of the carrying amount of the investment properties
under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising from derecognition of the property (calculated
by the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which are
intended to be sold upon completion of development
and properties for sale are classified as current
assets. Except for the leasehold land element which
is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
under development for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for the properties less estimated cost to completion
and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are transferred
to properties for sale upon completion.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication
that the assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group
of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value and restricted deposits
arising from pre-sale of properties that are held
for meeting short-term cash commitments.
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’'s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as
short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made by the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect
of the time value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Provisions (continued)
Warranties

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance typed
warranty obligations under the relevant sale of goods
are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant
products, at the directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount
of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient
reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised but
is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will
then be recognised as a provision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition
is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held
for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary after
the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of
an investment, in an associate or joint venture, the
investment or the portion of the investment that will
be disposed of is classified as held for sale when
the criteria described above are met, and the Group
discontinues the use of the equity method in relation
to the portion that is classified as held for sale from
the time when the investment (or a portion of the
investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell, except for financial assets within the scope of
HKFRS 9 and investment properties, which continue
to be measured in accordance with the accounting
policies as set out in respective sections.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income ("OCI") if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the Fair Value
Reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will continue
to be held in the Fair Value Reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or
loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in
the “other income, gains and losses” line item
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “other income, gains and
losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables, trade
receivables from related company, amounts due
from former subsidiaries, loan receivables, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances, financial guarantee
contracts and factoring receivables) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12 months
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables with
significant balances or credit impaired and lease
receivables are assessed individually and the remaining
trade receivables are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate age groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 months ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRUNGESHBRRZBERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFBREN (A

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) 2HTH(4E)

Financial assets (continued) THEEHE)

Impairment of financial assets subject to i
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

7 (48)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) (i) EEREEEL (&)

. existing or forecast adverse changes . A EEREBAER

in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant o
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse .
change in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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Irrespective of the outcome of the above e F T EREROA > &
assessment, the Group presumes that the SEHRBTE > ESNNTRERRBE
credit risk has increased significantly since B30K > BB S HEBURE
initial recognition when contractual payments ERMEESEIEM > BRIERE
are more than 30 days past due, unless BEESEEIZRFNERER
the Group has reasonable and supportable BISERER ©

information that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it
has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ in accordance with globally
understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date
that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to
be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there
has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of a financial
guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events of default that have a detrimental

impact on the estimated future cash flows of

that financial asset have occurred. Evidence

that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
Write off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
For a lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REFESHBHRRZEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEABERER (8)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) ZTHTHGE)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (18)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for
which the effective interest rate cannot be
determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken
into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on the amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of
the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables, deposits,
factoring receivables, loan receivables and
other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o W 5 T R B ek
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the spot
rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the “Other
income, gains and losses, net” line item as part
of the net foreign exchange gains/(losses);

o For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences on the
amortised cost of the debt instrument are
recognised in profit or loss in the “Other
income, gains and losses” line item as part of
the net foreign exchange gains/(losses). As the
foreign currency element recognised in profit
or loss is the same as if it was measured at
amortised cost, the residual foreign currency
element based on the translation of the
carrying amount (at fair value) is recognised
in other comprehensive income in the fair
value through other comprehensive income/
revaluation reserve;

o For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit
or loss in the “Other income, gains and
losses” line item as part of the gain/(loss)
from changes in fair value of financial assets;
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses (continued)

o For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI,
exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income in the fair
value through other comprehensive income/
revaluation reserve.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accruals, loans from staff, amounts
due to related companies, amounts due to directors,
construction cost accruals, coupon bonds, obligation
arising from a put option to a non-controlling
shareholder, lease liabilities and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRUNGESHBRRZBERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFBREN (A

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) FHTE(48)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) THEERED (&

£ (0T A\ 4
/=N =i,

REND/ERBTARMBIEE

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that

requires the issuer to make specified payments to T3 LUHEFBE ABARNIEEEHEA
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a RERBER TEGRNEHARET
specified debtor fails to make payment when due RMESZZIBEZEH o REEE
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. HmBERENVUTREAFTES
Financial guarantee contracts liabilities issued by 2 W ([ EEE AR AFET AR
the Group are measured initially at their fair values m) HER TR aEstE !

and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently
measured at the higher of:

(i the amount of the loss allowance determined (i) RIES BB EERFEITE
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and ENEERESRE &

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where (i THDERRIEFRABER
appropriate, cumulative amortisation 2 Rt (WEm) ©

recognised over the guarantee period.

F
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost
at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based
on the amortised cost of the instruments. These
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
the “Other gains and losses” line item in profit or
loss as part of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) for
financial liabilities that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship. For those which are designated
as a hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign
currency risk, foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a separate component of equity.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end
of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that
are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange
component forms part of the fair value gains or
losses and is recognised in profit or loss for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of
a separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It
also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or
on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group
constituting the discontinued operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group that is preparing its financial statements
as follows:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the
Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of the group of which the other entity
is @ member);
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REGSMBHRRZEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AEABEREN (&
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Related parties (continued) FIEANL (48)
(b)  (continued) (b)) (&
(i) both entities are joint ventures of the iy MEBEHAR—F=

same third party; A= U/N=1IH

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a vy, —EBERAE=-FERZ
third entity and the other entity is an SERE > MB—88
associate of the third party; BEE=H2HERE;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit (V) ZERAREEFER
plan for the benefit of employees of EEEMEZERIE
either the Group or an entity related BN @mRLZEBEE
to the Group. If the Group is itself such FErE - MEAEBRLXT

also related to the Group; TR E B RE

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly (viy ZEREZ@BFI#Z
controlled by a person identified in (a); N TGS HEEES ;

(viiy A person identified in (a)(i) has (i)  R@))BEr#EBZ AL
significant influence over the entity or HZERBREEARE
is a member of the key management REZER (WZEES
personnel of the entity (or of a parent BRE) 2 FEBIERER
of the entity); and =R

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group (viiiy MAEENFEEZR
of which it is a part, provides key BliRBIFEETEAER

a plan, the sponsoring employers are

management personnel services to the
group or the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o W 5 T R B ek
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(0) dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between the Group and related parties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments that the
directors of the Company have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the
Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the
Company have determined the presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred
taxation in relation to the Group’s investment
properties has been measured based on the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amounts
entirely through use.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties are stated at
fair value based on the valuation performed by
an independent qualified professional valuer. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has applied
significant judgment and estimation in determining
the valuation methodology, adoption of significant
assumptions and use of various unobservable inputs
in the valuation models, including prices realized
on actual sales or asking prices or market rent of
comparable properties. Comparable properties are
analysed and carefully weighed against various factors,
such as location, building age and development scale
of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison
of market values. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of investment properties was approximately
HK$2,640,470,000 (2023: HK$3,076,168,000) as
disclosed in Note 18.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Valuation of trade receivables, loan receivables,
factoring receivables and other receivables and
deposits

The Group estimates the loss allowance for trade
receivables, loan receivables, factoring receivables
and other receivables and deposits using ECL model
in accordance with HKFRS 9. Under the model, the
Group assesses lifetime ECL individually for trade
debtors with significant balances or credit impaired
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate age groupings for the remaining debtors.
For loan receivables, factoring receivables and other
receivables and deposits, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The management takes
into consideration, inter alia, the historical default
rates, past due status, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the report date as well as the forward looking
information specific to the debtors.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Valuation of trade receivables, loan receivables,
factoring receivables and other receivables and
deposits (continued)

The Group has trade receivables of HK$701,000 net the
allowance for expected credit losses of HK$ 14,136,000
(2023: HK$4,654,000 net the allowance for
expected credit losses of HK$11,933,000), loan
receivables of HK$11,822,000 net the allowance
for expected credit losses of HK$73,062,000
(2023: HK$102,617,000 net the allowance for
expected credit losses of HK$37,024,000), factoring
receivables of HK$52,002,000 net the allowance
for expected credit losses of HK$46,063,000 (2023:
HK$174,931,000 net the allowance for expected
credit losses of HK$20,366,000) and other receivables
and deposits of HK$22,409,000 net the allowance
for expected credit losses of HK$12,916,000 (2023:
HK$20,382,000 net the allowance for expected
credit losses of HK$16,389,000) as at 31 March
2024. Details of impairment assessment of trade
receivables, loan receivables, factoring receivables
and other receivables and deposits are set out in
Note 48.

Annual Report 2024 R | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FEh & B PR A R AR 197

FREstHE R A TAHREZ
FEXRIF (&

1Gat FEEZ EEKIR (B)

BREZRE « BIKE ~ BIKEF
IREERRTE L R At EWARIE Re 1t 2
151E (4

ATEZNMFE=A=+—H > &x&H
ZEWE ZERIEA701,00058 7T (30 kR
TEHAE BB 15 14,136,00078 7T)
(ZZE =4 4,654,0008 7T 0%TE
HAS & B 485515 11,933,0005870)) ©
FEUN & 7024 11,822,000# 75 (0 78
HA= B 54854 73,062,00058 7T) (—
T~ =4 1102,617,00058 7T (N Fx78
HA= B 518 #51537,024,0007870)) ~
FE W i (R IBARTE4352,002,000 8 7T
(R TEIRE B E18#5 46,063,000
7T) (ZE - =4 174,931,000 7T
(INPRTEARE BB 1B 115 20,366,000
B UREMERKREBEREES
22,409,000 Tt (NBRTAHEAE E 18
BEf512,916,000587T) (T2 =
20,382,000 7t (R FEHEEEE
516,389,000 7)) - EWE ZER
IH -~ ERER - IR ZEFRERIEN
T EL4th P& W BR 18 e ¥ <& B R (B 6T (i 5
TBEBHIEEAS o

—



/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT 4. BARGHHERESTEREZ

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION FERIR (&

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty Bt FEEZ EEXKIF (4B)
(continued)

Provision for financial guarantee contracts EIEIR G ARG

The Group makes estimate on costs required to FEERTERRZEFRERREE
fulfil the relevant obligation of guarantee contracts B HETHRERSNEBEBEN
when the guaranteed amount is claimed by the RAEH A o ZEFTERRS B
counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation is WEIEREN > AREBULERZ
based on the available information as at reporting BERLR  MHEAXRZEXEE ~ BT
date and is determined by the Group’s practical FIRRGRYBRT  WBETESE
experience, the default history, the collateral held BIRMSEE » UITERZENZE
and financial position of relevant customers assessed EEBRIEL - BEAEBEBITRBM
on an individual basis in the industry and taking into ERITHNEBREBBLTARE » A6
consideration of industry information and market EFEREE  AEBRREHNOLEE
data. Where the actual obligation the Group requires REERIRBENFIEE43 ©

to fulfill is more than expected, a material provision
may arise. Amount of corporate guarantee provided
by the Group is disclosed in Note 43.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the
net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use
assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the assets belong, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are approximately HK$101,919,000 and
HK$18,044,000 respectively (2023: approximately
HK$118,061,000 and HK$24,245,000 respectively).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

5.

guarantee services

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Add:
Rental income under HKFRS 16

Interest income under HKFRS 9

Total revenue

Geographical markets:
PRC

Total

Timing of revenue recognition:

Over time

Total

REVENUE 5. 4
Continuing operations: FES
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (1)
with customers
Types of services: PRFSEEEY !
Revenue from property MEEIRIRFBUA
management services
Revenue from financial FRBHERARFFUA

HERGHNZBIRA

o
ERMEREEDFE 16
SEIE NRFESURA
EHRMEIRE 2D
SEIE T AR BUA

LI
i
FE

4t

LN RS I
— R

A

HEFERZRA D
2024 2023
—TmE —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TR
63,866 72,794
1,758 4,438
65,624 77,232
26,315 30,175
5,339 11,363
97,278 118,770
65,624 77,232
65,624 77,232
65,624 77,232
65,624 77,232
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

REVENUE (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the

revenue from contracts with customers

with the amounts disclosed in the segment

information for the years ended 31 March

2024 and 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Segment

Property investment

Financial guarantee
services and other
financing services

Revenue for
reportable segment
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il

MERE
REERRS R EM
RERT

Revenue
disclosed

in segment
information
DBERKE
ZWA
HK$'000
FET

90,181

7,097

97,278

WA (%)
AT ERS | (.

() HERSHZBADY (B)

UTEIBEE S _NELE T
TE_=—F=RA=+—HLHEE
HERESHZWAEDIBE R
FrigEEs B2 HiR o

BE_ZT_MFE=A=+—H

IEFE
Revenue
Adjustment from
Adjustment of contracts
of rental interest with
income income customers
i ON R  HEREHY
HE WA REE ZIA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE FET FEx
(26,315) - 63,866
- (5,339) 1,758
(26,315) (5,339) 65,624

-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

(i)

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA @)
Continuing operations: (continued) FFEREETRS  (1B)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) HEFSHZ WA DI (4B
with customers (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BHE_E_=—F=-H=+—H
IFEFE
Revenue
Revenue Adjustment from
disclosed Adjustment of contracts
in segment of rental interest with
information income income customers
DEBERHEE HEIA FE BEREN
ZWA B NG ZWA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FET FAT FATT
Segment DE
Property investment MERE 102,969 (30,175) = 72,794
Financial guarantee HERRRS R EM
services and other ERTS
financing services 15,801 - (11,363) 4,438
Revenue for AI2|/A YA
reportable segment 118,770 (30,175) (11,363) 77,232
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

REVENUE (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

(i)

Performance obligation for contracts with
customers and recognition policies

For property management services, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation
by providing services such as cleaning and
security on a daily basis. As the directors
of the Company considered the Group
has fulfilled its performance obligation
in a pattern which approximates to time
elapsed, revenue is therefore recognised
over time by output basis. For revenue
recognised over time under HKFRS 15,
provided the outcome of the performance
obligation can be reasonably measured,
the Group applies the output method
(i.e. based on the direct measurements
of the value to the customer of the
services transferred to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the
contract) to measure the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because the method provides
a faithful depiction of the Group’s
performance and reliable information
is available to the Group to apply the
method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of the costs incurred
until such time that it can reasonably
measure the outcome of the performance
obligation. The Group receives six months
to one year property management fee
in advance from certain tenants of the
investment properties at the start of the
property management contract. This gives
rise to the contract liability which will be
recognised as revenue throughout the
period of services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA #)
Continuing operations: (continued) JFIEICE TR (5B
(i) Performance obligation for contracts (i)  HEEFGHZEAEERER
with customers and recognition policies % (8
(continued)

For financial guarantee services and other
services, the Group provides the relevant
services throughout the period of time. As
the directors of the Company considered
the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs the services, revenue is therefore
recognised over time by output basis.
The Group normally receives one year
financial guarantee fee in advance from
certain customers at the start of the
financial guarantee contract. This gives
rise to the contract liability which will be
recognised as revenue throughout the
period of services.

For the other services, the group provide
the relevant services throughout the
period of time. The customers are usually
billed on monthly basis for the services fee
calculated based on pre-agreed amount.
The revenue is recognised on a gross basis
over time as the customer simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance.
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

REVENUE (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

(iif)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 and
2023 and the expected timing of recognising
revenue are as follows:

5.

Financial guarantee

services

HERRRE
2024 2023
ZEImE  C3I=E
HK$'000 HK§'000
Thn TEn
Within one year —FR 400 1,137

More than one year butnot ~ iBB—EBTER

more than two years W = -
More than two years BRmeE = =
400 1137

Except for the property management services
and financial guarantee services, all the other
contracts with customers are for periods of
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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FFREAEEERS - ()

(i) DEEAESEAIZE: TIEAY
EEZRXF1EE

TR _HNER_B=F=
B=+—H2EEHTENE
FECREMBB D REM) 2R
7 B K e sD W A Z T8 A B ]

mr
Property management
services Sales of properties
EERRH ES o1
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECWE  CFCcE ZECRE RO
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tin TEL Tin TEn

28,298 30,742 88,203 88,438

116 (A - S
108 258 = S
28,522 311 88,203 88,438

PR EEIERT KRB ERR
b BBERETUZ A HM
BREBP—FHUT - R
BRMBHREER B 155
o EEZERBITENZ
RZ BRI E T LUIRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focus on
the types of services provided by the Group.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” are as follows:

(i) Property investment — leasing of property and
provision of property management services;
and

(ii) Financial guarantee services and other financing
services — provision of corporate financial
guarantee services, related consultancy
services and other financing services.

The revenue streams and results from these segments
are the basis of the internal reports about components
of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
CODM in order to allocate resources to segments
and to assess their performance.

Money lending and factoring businesses are not
separately reviewed by the CODM and therefore
they are not separately presented.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment
asset and segment liability is presented as the CODM
does not regularly review such information for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and
segment results are presented.

DEPE N
AIEHERARRTESHRRME
B FABNTES MEBSERE
& ((XEEBRESE))) 2HH > BF
A EBRHRES 2B o

REEBVBREEREREED
B AEBEZEBRAIZ®RD U
B

(i) MERE-HEVMERREHRD
FEERS &

(i) MEERBRBREMBER
B-RECERBEFRRS
B RAsERRTS R MR E ARTS o

ZEDBZ AR R ERTAER
BBOABREER > THERE
BRAREEHER > AUHZDHD
BB RKMFHEEKRE o

BERBMEREBEBRETEZEER
REBBFER > AL - WERBEBREY -

TEEBRRERBRI D ZEER
BETRR - AR ETEBEERREL
BERERDEKRERTEENENRE
ROMEERDBEEZER » ]I
B2 DWEERDBEEDN -
It > E25DERARDBEIER o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-F=H=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. IEER(E)
(continued)
Continuing operations IS
Segment revenue and results DEIRA R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue KEEZSERAIZRD I 52U
and results in by operating and reportable segments: ARZEEDUWT :
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE-Z—_mE BE_ZT_=fF
ZRA=+—HLEE ZA=+—HIEE
Segment Segment loss Segment  Segment loss
revenue  for the year revenue  for the year
EE XEE
AEBA S ERESHE DEA DEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Continuing operations FHEISEE TR TER THET FHER
Property investment MERE 90,181 (232,469) 102,969 (81,706)
Financial guarantee services MEERRBER
and other financing services HtgE RS 7,097 (65,118) 15,801 (51,252)
Revenue and result for 2RNBRAREE
reportable segment 97,278 (297,587) 118,770 (132,958)
Total a5t 97,278 118,770

F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Continuing operations (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Continuing operations

Unallocated other income,
gains and losses

Unallocated allowance under
expected credit loss model,
net of reversal

Unallocated loss arising from
disposal of a subsidiary, net

Share of profit of an associate
(Note 19)

Loss on deemed disposal of
interest in an associate (Note
19)

Unallocated corporate expenses

Finance costs

Loss before tax from continuing
operations

RBIREEH

APEEMBA « Wmk
BE

ARERBEEHAERLR
T2t ORRER

ANEHE-—ERBARE
B S he

DMa—EBE AR (M
5£19)

REHER —EHEARE
w8 (ME9)

RPEEERS
BT

RERBEEXH IR
AIEA

6. EER(E

FHEEEER (B)
DECMA R FAE (E

Year ended

31 March 2024

HE-_Z-m&E
=A=t+—HLEE

Segment Segment loss

revenue  for the year

TEE
Pl
HK$'000

TET

AEBA
HK$000
TR

72,936

1,850

(27,046)
(173,499)

(423,346)
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Year ended
31 March 2023
HECT =R
ZR=+—HLEE

Segment  Segment loss
revenue  for the year
KEE
DEEE
HK$'000
TR

DEBA
HK$'000
TR

60,034

(1,553)
(41,725)
(185,949)

(396,321)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-F=H=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Continuing operations (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies as
described in Note 3. Segment loss represents the loss
from each segment without allocation of unallocated
other income, gains and losses, unallocated allowance
under expected credit loss model, net of reversal,
unallocated loss arising from disposal a subsidiary,
net, share of profit of an associate, loss on deemed
disposal of interest in an associate, unallocated
corporate expenses and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DIHWENGE
(continued)
Continuing operations (continued) FFEREETE ()
Other segment information Hith 7 BEE K

8 BhiEF SE R B fE A

jalllg

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit
or loss:

Year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z_ME-B=1+—HILEFE

Financial guarantee Reportable

services and other ~ Property  segment
financing services investment total Unallocated Total

RMERFRRER B

RftREMRSE  WERE A R et
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER TER TER TEr TFEn

Depreciation of property,  #1%¥ « BER&ERE

plant and equipment 2 8,940 8,942 378 9,320
Depreciation of right-of-  FREREERE
use assets 1,635 - 1,635 3,774 5,409

Allowance under expected ~ TBEREEREEAIET
credit loss model, net 2B MkREE

of reversal 65,530 783 66,313 (1,850) 64,463
Loss on disposal of HENE  BERZE

property, plant and B8

equipment - - - 2 2
Finance costs MHBHA - - - 173,499 173,499
Loss on fair value RENELATEE

change of investment B

properties - 266,137 266,137 - 266,137
Interest income GISYON = = = (760) (760)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-F=H=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEHENE)
(continued)
Continuing operations (continued) FFEREERE ()

Other segment information (continued)

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit

or loss (continued):

Aith7 BBE# (48)
StE Bt BB EERIE ()

Year ended 31 March 2023
HECZ_-F-B=1+—HIEE

Financial guarantee Reportable
services and other Property segment
financing services  investment total  Unallocated Total
RMBEREER BES
HMtEERYS  MERE o KR fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TET TEx
Depreciation of property,  ¥J%  BERREITE
plant and equipment 6 6,203 6,209 1,508 7,717
Depreciation of right-of ~ fEREBERE
use assets 1,281 = 1,281 6,001 1,282
Allowance under expected ~ FEHIEEEBENET
credit loss model, net 28 MR
of reversal 59,005 (163) 58,842 (22) 58,820
Loss on disposal of HENE  BERZE
property, plant and B8
equipment - - - 6 6
Finance costs MHBHA - - - 185,949 185,949
Loss on fair value RENELATEE
change of investment B
properties - 122,526 122,526 - 122,526
Interest income MEKBA - - - (3,888)  (3,888)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Continuing operations (continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong
and the PRC. All the Group's revenue from external
customers are based on locations of the customers.

The Group’s revenue from external customers from
the continuing operations and information about its
non-current assets by geographical location of the
assets are detailed below:

DEVER (4

FHEEEER (B)
I E
FEBKEEBUNETERTE o &

EERBINEIRERZFAKRAERS
FFrEtEa 5 -

AEBERBIINBER ZHEBEEET
WARZEEFMEMEI D ZIERBE
EEMFEOT -

Revenue from

Non-current

external customers

assets (Note)

REIIMBERZIA JERBEE (3t)
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EINE —EC-F TEBENFE =%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET FHT FET
Hong Kong &5 1,720 7,256 9,112 12,000
The PRC T 95,558 111,514 2,753,866 3,209,089
97,278 118,770 2,762,978 3,221,089

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments.

Information about major customers

Continuing operations

No customer contributed over 10% of the Group’s

revenue during the year ended 31 March 2024 and

2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-F=H=+—HILFE

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND 7. HkA -~ WmkEE
LOSSES
2024 2023
S 11 - 3 . S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFAET
Continuing operations: FrBREER .
Other income HgA
Interest income HMBUWA 760 3,888
Other gains and losses Bty & K B518
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEME S BEX
and equipment k1R (2) (6)
Net foreign exchange gain BE 2R I 52,991 43,409
Loss on fair value change of BAFEFABRZE
financial assets at FVTPL, net MEBEZ AT EES)
R38R - (7,274)
Adjustment on carrying amount of FES—SRERRIBEZR
amount due to a director (Note 36) EERE (fz36) 1,593 1,665
Adjustment on carrying amounts FESRAEARRBEZ R
due to related companies [ EGEES 16,358 15,985
Others Hh 1,236 2,367
72,176 56,146
72,936 60,034
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. A
2024 2023
—E-mE BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations: FHEREET .
Interest on bank and other IRITREMERZFIE
borrowings 120,326 118,553
Interest expenses on loan from staff BTERZHMERZ 396 840
Interest expenses on amount due to a [Ef—RERREZFE
director (53 2,656 2,434
Effective interest expense on 6.5% 6.5%ZEEHFZEBRN
coupon bonds BHX 9,529 11,803
Effective interest expense on 13.0% 13.0% BEEH 2 BEF
coupon bonds BXZ 21,380 30,778
Imputed interest expense from EREARREBE HE
amounts due to related companies MEMZ (Hfa36)
(Note 36) 15,523 17,868
Imputed interest expense from B —R%EFREZHE
amount due to a director (Note 36) MEMZ (Hfa36) 1,490 1,888
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaBZMERZ 2,199 1,785
173,499 185,949
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-F=H=+—HILFE

FINANCE COSTS (continued)

There was no finance cost capitalised arose on the
general borrowing pool during the year ended 31

March 2024 and 2023.

8. ISR (B

REE_S_NER_ZT=F=1
—t+—HLEFEE > UERKE—RERE

WA S Z BARER TR o

ALLOWANCE UNDER EXPECTED 9. TEHAEEREENIETZE
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF &> NpxELME
REVERSAL
2024 2023
—E-mE BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations FEREXET
Allowance for/(reversal of) expected NN BIBEZFEREEE
credit loss on: B/EE . (e
— Trade receivables — W E S ERIE 2,407 2,667
— Trade receivables from related —EWEIEA B E HIRIE
companies 1 -
— Loan receivables —EWE™R 38,337 33,997
— Factoring receivables —FENE E(RIE IS 27,097 19,216
— Other receivables — HAnFEURARIE (2,575) 3,112
- Financial liabilities —EMas
— Financial guarantee contracts —REEREL (804) (172)
64,463 58,820
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

10.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Continuing operations:

Current tax: BIEATRIE :
Hong Kong EE
PRC FRE

Deferred tax (Note 39)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the
Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law") and implementation regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
is 25% except that the concessionary tax rate of 15%
is applied to certain subsidiaries recognised as “Go-
west” region development programme corporate
which is entitled to apply the rate of 15%. The
entitlement of this tax benefit is subject to renewal
by respective tax bureau in the PRC every year.

EIEIRTE (Mf3E39)

FrigiRigse
2024 2023
ko113 S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAET
5,490 3,211
5,490 3,211
(43,710) (21,257)
(38,220) (18,046)

EEBAERPNNERMETT > &
EREEBENE 2008 BT %
8.25% R - BiB2008 BRI
#16.5% I o TR & RS M AR bl
NEBEENRMNFEEZ165%8
F—MEHR - Bt > 8 ERERE
BHE B EN MG ERREF
E2008 B T1%8.25% st B &iBi1E200
BATH A ERR A 1216.5% 5t
% °

REPEEXERFRE(TEEMER
A RIEEFRABRABMIRA » &%
EhEMNEAR ZIRER25% » EE
BERMFISRBERANERIAIEER
BIENEEREECXEEEZE15%
ZMRZETHWBABRI  IEiRE
BEZENARPEEBRTRESSF
EITHEH -
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10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 10.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax from continuing operations
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

Continuing operations:
Loss before tax

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits
Tax rate of 16.5%
Tax effect of expenses
not deductible for tax purposes
Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purposes
Tax effect of tax losses
not recognised
Effect of different tax rates of
subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions

Income tax expense for the year
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

FRriSiiik R (&
AEEZHERBERTHEESER K
HteEKRaRAREBFESEER
ZHRRATEGEIEZ BRI T -
2024 2023
Mg —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
R8s .
PRI ARS8 (423,346) (396,321)
BEBFERZE16.5%5T
BB (69,852) (65,393)
S HARERERIEINRZ
M 21,308 21,563
WATRERZ B E
(10,104) (5,961)
KRBT IR M
FE 45,146 49,084
REMAZEEELE
ZHBABZAERE
k=2 (24,718) (17,339)
KEEPEHRMAX (38,220) (18,046)

-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

Depreciation of property, plant and

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. TFEEHEE
2024
b 11 - 3
HK$'000
THT
Continuing operations: FHEREET .
Loss for the year has been arrived at REEFIBENRGR
after charging/(crediting): (5t A) TFIER :
Auditors’ remunerations A Gl
— Current year - REE 1,580
— Other service - HAAR 280

M ~ BB R BITE

equipment 9,320
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 5,409
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWZE - BERRE

and equipment Z K518 2
Staff costs (including directors’ BT AR

emoluments) (BIEESHE)

Salaries and other benefits Fri e E At F] 18,509
Retirement benefit scheme BRORERIET BN
contributions 3,483
21,992
Expenses relating to short-term lease BICHAE SRR 2B 109
Gross rental income from investment "EMEZETHRA
properties 4a%A (26,315)
Less: direct operating expenses B AEEESRAZ
incurred for investment REMEmMES
properties that generated 2 EEKERS
rental income 3,802
(22,513)
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2023
=
HK$'000
FHET

1,800
680

7,717
7,282

24,330

4,082

28,412

390

(30,175)

4,293

(25,882)



12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE_%

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
seven (2023: six) directors and chief executive were
as follows:

Directors’ emoluments

Year ended 31 March 2024

Executive directors HITEE

Li Weibin e

Siu Wai Yip HEE

Lau Chi Kit (resigned on 19 uE (RZ2=F
May 2023) LA+HhBEA)

Non-executive director FHITEE

Lam Wing Yiu (appointed on kg (RZ2Z=F
19 May 2023) EATABEZMA)

Independent non-executive BUFHITEE
directors

Lai Ka Fung, May B

Chan Sim Ling, Irene BiERe

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (BEEES

Total st
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12.

Directors’
fees

BElE
HKS$'000
TiEn

198
198
690

1,086

A 3 WA 5 % B

SPE=A =t —E IR
EFKETME

ENREMTTR(CEI=F %)
EERESTHRAESENMENT

EFWE
BEZ_NE-RA=—t+—HLFE

Retirement

Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
benefits contributions 2024
i R BIRER fazt
HithizH BENGE T NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT
2,142 18 2,160
1,670 18 1,688
40 - 40
- - 198
- - 198
- - 690
3,852 36 4,974

.



/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

12.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEKRETIME B
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Directors’ emoluments (continued) B (&)
Year ended 31 March 2023 HE_E_=HF-A=+—HILEE
Salaries Retirement
Directors’ and other benefit scheme Total
fees benefits  contributions 2023
Ak RIRER a5t
STk HiEH| SRR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FHET FHEx
Executive directors HITEE
Li Weibin FEWE - 2,316 18 2,334
Siu Wai Yip BmEX - 1,806 18 1,824
Lau Chi Kit (resigned on Be MT2-=F
19 May 2023) AA+AHET) - 400 - 400
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors
Lai Ka Fung, May K 198 - - 198
Chan Sim Ling, Irene PRiER 198 = = 198
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (EEEES 720 - - 720
Total 4mst 1,116 4,522 36 5,674

During year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
director of the Company agreed to waive or waived

any emoluments.

+—HLEFE *EE##ZIS/&E%%IE%

BRI AFHE o
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12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-F=H=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.

The non-executive director's emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of
the Company.

Mr. Li is also the chief executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosure above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

During both years, no emoluments were paid or
payable by the Group to the directors of the
Company as compensation for loss of office or
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments in both years.
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12.

EERETIME (&

EXFRTATEEZHMMEREER
TABRFEBEFHRHEZRB M
fi o

EXFIRIFRITES Z A M EEE
RABZERRMBZRFBMZAT o

EXFITREILIFRITESR ZHM R
FHRERRBDEFREZRBMA -

FRETR/ERADZEBITHASR >
RELHRKRBZNEOEEESRS
ITHABFRHRB 2% -

IEMER » AEBTRARATES
HKEBALME L EFHAEE - 5
0K 5148 <5 0 A 2 &2 [ S 0 A 7 &2 [
MATEE o ILMER > WEERWN
RBTHRABRENRERERT DM
T2 ZHE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREIMNE
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Employees’ emoluments BTi%
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments rEELBREMEZATHZMA
in the Group, two (2023: two) were directors of the (ZEZ=ZF  MB)ALXRABZE
Company whose emoluments were disclosed above. EHWEER EXEE ~8#EZZ
The emoluments of the remaining three (2023: three) THEFE=RA=1+—HIEFE HFF=
highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 March L(CE2=F Z) B AL
2024 are as follows: 2T
2024 2023
k1112 3 BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Salaries and other benefits Hri B EL e 2,921 5,582
Retirement benefit scheme BRREFIET B R
contributions 54 42
2,975 5,624
The number of the highest paid employees who are MEN T T HEBE T LIESATES
not the directors of the Company whose remuneration T ESHESASOT

fall within the following band is as follows:

2024 2023

“TmE —TT=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TAT

Nil to HK$1,500,000 21,500,000 7T 3 2

HK$1,500,001 to HK$4,500,000  1,500,001#&7C%4,500,000787T -
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13.

14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-F=H=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES'’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Employees’ emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the five employees with the highest emoluments as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 March 2024, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023:
nil).

LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss

per share from continuing and discontinued
operations attributable to the owners of the

12.

13.

14.

EEKRETME (&

BTz (&)
RB8E_TNMERZZEI=4F=
=+—BLEFE AEETEEEM
haRaEHMEEZNNE » AR
SIEEMAREBRNMATEERFZ
15 ol BB AR E o

445
BE_E_WNE=A=+—HILEE
Wi RSB RIRKTRE - BRE
HARMURAEERRMTEARE (TS
=) e

BRESE

(a) FEEERBRILEEER
KABHER ANBEREFER
ERORIEEEXEZ ZSRE
KRB EERTIRE T 8UR

Company is based on the following data: 8
Loss 518
2024 2023
b - 3 - ——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to RUTESREARKE#
owners of the Company for the BEEC AABER
purposes of basic and diluted NEEAREERE
loss per share (381,784) (378,642)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(a) Continuing and discontinued operations

SAREE ()
(a) FHEEEREHILAEERS

(continued) ()
Number of shares BPEE
2024 2023
“ETE TECZHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Weighted average number of RUTESRERKE
ordinary shares for the purposes ERM 2 EERIE
of basic and diluted earnings per FEE
share 1,169,288 1,169,288
(b)  Continuing operations (b)) FEEEER

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per
share from continuing operations attributable

TABHER ABEREFER
EEXEBZERELARBEGR

to the owners of the Company is based on THiRIE T A BRS¢
the following data:
Loss fE518
2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
THT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to BLGESREARRE
owners of the Company for the EEEY AATHER
purposes of basic and diluted ANELARFEEE
loss per share (381,784) (376,622)

224  CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FE v & 3 B P B A BR 22 5] | Annual Report 2024 4§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(c)

Discontinued operations

14. SkESE (48)
(c) BARILARE 27

The calculation of the basic and diluted KABHEBAEBGLEBERIL
loss per share from discontinued operation REEB  SREAREEH
attributable to the owners of the Company BIHIRE T BIRETE ¢
is based on the following data:
Loss Jgi=|
2024 2023
S 11 - 3 —BI=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Loss for the year attributable to RUTESREARKE
owners of the Company for the BBz RNAEHE
purposes of basic and diluted ANELAFERIB
loss per share - (2,020)

The denominators used are the same as those
detailed above for both basic and diluted loss
per share from continuing and discontinued
operations.

The weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic loss per share
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023
is determined by reference to the number of
shares in issue during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and
2023, the computation of diluted loss per
share does not assume the exercise of the
Company's share options as the exercise price
of these options was higher than the average
market price of shares for both years.
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T=FZR=1+—HLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

15.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 14 November 2022, Trillion Up Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and owned 51%
of Alpha Yield Limited which owned 100% of MCM
Holdings Limited (“Trillion Up”), BFB International
Limited (“Investor A”) and Lutea (Hong Kong) Limited
("Investor B”) entered into the sales and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which Trillion Up agreed to
sell and each of Investor A and Investor B agreed to
purchase, 29% and 22% of the entire issued share
capital of Alpha Yield Limited respectively for a total
cash consideration of USD1,530,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$11,953,000) due to deterioration
of operating results and financial performance of
financial advisory services business during the year.
Upon completion on 14 November 2022, Alpha
Yield Limited and the MCM Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries were ceased to be the subsidiaries of
the Company.

The loss for the period/year from the discontinued
operations of financial advisory services segment
is set out below. The comparative figures in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and related notes have
been represented as discontinued operation. And
the details of the assets and liabilities disposed of,
deregistered and transferred, and the calculation of
the profit or loss on deconsolidation, disposal and
deregistration, are disclosed in Note 42.

15.

BARIEEEER
RZZEZZH+—B+WMHBE > £&
BERAB (AR 2EWEBARER
BEESREBBRABENSI%ERD > M
BREABEMRR BB MCM Holdings
Limited#9100% # ) (T Ef&1) ~ BFB
International Limited (TR E&HAI) &
Lutea (Hong Kong) Limited (M&&E&
B ]I BEEHE  BIL > HRER
MHEERRFEBNCEEBE AT
RREEE ) TEREHERKLEEA
REEEBEEDHRERBERREREBR
REIEHWEEITRAN29%K22% >
43 E5 1,530,000 7T (HHER
#911,953,000587T) - RZE - " F+
—A+HHERERE > BSRERATEK
MCM Holdings Limited & EfE AT
THEABEAABIZMEBAT ©

MBBEBERB D Z KRB BRILEE
EB2H/ FNEEHENTX &K
Gifm EAth 2 E W m & K AR R R EE
FZLEBHFERIBERLEEE
BeoAF BEHE  ZHREEZ
BEREBRZHIE » URRILERES
iR~ HEREHZBmZ5tERE
PEMIEE429KEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 15. BRI ESEFE (BE)
(continued)
From
1 April 2022
to

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income, gains and losses

Selling and distribution costs

Allowance under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal

Impairment loss on goodwill

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expenses

Loss for the period/year
Gain arising from disposal of
subsidiaries

Loss for the period/year from
discontinued operations
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WA
SHE A

E7

HAMWA ~ Wk EE
HE R THA A
BHEEEBRENETZ
B o HFREMRE
FERERIE

TR

FATS A

PRI AR
FRiSMf

B,/ FREE
HERBAREEZ W

REERIEEEES
B/ FRBAE

14 November
2022
—E-C
mAE—HZ=E
g
+—A+mA
HK$’000

FET

6,672
(317)

6,355
(325)
(49)

(16,398)
(166)

(10,583)

(10,583)

3,377

(7,206)

2022
T F
HK$'000
TAT

37,170
(13,483)

23,687
(29)
(180)

(349)
(7,015)
(30,478)
(185)

(14,549)

(14,549)

(14,549)

.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 15. BRIEREEE (&
(continued)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations REBRIEREXBE AFEEHIBE
include the following: BETEE:
From
1 April 2022
to

14 November

2022
2 .St
mA—HZE
—EICHF 2022
+—B+mH k=S
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Staff costs BT RA 11,332 19,508
Depreciation of property, plant and M2~ BB R HITE
equipment 186 271
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESENE 1,378 2,663
Expense relating to short term lease SRR HATE EMERA 2 B 241 866
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 15. BRIEREXEE (B)
(continued)
Net cash flows from discontinued operations are as REEBRIEREXBE 2 RERE 25
follows: wr
From
1 April 2022
to

14 November

2022
22 oo
mA—HZ=E
—EICHF 2022
+—B+mH k=S
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET TFAET
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from REEBPRTZIRE
operating activities WA CRd) 2 956 (2,996)
Net cash outflows from investing NEERMMEZIREME
activities HER = (443)
Net cash outflows from financing BMBEEHRFAEZIRERE
activities R (2,998) (2,060)
Net cash outflows from discontinued — BRI EHFFF IR
operation SRR (2,042) (5,499)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 16. MFE - BEKSE
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
[and and Leasehold ~ Computer  and office Motor ~ Construction
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HELr | RRGE 0 GHORER ‘
KT R EERE  WAZRG 98 REIR a5t

BRSO MO HKSDD MO0 HKSO0  HKSOW SO
TR TR TAn T TR TAn TAm

COST S

At 1 April 2022 RZB_"EME-R 93,661 5,614 4,858 18,174 5,997 13,095 141,399
Additions TE , - 20,207 560 3 - 3,022 23820
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRE (H4)

(Note 42) y - (666) (336) (658) - - (1,660)
Reclassification ENNE (14332) 1433 = 5 s < 5
Disposals e - (3,480) (145) (31) = = (4,056)
Exchange realignment Effx (4,922) (364) (351) (976) (198) (934) (7.745)
At 31 March 2023 RCEZ=F=A=1-H 74,407 35,643 4,586 16,140 5,799 15,183 151,758
Additions e - - 29 175 718 301 1,283
Disposals e - - (1) B) - - @
Exchange realignment ERsEy (5,949) (1,994) (280) (240) (148) 852) (9.463)
At 31 March 2024 K-E-mE-RA=1+-A 68,458 33,649 4,334 16,072 6,429 14,632 143574
DEPRECIATION &

At 1 April 2022 RZE_—#MA-A 9,065 5,078 2,639 10,204 5,590 - 32576
Charge for the year rEERE 1876 3419 1315 1,19 9% = 7,903
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAR (WHa)

(Note 42) - (508) (220) (347) - - (1,075)
Eliminated on disposals HERHE - (3,480) (141) (305) - - (3926)
Exchange realignment EREH (7191) 23) (200) (422) (145) 5 (1,781)
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=%=A=+-A 10,150 4,286 3393 10,325 5,543 - 33,697
Charge for the year TEERE 5,042 3,190 434 49 162 = 9,320
Eliminated on disposals HERHH . ; (1) (1 - - @
Exchange realignment EfsE (646) (286) (204) (161) 63) = (1,360)
At 31 March 2024 RIE-ME=A=+-A 14,546 7,190 3,622 10,655 5,642 - 41,655
CARRYING VALUES e
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mEZA=+-A 53912 26,459 2 547 181 14,632 101,919
At 31 March 2023 BZ%Z=%=F=1-A 64,257 31357 1,193 5315 256 15,183 118,061

230 CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FE v & 13 B P B 4 BR A 5] | Annual Report 2024 4§



16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold land Over the shorter of the

and buildings terms of the lease, or
30 years

Leasehold 10% for owned assets
improvements or over the lease terms
for the leased assets

Computer equipment 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10%

office equipment
Motor vehicles 20%

At 31 March 2024, leasehold land and buildings of
the Group with carrying value of HK$20,066,000
(2023: HK$23,700,000) were pledged with a bank
to secure a loan granted to the Group.
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30FEZHREEE

REYEEE HEEEA10%
RHEEE

ZHEFH

B E 20%
R~ EBR 10%

WNERE
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£ 123,700,000 70) 2 FAE T K18
FEBETIRT > (FARTAEEE
RZIER o

—



/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Office
premises
and Staff Motor Office
o Quarters vehicles equipment Total
EFERSIRS A AR i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TER
CosT WA
At 1 April 2022 R_E__EMBA-A 23,903 718 = 24,621
Additions i 27,280 = = 27,280
Termination &t , (17,001) = = (17,001)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 42) WERBAT (HH42) (6,901) (250) - (7,151)
Exchange realignment EREE 62 - - 62
At31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZBZZE=ZB=1+-Hk
—2-=FMA-H 27,343 468 = 27,811
Exchange realignment ERHE (934) = = (934)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=+-H 26,409 468 - 26,877
DEPRECIATION ]
At 1 April 2022 e 2R 16,099 148 = 16,247
Charge for the year rEERE 8,530 130 = 8,660
Termination &k ‘ (17,001) = = (17,001)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 42) WERBAT (HiH42) @217 (130) - (4,347)
Exchange realignment EREE 7 - - 7
At31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZBEZZEZB=1+-Hk
“EB-CHEMA- 3,418 148 = 3,566
Charge for the year rEERE 5,315 94 = 5,409
Exchange realignment ERHE (142) - - (142)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=R=1+-H 8,591 pLy) - 8,833
CARRYING VALUES e
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_ME=R=+-H 17,818 226 - 18,044
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=%=RA=+-H 23,925 320 - 24,245
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. KEWYE
2024
—ET-mE
HK$’000
FET
Completed properties held for FIEHA BN Z BT
rental purpose:
At 1 April RmE—H 2,833,163
Net changes in fair value RIEmER 2 AT EEEFEER
recognised in profit or loss (253,946)
Exchange realignment PE R HEE (156,082)
At 31 March (Notes (a) and (b)) WR=B=+—8H
(Hizt(a) (b)) 2,423,135
Leasehold land with mAREEARKBRZBE M
undetermined future use:
At 1 April RHA—H 62,463
Net changes in fair value RIEmER 2 A EEEFER
recognised in profit or loss (3,701)
Exchange realignment EREEE (3,459)
At 31 March (Notes (a) and (b)) H=B=+—H
(Wit (a) % (b)) 55,303
Sub-total /et 2,478,438
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2023
===
HK$'000
FHET

3,176,123

(113,311)
(229,649)

2,833,163

69,661

(2,162)
(5,036)

62,463

2,895,626

.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. KEYE (&
(continued)
2024 2023
—E-E -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Investment properties under TEREYE
construction:
At 1 April REBE—H 180,542 202,216
Net changes in fair value R8N 2 A EES)FEE
recognised in profit or loss (8,490) (7,053)
Exchange realignment FER AR (10,020) (14,621)
At 31 March R=B=+—H
(Notes (a) and (b)) (st (@)% (b)) 162,032 180,542
Total “ast 2,640,470 3,076,168
Unrealised loss on properties FFARFEEGRZ
revaluation included in profit Y ELAREIREE
or loss for the year (266,137) (122,526)
Notes: &t -
(a) The Group owns the shopping mall building situated (a) REBRHEBUNRTERAETALT

at the east side of Banyin Road, Bagiao District,
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (namely,
Daminggong Construction Materials and Furniture

Shopping Centre (Dongsanhuan Branch)) (“Xi an

Commercial Complex”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the fair values of the Xi'an
Commercial Complex as determined by Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited (“Vincorn”) (2023:
Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“Vigers"))
are RMB1,770,000,000 (2023: RMB1,982,400,000)
(equivalent  to HK$1,908,150,000 (2023:
HK$2,263,789,000)).

The Group owns investment properties (“Chinlink
e Worldport investment properties”) situated at
the logistics park located at Hantai district, Hanzhong
City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Chinlink e
Worldport”) and the another project for the
development of logistics park, which included in
the investment properties under construction of the
Chinlink e Worldport (“Phase 2 of the Chinlink
e Worldport”) and the remaining undeveloped
leasehold land portion of the Chinlink  Worldport
("Hanzhong Land").

As at 31 March 2024, the fair values of the Chinlink
e Worldport investment properties, Phase 2 of the
Chinlink e Worldport and Hanzhong Land as determined
by Vincorn are RMB477,700,000, RMB150,300,000
and RMB51,300,000 (equivalent to HK$514,985,000,
HK$162,032,000 and HK$55,303,000) respectively
(31 March 2023: RMB498,600,000, RMB158,100,000
and RMB54,700,000 (equivalent to HK$569,374,000,
HK$180,542,000 and HK$62,463,000) respectively).
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18. KREWE(E

Mzt (48)

(a)

#&)

AZEZWNFE=A=+—H > Ak
AR EAERAR (TS
(ZEZ=F . IRHEETEE
BMERAR(THEH)) BEEZ
ALZEEAREZATEABARE
1,770,000,000 5 (— & — =
AR 1,982,400,00070) (ABEH
1,908,150,000 8t (Z T = :
2,263,789,00037T)) ©

REEBER MR PRI L ERTH
ERE2Y AR (T EEREHR
BN ZREME(EERSHRA
BREME ) URMURYREZS
—EREIER > stALEDRS
RABZEELENE ((EEFS 1t
RABETH)) RBERRMHAEY
BT REERE LIS (TEht
M) o

RZE_mE=Z"=+—8>
ShmEBEEZEEREHREB
REYE - TEF SHERE
B RERLIHM I AFTE
DB A AR % 477,700,000
7T~ AR % 150,300,000 T &
A B 51,300,000 70 ( 48 & #
514,985,000 # 7T ~ 162,032,000
# 7T & 55,303,000 7t ) (=
E-=Zf£=ZB=+—8: 935
& N R 1 498,600,000 7T~ A
f # 158,100,000 7t &2 A R ¥
54,700,0007t (HHE7569,374,000
# 75 :180,542,000 B 7T &
62,463,0007T)) °

-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

The Group’s investment properties are categorised
into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There were
no transfer into or out of level 3 fair value hierarchy
during the year. At the end of each reporting period,
the directors of the Company work closely with the
independent qualified professional valuer to establish
and determine the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to be used in determining the fair value
of the investment properties. Discussion of valuation
processes and results are held amongst directors of
the Company at least twice a year. The fair values
of all investment properties at 31 March 2024 were
determined by Vincorn (31 March 2023: Vigers).

For Xi'an Commercial Complex and Chinlink
International Centre, the valuation has been arrived
at using the income capitalisation approach. This
valuation method estimates the value of a property
on a market basis by capitalising rental income on a
fully leased basis.

For Chinlink e Worldport, Hanzhong Land and Phase
2 of the Xi‘an Commercial Complex, the valuation
has been arrived at using the market approach by
making reference to comparable sale transactions as
available in the relevant markets.

18.

REME (&

AEBZREMENESRTERER
ZHEZE - FR AFEERZE=
BIESANEE - RERSHR
AABDEFEBUSBEREX(GEM
BUGE > U EREERREER
BEMERATEZBEGRER ZRBA
B xRBEESFEILHEERR
RAEERTRMR o MEREDERZ
E_ME=ZA=+—RHZAFEH
MR (CE_=F=B=+—0 ' ®Hi%
HERE

TR L B FEAE RS EDEEEP O
ms > EEDERRABERLLES
e ZEEHEZEBREAHEREE
BERMCESWAMBHIZEEGSY
X2BfE-

BB RE  BEh i KkimR
BEXEBE_HAMS @ HEDH2EME
SR SR ELLREERZEA™T
BRER ©
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

For Phase 2 of the Chinlink e Worldport which is
under construction, the valuation has been arrived
at using the residual approach by making reference
to recent sales transactions of completed properties
as publicly available to determine the adjusted
unit rate of the completed investment properties,
less estimated costs to completion and expected
developer’s profit margin so as to determine the
value of the proposed development as if these were
completed as at the date of valuation.

Vigers is an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected with the Group and has appropriate
qualification and recent experience in the valuation
of similar projects in relevant locations.

In estimating the fair value of the investment
properties, the highest and best use of the properties
is their current use.

At 31 March 2024, investment properties of the
Group with fair values of HK$2,640,470,000 (2023:
HK$3,076,168,000) were pledged with certain banks
to secure the loan facilities granted to the Group.

Set out below is the significant unobservable inputs
used for fair value measurements:

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs
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18.

REME (&

ERPZEERSHMRBE M

o RENKBEERAMEZE
AR BHER S RARIRELE
B UETEAREMEZERE
BUEX BTl REHR
HHIMEER EMEBEERRREZ
BEMUZEFVEENEEBRNT
FZ) °

BT AR ERTBEFAEZBYS
BERBEMGLEN  UTHEFSBEERK
HURARMEZEBLUEEETHE
ZITHARRER o

RIEFREMEZRTER » PEZ
EekaERRSERRZHAR -

RIE_WE=B=+—H » x&HE
NF{EA2,640,470,0008 T (-
=4 :3,076,168,000875) 2 & EY)
XERTFETRIT > FARNEEER
ZERRMEZHER o

UTHREAMANRAFEFEZERT
PJERRmBAE !

ERERAEATIRRBABETA
FEFFEZER

-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. KREWME (B
(continued)
Relationship of unobservable
Fair value as at 31 March 2024 Valuation techniques ~ Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RZE_MEZR=+-HZATHE 103 IEFUREHAE migTHE FAEREABRATHEZ B
HKS
#n
(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose
S (i ART kY E
(i) Xi'an Commercial Complex
ERHEAE
RMB1,770,000,000 Income capitalisation ~ Monthly market rent, taking into ~ Retail portion: RMB2.21 The higher the rent,
(HK$1,908,150,000) approach account the differences in (equivalent to HK$2.38)/sqm/day the higher the fair value
ARE,770,000,00078 WABALE location and individual factors  Office portion: RMBO.94 (equivalent ~ £#E » ATEHS
(1,908,150,000%7 ) such as frontage and size to HK$1.01)/sqm/day
between the comparables and ~ Carpark portion: RMBA80
the property (equivalent to HK$516.9)

SAMHEE  CHRTENHE
REZNEZIERERRR
(MEARRRE) 2£8

per month per lot
SEHN  ARKLUT
(iEER238%) /THR/B
HAZHD  \RH0.U7
(g 01EL) /TAR/B
BB | \ERB0T
(lBER5169%7) /B/E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. KREWME (B
(continued)
Relationship of unobservable
Fair value as at 31 March 2024 Valuation techniques ~ Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RIE-MEZR=+-HZATHE fEERHE IERTHBEAE iETHE AERBABEATEZHBR
HKS
E
(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose (continued)
REHBENZ ERANE (8)
(i) Chinlink » Worldport investment properties
EERe RALENE
RMB477,700,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross Retail portion: RMB8,703 The higher the rent,
(HK$514,985,000) L floor area which derived from (equivalent to HK$9,382)isqm the higher the fair value
AR477,700,0007 the construction area, using Accommodation/office portion: feHE ATENS

(514,985,007 )
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direct market comparables
and taking into account of
adjustments on location,
footfall and development
scale factor
ROREER/LEARRLET
FRER UREERTR
EHRBERATTRAAE
BRERRERZ B

RMB4,936 (equivalent to
HK$5,321)/sqm
Warehouse portion: RMB278
(equivalent to HK$300)/sqm
TEND | ARBST03 7
(18E149,382%7) /FAK
i/ WAZHA | ARB49367
(1815 321%7) /AR
BEND: \RE28T
(IEER300%7T) / TRk

F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES KREME (&)
(continued)
Relationship of unobservable
Fair value as at 31 March 2024 Valuation techniques ~ Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RIE-MEZR=+-HZATHE fEERHE IERTHBEAE iETHE AERBABEATEZHBR
HKS
E
() Leasehold land with undetermined future use
HAEEAREL AL
(i Hanzhong Land
Ehit
RMB51,300,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross Commercial land: RMB265 The higher the rent,
(HK$55,303,000) L floor area which derived (equivalent to HK$286)/sqm the higher the fair value
ARH51,300,0007 from the area of land and Residential land: RMB205 feHE ATENS
(55,303,000%7 ) respective plot ratio, using (equivalent to HK$221)/sqm
direct market comparables BELH  ARB265T
and taking into account of (BEH2868T) /FAk

adjustments on location,
[and use right terms and
development scale factor
REIHER EEAR/ET
FAERRERARE 1R
REETATELREERL
HRAMIE « THERRES
RERREREZEE

0 ARB2057T
(RERER) /TAX
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

Fair value as at 31 March 2024

R-E_ME=RA=+-AZATE fiafenit
HKS
En

18.

Valuation techniques ~ Key unobservable inputs

IETTREEAE

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

KREMEB)
Relationship of unobservable
Weighted average price inputs to fair value
iETHE AERBABEATEZHBR

(3)  Investment properties under construction

ERRENE

(i Phase 2 of the Chinlink » Worldport
LRt REE_H

RMB150,300,000 Residual approach
(HK$162,032,000) HEEiE
150,300,007
(162,032,000570)
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Market price, taking into
account the differences
in location, and individual
factors, such as frontage
and building age, between
the comparables and the
property
g ERAELEEE
EZnE 2 IERENRE
(Bt R RigR)
ZER

Expected developer profit

BREEE

Construction cost to
complete

fEhes

Discount rate

S

Rate of finance cost

BRI

Retail portion: RMB4,990

(equivalents to HK$5,379)

TEND | \RB49907

(lEEHs 379%7)

20% The higher the expected
developer profit, the lower
the fair value

BEREEaIEE
ATEHE

RIMB28,418,000 The higher the expected

AE28,418,0007 developer profit, the lower
the fair value

BHREEAIER
NTEHE

9.5% The higher the discount rate,

the lower the fair value
MRS RTEEE
9.5% The higher the rate of finance

cost, the lower the fair value

HEmANREE ) ATESE

F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation
31 March 2023 techniques
RZBZZE=B=+-HZATE fhER%
HKS
A

18.

Key unobservable inputs

IEFTRFEAE

REME (BE)

Weighted average price

MmEwaE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

FURFEAERATEZ B

(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose

RFERNZ ExAmE

(i) Xi'an Commercial Complex

G

RMB1,982,400,000 Income capitalisation

(HK$2,263,789,000) approach
ART1,982,400,0007 WABALHE
(2,263,789,000%7 )

Monthly market rent, taking into
account the differences in
location and individual factors
such as frontage and size
between the comparables and
the property

§AMHES  HHRIEILER
BRZNE MERERRZ

(M RRRE) 228

Retail portion: RMB2.38
(equivalent to HK$2.71)/sqm/day
Office portion: RMB0.97
(equivalent to HK$1.10)/sqm/day
Carpark portion: RMB550
equivalent to HK$626)
per month per lot
SEHD  ARK2387
(g2 1ER) /ThR/B
HAZHD  \RKITT
(fE1.1080) /Th%/B
BEIED  \RESS0T
(lBgreET) /A/B
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The higher the rent, the higher
the fair value

s ATELS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(continued)

Fair value as at Valuation
31 March 2023 techniques
RZBZZE=B=+-AZATE fEERHE
HKS

#R

18.

Key unobservable inputs

IETTREEAE

REME (BE)

Weighted average price
mETsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

FIRBBAEAATEZBR

(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose (continued)

RFtBRNZ ERNE (@)

(i) Chinlink » Worldport investment properties

LEGSHRERENE
RMB498,600,000 Market approach
(HK$569,374,000) i
498,600,007
(569,374,000%7)
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Price per square metre of gross
floor area which derived from
the construction area, using
direct market comparables
and taking into account of
adjustments on location,
footfall and development
scale factor

FERAER/ABATRZET
FRER UREERTR
EURBE R RAAE
BRERRERZ B

Retail portion: RMB9,090
(equivalent to HK$§10,341)/sqm
Accommodation/office portion:
RMBS, 144 (equivalent to
HK$5,852)/5qm
Warehouse portion: RMB293
(equivalent to HK$333)/5qm
TEND | ARBI.090%
(HRER0,30187) /Fh%
fHE/HAZES | RS, 1447
(IEERs 828) /THR
BEHD  NRB2937
(1EER333%T) / TRk

The higher the rent, the higher
the fair value

ftls ATEES

F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18.
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation
31 March 2023 techniques Key unobservable inputs
RIEZ=EZR=+-HZATH fEERHE IERTHBEAE
HKS
E

REME (BE)

Weighted average price
mETsE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

FIRBBAEAATEZBR

(2)  Leasehold land with undetermined future use

HAEEARASR HELS
(i Hanzhong Land
Ehit
RMB54,700,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross
(HK$62,463,000) L floor area which derived
AR 54,700,000 from the area of land and
(62,463,000%7 ) respective plot ratio, using

direct market comparables
and taking into account of
adjustments on location,
[and use right terms and
development scale factor
REIHER EEAR/ET
FAERRERARE 1R
REETATELREERL
HRAMIE « THERRES
RERREREZEE

Commercial land: RMB281
(equivalent to HK$320)/sqm
Residential land: RMB219
(equivalent to HK$249)/sqm
BRI ARERBIT
(IEER320%7) / TRk
gt \RE2197
(iEER19%T) / TRk
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The higher the rent, the higher
the fair value
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

Fair value as at Valuation
31 March 2023 techniques
RIEZ=EZR=+-HZATH fEERHE
HKS

#R

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

18.

Key unobservable inputs

IETTREEAE

KREMEB)
Relationship of unobservable
Weighted average price inputs to fair value
iETHE AERBABEATEZHBR

(3)  Investment properties under construction

ERRENE

(i Phase 2 of the Chinlink » Worldport
LRt REE_H

RMB158,100,000 Residual approach
(HK$180,542,000) HEEiE
158,100,007
(180,542,000570)
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Market price, taking into
account the differences
in location, and individual
factors, such as frontage
and building age, between
the comparables and the
property
g ERAELEEE
EZnE 2 IERENRE
(Bt R RigR)
ZER

Expected developer profit

BREEE

Construction cost to
complete

fEhes

Discount rate

S

Rate of finance cost

BRI

Retail portion: RMB5,382

(equivalents to HK$6,123)

TEND  ARBS38T

(18 16,1237%7)

20% The higher the expected
developer profit, the lower
the fair value

BEREEaIEE
ATEHE

RIMB28,418,000 The higher the expected

AE28,418,0007 developer profit, the lower
the fair value

BHREEAIER
NTEHE

9.5% The higher the discount rate,

the lower the fair value
MRS RTEEE
9.5% The higher the rate of finance

cost, the lower the fair value

HEmANREE ) ATESE

F



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. M—REEEQATZ#ExE
2023
2=
HK$'000
THET
At 1 April »mA—H 91,658
Share of post-acquisition profit DU EER R 1,161
Dividend received BUFHI 2 S
Deemed disposal of investment in an FRIEHER —EMEAB 2 "E
associate (90,324)
Share of exchange differences of DR —EEEATIRE Y
investment in an associate PEREER (2,495)
At 31 March K=A=+—H =
Particulars of the Group’s associate as at 31 March FEEBMEATN _E_=ZF£=R=+—H
2023 was as follows: ZEBWT
Place of Percent
Particulars of registration of owner Principal
Name issued shares and business interest activity
A A
1B BRITRNFE SHR RS E R, Bt EEXEH
Chinlink Finance Lease RMB513,105,000 PRC 13.6% Finance
Company Limited lease
ZEPTHMEEERRAE ARME513,105,0007T alEd 13.6% MBEE
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE_%

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the registered
capital of Chinlink Finance Lease Company Limited
(the “Chinlink Finance Lease"”) was enlarged from
approximately RMB320,000,000 to RMB588,305,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$379,957,000 to
HK$698,534,000), and the Group's effective equity
interest in Chinlink Finance Lease was diluted
from 25.0% to 13.6% as a result of new capital
of approximately RMB268,305,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$318,576,000) being injected by a
independent third party (the “Deemed Disposal”).
Before the Deemed Disposal, the Group owned 25.0%
interest in Chinlink Finance Lease and the investment
was previously accounted for as an investment in an
associate using the equity method of accounting.
Upon the completion of the Deemed Disposal, the
Chinlink Finance Lease ceased to be classified as an
associate and was reclassified as equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
This transaction has resulted in the Group recognising
a loss of approximately HK$1,553,000 in profit or
loss, being the difference between the fair value
of 13.6% investment retained and the carrying
amount of 25.0% retained equity interest in Chinlink
Finance Lease as at the date of the completion of
the Deemed Disposal, after sharing of approximately
HK$1,161,000 profit from an associate for the period
from 1 April 2022 to 11 May 2022. Subsequent
measurement on the Group's interest in Chinlink
Finance Lease Company Limited as equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income is
set out in the Group’s accounting policies.
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19.

A 3 WA 5 % B

“HE=A=t—HILFEE

R—REE AT 2 (8)
BE_E_ZF=ZB=+—HILE
ErZTEFPEMERAERFTRLQA
(TEEPEMEEE)NEMESR
B4 AR %320,000,000 5T MNE
A R 1 588,305,000 75 (10 & 1* &9
379,957,000 7 T & 698,534,000 8
75) BREEREELSRERE
ZEBRRER—RBIR=AEAN
B AR AR 268,305,000 T (H%E
7 #9318,576,0003 7T ) F125.0% #
BEZ13.6% (MREHESEE)) - ¥
RIELESEZA > ~EBEEEE
HERMERE25.0%#5E > MERE
SRI U R A ARSI AR — 5
EATNKE «- RRIEHEEETK
B EBEPEHMEAEFIABEHRIES
—HEBENE > BENDEAEATF
B AEMEZEWRR R E © %
RBERAEER B PREREIELNY
1,553,00078 7% » LA 222 Z4M
ﬁ EE_V__$£5+ SEENE
M —REE A B EF]491,161,000%
m@’mﬁ¢$%$ﬁmm5mmg
ErSHEREZ13.6%REREZ
NFEHA50%FREREEMEZE
o AEBNREEICHEHESRR
RBZEREAEAFESAREMSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

19.

20.

ZNME=A=t—HILFE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—REBEATIZED (&
(continued)
HK$'000
F#ET
Cash proceeds RERERIE =
Add: fair value of the 13.6% investment /Il : 13.6%REREZ AFE
retained 92,924
Less: carrying amount of the 25.0% B REAHEENSREREN
investment on the date of loss of BARTENEH25.0%KEN
significant influence of Chinlink IREE
Finance Lease (90,324)
Less: Release of exchange reserve B RRERERNRIRE R EE
upon deemed disposal (4,153)
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate ~ FIE8mMEERIREHE—RH
recognised in profit or loss B AT 2 518 (1,553)

DEPOSIT PAID FOR LAND AUCTION

The amount represents earnest money of RMB803,000
(equivalent to HK$866,000) (2023: RMB803,000
(equivalent to HK$917,000)) paid to the PRC
government authority for the expropriation of land
for auction to be held by the PRC government
authority. The purpose for acquisition of the land is for
development of the Chinlink ® Worldport. The amount
was treated as earnest money that would be used
to offset the land cost upon acquisition of the land.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
abovementioned deposits paid of RMB8,187,000
(equivalent to HK$9,314,000) had been refunded
to Chinlink Commercial Management (Hanzhong)
Company Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group.

20.

THInE Z Bfdi%E
ZRIBIERTPEBABPASZAZHE
& AR 803,000t (18 E 5°866,000
Br) (ZEZ=%: AR%803,000
7T (FEEF917,0008 7)) WU sti#E B &
BB AT ERPIRIT 2 IAE MR T o
WHEZ T HETEREZE S « R
B o ZRMIBEREARNWE T MER
FRBE LA HEE ©

BE_Z-_=—F=-B=+—81tF
E - biig ke ARKS,187,0007T
(FHE729,314,000587T) EREBTAE
ErENBRAREEREHEBIE(CE
F)BIRAE
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR

21. BAFESIAHMEZEERZZ

VALUE THROUGH OTHER |
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2024 2023
—ECmE =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Unlisted equity investments, L HERRE  HAFESE
at fair value (Note) (Hfzt) 69,605 93,443
Note: i

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the registered capital
of Chinlink Finance Lease was enlarged from approximately
RMB320,000,000 to RMB588,305,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$379,957,000 to HK$698,534,000), and
the Group's effective equity interest in Chinlink Finance
Lease was diluted from 25.0% to 13.6%. As a result, the
Group ceased to have significant influence over the Chinlink
Finance Lease. The interest in Chinlink Finance Lease has
then been reclassified from interests in an associate to
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income designated by the directors of the Company. Further
details are set out in Note 19.
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EHRENFMEABLARE320,000,0007T1E 00
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JCE698,534,000587T) » AREEN LETSRME
AEZBERER25.0%F#EE13.6% ° FIL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Unlisted equity investments (Note (a))
Listed equity investment (Note (b))

Notes:

The unlisted equity investments represent investment
in unlisted equity securities issued by a private entity
incorporated in Singapore and the United Stated. It
was measured at fair value as at 31 March 2023.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
disposed its partial unlisted equity investments
at fair value as at disposal date of approximately
HK$2,047,000. No any gain or loss on disposal of
unlisted equity investment were recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

On 14 November 2022, partial unlisted equity
investments at fair value HK$1,060,000 was
disposed along with the disposal of the Alpha Yield
Limited and its subsidiaries. Further details are set
out in Note 42.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
no fair value change of financial assets at FVTPL was
recognised. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the fair
value of unlisted equity investments was HK$nil.

The listed equity investment represent investment in
listed equity security listed in United States. It was
determined based on the quoted market bid prices
available on the Stock Exchange. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Group disposed all listed
equity investments at fair value as at disposal date
of approximately HK$92,000. No gain or loss were
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023.

ZNME=A=t—HILFE

22.

et -

RATFESFABmZEMEE
2024 2023

k-l 112 3 . S
HK$"000 HK$'000

FERT THET

FLmEmRE (Aata) - S
EhEERE (MaED)

3Ftﬁ$§“&f§?§ﬁ'\¥ﬁﬂﬂi&“&%.%ﬁﬂﬂﬁi
UZMWANBRETZIFLTHEAZTSR
B o Eﬁ?ﬁﬁva =F=A=+—Hz2
NFEFE RBEZZE=F=A=+
—BLEEE > AEBRRTEEHRRATE
#92,047,0008 THEHT DI F EHRERR
BEoRBEZE_=F=A=+—HL®#HF
B> HERRLEF L mERREZFR
W s AT H8 o

WoSZZHE+—A+MAE > BATE
E2 BB LR 3 E 1,060,000 738
it 85 B 75 IR A B R L B A 5] — i
£ o E— P EERRHEEA -

KRE-B-NER-E-=E=A=+—
HilbEE > BB ATESABR TSR
HEZATEBHERD - R-B-NF
R-B-=#ZA=+—0 FromE
RENATEATHT ©

IhEnREENEE LT EHEEE
FRE - HVRRBMRFIFMRZTHEA
BMEE -NBE_ZT_=F=B=+—
HIEEE > AEERHEHRRATEN
92,000 BTTHERE L HREKE  IO#E
ECR_C-HF-RA=+—HLFE #iE
FEERIRE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE

Properties under R RFEYE
development for sale:

At 1 April HEA—H

Addition =T

Exchange realignment PE SR EE

The properties under development for sale are located
in the PRC (namely, Phase 2 of the Xi'an Commercial
Complex), expected to be completed within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

The carrying amount of the Group's properties under
development for sale is measured at cost less any
impairment losses.

In the opinion of the Directors, properties under
development for sale with carrying amount of
approximately HK$598,514,000 (2023: HK$633,751,000)
as at 31 March 2024 are expected to be completed and
delivered within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.
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FERGFEYE

2024 2023

—EmF . S
HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT T8t

633,751 572,917

165 101,798
(35,402) (40,964)

598,514 633,751

BRE M EY AN E (AL mEE
KIS T HY) » AR SRS HAREE+
“EBERIBT o

FERRENRFEYENREERNK
FREEFREBEFE o

EERFH O RE_NFE=ZR=+—
HZ R E49598,514,0008 T (=
— =4 1633,751,00058T) BIREE
HEYEBBHBNRIRSHRET =@
BRE TG ER o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

24. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Fixed-rate loan receivables EEFIEERER

24,

FEWER

Analysed for reporting purposes as:  FLERABIEHZ MW T :

Current BPHA

The amount represents the outstanding loan
receivables from independent third parties which are
unsecured and carry interest at fixed-rates ranged from
7.0% to 12.5% per annum (2023: fixed-rates ranged
from 7.0% to 12.5% per annum). The weighted
average effective interest rate of the loan receivables
is 7.8% (2023: 9.5%) per annum. The amounts at
both 31 March 2024 and 2023 are repayable within
12 months from the loan advance dates.

2024 2023
—S-mE S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F#ET
11,822 102,617
11,822 102,617

ol

ZA BB E= A2 HAREERER
S ZARIEA R R IRE EFF
BNAFT0%E12.5% (CE_=F : &
EEFNENFT0%E12.5%) 5t 8 °
FEWBERZMEFEHERAEXEASE
78%(CB =4 :95%) c R_T_
MERZEZ=F=ZA=+—HZ®&
EHHERBRNERBHETZEAR

a3

U]]}

=
3 7T

\

,‘u‘
ﬁﬁl
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25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s loan receivables balances are not past due
at 31 March 2024. There is allowance for expected
credit losses of approximately HK$73,062,000
included in the carrying amount of loan receivables
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$37,024,000). Details
of impairment assessment of loan receivables are set
out in Note 48.

FACTORING RECEIVABLES

The amount represents the outstanding loan
principals and accrued interest from independent
third parties which are secured by trade receivables
of the counterparties with full recourse and carry
interest at fixed rate ranged from 2.0% to 6.0%
per annum (2023: 3.0% to 6.0% per annum). The
weighted average effective interest rate of the
factoring receivables is 3.7% (2023: 4.2%) per
annum. The Group’s factoring receivables as at 31
March 2024 are repayable within 12 months from
the loan advance dates and not past due. There is
allowance for expected credit losses of approximately
HK$46,063,000 included in the carrying amount of
factoring receivables as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$20,366,000).

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in
Note 48.
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24,

25,

FERERR (4

FEBZEREREHRE -2
FZRZ+—BEEAM - R_F
THEZAZ+—H G BRER
ZEREERNZAREEERREY

773,062,000 8 t( & — = &£ :
37,024,000 7T) - BWER ZBET
(HEE 1B MTEE48 ©

FEUR 7 £ (REERRIE
ZRIBIEREBIUE - A2 REEE
AEERESANE > UXEHFHE
2EBREZEWEZIREEIKFL
BETEEMNENF2.0%E6.0% (2
T=E I ERE30%E6.0%)TE
FEWmERERBZNEFHERE
MEEB3T% (ZEZZF:42%) °
rEER_Z_NE=ZA=+—H=
FEWRIERIEBR BT ERHHEIE12
BEREE  BUEAR N
“WE=Z/A=+—H 5 EREERF
BRIERBEEANZ BREEHRERE
#97546,063,0008 T (T - =
20,366,000587T) °

BB Z S B EN M FE48 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

26. EWEZIRIE HthEWIR

I8 e KRIEMRIA

Trade receivables FEWE ZERIE
2024 2023
—EIME ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables FEU B Z iR
— goods and services — MK ARF 14,040 14,860
— operating lease —EHE 319 197
— Financial guarantee contracts —REERESL 478 1,530
14,837 16,587
Less: Allowances for expected B TEHAE BRI EE
credit losses (14,136) (11,933)
701 4,654
As at 31 March 2024, the gross amount of trade RZFZMFE=R=+—0 BUREFRSE

receivables from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$14,518,000 (2023: HK$16,390,000) (allowances for
expected credit losses of approximately HK$13,956,000
(2023: HK$11,932,000) respectively).

N B ERIEAEEEA 14,518,000 T (&

— =4 :16,390,000%& ) (&

HEEEIE

BHE D P413,956,0008 T (ZE =4 :

11,932,0003875T)) ©

254  CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 FE b & 3 B P B 4 BR 22 5] | Annual Report 2024 4§



26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 26.

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables
(net the allowance for expected credit losses)
presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period:

FEWE ZARTE « HAFEULER
6 BERFAMRIEGE

B E G RE ()

BERREHRZERAH2IEIK
BZRBEMBRRAREERERRERF) <
SRECDATINE ¢

2024 2023
—TmE B =fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHE7T

0 - 30 days TE=1+H 694 1,596
31-90 days —+—HEA+H 7 857
>90 days A+BUE = 2,201
701 4,654

The Group’s credit terms for its customers related to
logistics services and financial advisory services are
normally 30 days to 90 days.

Customers related to financial guarantee services
are required to settle either on monthly instalments
in arrear or upon signing of the financial guarantee
services contracts or relevant consultancy services
contracts.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
are set out in Note 48.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 26.

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables from related companies

As at 31 March 2024, trade receivables from related
companies of approximately HK$1,173,000 (net the
allowance for expected credit losses of approximately
HK$6,000) (2023: HK$ 1,244,000 (net the allowance
for expected credit losses of approximately HK$5,000))
were aged within 30 days based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
from related companies are set out in Note 48.

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

FEWE ZARTE « HAFEULER
6 BERFAMRIEGE

FEWRTEL 2 B 5 ARE
RIEZWNE=ZRA=+—H » EUE
HNBZESRIEL1,173,0008 7T
(I FRTEHAE B R85 5496,000787T)
T =4 11,244,000 7T (F0RTE
HE BB EEL5,00087T) ) BER
WERAREZAMREA=1THR °

FEV BB A B 2 B 5 0R0E 2 L 3P0
SEEREAS o

HMEWIRE - & RFATHE

2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other receivables and deposits HAhEUWERTE K 3% & 22,409 20,382
Prepayments FEFIA 5,779 9,524
28,188 29,906

Analysed as: PaXiiv= I
Current TREn 26,509 28,208
Non-current JETREN 1,679 1,698
28,188 29,906

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables
are set out in Note 48.

H At FE UK AR TR 2 BB 5118 5 1B 8RS P
48 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The pledged bank deposits represent deposits placed
with certain banks as securities in return for the banks
to provide loans to the Group’s financial guarantee
services customers. These pledged bank deposits have
a maturity of less than a year as at 31 March 2024
(2023: a maturity of less than one year).

At 31 March 2024, pledged bank deposits carry
interests at an average rate of 1.66% (2023: 2.15%)
per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits are set out in Note 48.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 March 2024, the entire bank balances of
approximately HK$7,441,000 (2023: approximately
HK$90,197,000) are current deposits, carrying interest
at market rates ranged from 0.01% to 0.30% (2023:
0.01% to 0.35%) per annum. The bank balances and
cash that are denominated in currencies other than
functional currency of the relevant group entities are
set out as below:

United States dollars (“USD")
RMB AR
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27.

28.

BRI IRTTER
BIEFRITERIEEEN ST RITN
ERZSRITARERZMEERR
BERREERZMAER - T
“ME=ZB=+—H  ZEEEMR
TERR—FRHB(CR=F 1 1
—EREIE) o

A_E_NE=/A=+—H > 2iKiF
IRITERTVIR T ERNZE1.66% (ZF
T=H215%) 8 o

BRI IRITER 2 B ET G B EH N
Fi5T48 o

RITEERRE
RIE-NE=ZA=+—0H » 2R
1T4E1F497,441,0008 0 (2" =45
#990,197,0008 7t) A EBMER > &
AF001%ZE030% (ZE-=
0.01%%E0.35%) ZHFEMEHE ©
EREREBUNEEBUIINZEI
SHEZIRITEERIREHIIWT ¢

2024 2023
—T-mE 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET

.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

29. TRADE PAYABLES 29. EHEZIRE
Trade payables FEfTEZKRE
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables RIERBREHERZEZHHETEN
presented based on the invoice date at the end of BSRBZIREDTOT

the reporting period:

2024 2023
k-l 112 3 —E°=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHT
> 90 days A+BMUE 666 705
The credit period granted by the suppliers to the HETOAEEERE EEHN TS
Group ranged from 30 to 90 days. +HZEA+H -
Other payables and accruals HthE(TiRIAR E &
2024 2023
—EMmE . S
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT
Other payables HE RIS 56,724 81,822
Accruals FEstER 119,039 73,177
175,763 154,999
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

LOANS FROM STAFF 300 BETEM
2024 2023
—ET-mE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Loans from staff ETEM 2,125 6,339
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the amount to BE_Z_HNHE=B=+—HLHF
the extent of approximately HK$2,125,000 (2023: B 3421250008 T(_&
approximately HK$6,339,000) is loans from staff =% #96,339,0007 7T) 5 w1
employed by two PRC subsidiaries. These loans are BftfE AElEAZBIEM - 2FH
repayable within a year after the date of withdrawal MARERBBRE-—FRESERR
and unsecured and the effective interest rate of the B BRZBRENER125% (T2
loans is 12.5% (2023: 12.5%) per annum. T=F1125%) ¢
CONSTRUCTION COSTS ACCRUALS 31. FESHEEMRA

The amount represented the construction costs
accrued for the Group's investment properties under
construction.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. 8#&af@E

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Property management services YMEBIER 28,327 31,239

Sales of properties MEHE 95,088 100,991
123,415 132,230
Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be AR AR AEBR T ESBHERG
settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle, BENENEaRENREAERRREE

are classified as current liabilities based on the RS FERZETNEAREEE °

Group's earliest obligation to transfer services to
the customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Beginning of the year

Decrease in contract liabilities
as a result of recognising
revenue during the year that
was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year

Decrease in contract liabilities as a
result of deposits refund to the
customers

Increase in contract liabilities as
a result of receiving receipts in
advances

End of the year
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REREESBIEAETA
BREREERIA
BRaNasERD

REZPREER
arnaERd

WER TR AR TR B 2L
BHEEE

RER

32.

aNaR#E
TRETNHEZSNER 2=
F=ZRB=1T—HLFECHEIHELEE
BHEEBRZIA o
Sales of Property
properties management Total
MEHE MEERE st
2024 2024 2024
b 113 —E2mE “ZmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TAERT THERT
100,991 31,239 132,230
- (29,332) (29,332)
(5,903) = (5,903)
- 26,420 26,420
95,088 28,327 123,415

-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Beginning of the year REH

Decrease in contract liabilities RERBERIRETA
as a result of recognising BHERERNIA
revenue during the year that BRENaERD
was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year

Decrease in contract liabilities as a ~ BEFLZSER

result of deposits refund to the afa/ER
customers

Increase in contract liabilities as Y ER TR IR AR TR 5)
a result of receiving receipts in BHEEEM
advances

End of the year REX

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Property management services

The Group receives six months to one year property
management fee in advance from certain tenants
of the investment properties at the start of the
property management contract. This gives rise to the
contract liability which will be recognised as revenue
throughout the period of services.

32.

alaE @)

Property

Sales of  management
properties services
ES ) MEERE
2023 2023
—EC=F —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
64,497 34,541
- (26,568)

(4,372) -
40,866 23,266
100,991 31,239

Total

w5t

2023
—EC=F
HK$'000
FHET

99,038

(26,568)

(4,372)

64,132

132,230

FTECHIGNERTEI—REUM

e

WEEIEIRES
AEERYEEESORIRITAIUE
REMEETHRANERE—F1Y
FEEE - LBRELERNEERSH
RS SRAZENEE -
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Sale of properties

The Group receives 50% of the contract value as
deposits from customers when they sign the sale
and purchase agreement. However, depending on
market conditions, the Group may offer customers a
discount compared to the listed sales price, provided
that the customers agree to pay the balance of the
consideration early while construction is still ongoing.
The deposits and advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout
the property construction period until the customer
obtains control of the completed property.

RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE

Receipts in advances

Receipts in advance from:

—MELE
—ERE

— Property investment
— Leasing of properties

Receipts in advances are classified as current liabilities
based on the timing of performance of the obligations
to transfer goods or services to the customers.
Deposits received from tenants and customers are
classified as current liabilities based on the Group’s
earliest obligation to pay such deposits to the tenants
and customers.
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AR o

TEULFRIE
2024 2023
—ECmE —EC=f
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
9,348 9,342
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

34. LEASE LIABILITIES HEaR
The following table shows the remaining contractual TRETRZIEZINERZZZ=F

maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities as at 31

March 2024 and 2023:

ZR=+—RAXEEHEEERZEFT

BREIRABR

2024 2023
—E-mE BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Lease liabilities payments: HEsENR
Within one year —FR 5,155 4,793
Within a period of more than one HBiE—FEmFEAN
year but not exceeding two years 5,698 5,298
Within a period of more than two HBEMFEERFA
year but not exceeding five years 8,572 13,939
Over five years Bim AT - 902
19,425 24,932
Less: Amount due for settlement B ORBBBIE MR
with 12 months shown under 1288 NZE4S B2 BR1E
current liabilities (5,155) (4,793)
Amount due for settlement after JEREBEBEEBE TR
12 months shown under 12BB & B4R RIE
non-current liabilities 14,270 20,139

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates TS &SRB T 2SS
applied to lease liabilities range from 3.75% to KNF3.75%F10.63% (CBZ=4F:

=71 e —
10.63% (2023: 3.75% to 10.63%). AF3.75%10.63%) o
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35. DEFERRED INCOME 35. RIEYES
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET
Arising from adjustment on REHEN—RESRE
carrying amount of amounts Z IREEAE
due to a director 1,726 3,319
Arising from adjustment on REHENREATRE
carrying amount of amounts ZIREEZ AR
due to related companies 17,285 26,291
19,011 29,610
2024 2023
“EmE S
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Analysed as: PaXil =
Non-current liabilities el eI =N 1,464 14,702
Current liabilities mENEE 17,547 14,908
19,011 29,610
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36. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED 36.
COMPANIES AND DIRECTORS
Amounts due to related companies
Carrying amount repayable: FEEZERMEE -
— More than one year, but not — BB —FERBBME
exceeding two years

Less: Amount due within 1 year B —FREEZRIE

Amount shown under non-current  JERENEEIE N2 ERIE
liabilities

Amounts due to related companies in which the
controlling shareholder of the Company (who is also
a director of the Company) has significant influence
or controlling interest to these related companies
are unsecured, non-interest bearing. And the related
parties agreed not to demand repayment of any
amount in the next twelve months after 31 March
2024. During the year, an imputed interest of
approximately HK$15,523,000 (2023: approximately
HK$17,868,000) is recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

FEIRAE AR RESFIRIE

FETRIEL EIARIE
2024 2023
—EME 2=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
90,474 88,626
90,474 88,626

90,474 88,626

FETRAE AR (R QB 2 R R (75
BERNBDES)RNZSEMERTEBE

HENHYEG L) RIEA EKF
KAEE - MESRRAETERNZ
ENE=ZB=+—HEERK+ @
BEEAAEEE  -FRN > HEAE
#915,523,000 BT (ZEZ=F 1 &
17,868,000/ 7T) RiraBm kEME
EN RS ©
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AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED
COMPANIES AND DIRECTORS
(continued)

Amounts due to directors

Carrying amount repayable: FEEZARMEE -
— More than one year, but not —iBiE—
exceeding two years 7
Less: Amount due within 1 year e

Amount shown under
non-current liabilities ZHR1B

As at 31 March 2024, the amounts due to a
director of approximately HK$25,389,000 (2023:
HK$22,977,000) are unsecured. The borrowing
carries at fixed-rates ranged from 11.0% to 15.0%
per annum and agreed not to demand repayment
of principal by the Group in the next twelve months
after 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the amount due to a
director of approximately HK$19,821,000 (2023:
HK$11,058,000) are unsecured and non-interest
bearing. The director agreed not to demand repayment
of any amount by the Group in the next twelve
months after 31 March 2024, and adjustment on such
carrying amounts using the effective interest rate
of 14.7% (2023: 12.8%) per annum amounting to
approximately HK$1,593,000 (2023: HK$1,665,000)
was recognised in adjustment on carrying amount
of amount due to a director under consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, and approximately HK$1,726,000 (2023:
HK$3,319,000) are recognised in consolidated
statement of financial position. During the year, an
imputed interest of approximately HK$1,490,000
(2023: HK$1,888,000) is recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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IEREAEE TR

EISREARRESIRE (&)

EEFRE
2024 2023
—EmE —T=fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TR
45,210 34,035
45,210 34,035
45,210 34,035

ATE_ME=B=+—H > ET—
LB EIRIEXY25,389,0008 T (Z &=
=4 122,977,00087T) AEEIF o &
FTENAF11.0%E15.0% 2B EEF
EHERBEAEN _E-_NE=
=+ —HERKR+_EEERLER
BIBEXE o

ATETWE=A=+—H  EBN—
LB EIRIEX19,821,0008 T (ZE
=4 111,058,000/ 70) & HFIK A K
RE - BFREFAEN_E_NE=
B=t—HEXRK+_EBERAE
EEETASE  MEAERERNE
147% (ZE =% 112, 8%)%%%%
IREEETRAE > HARGREER
HthtemBmRETNHEN— %%%
IRIBEZREEETHRAEDRIDAE
£ %E491,593,0008 T (ZE - =4 :
1,665,000 7T) » IR E MR
KA AELEN1,726 ooo%r_n
(ZZ - =4 :3,319,00087T) °
N REEER &ET’@%EH&"%’%EF‘
58#91,490,000 B0 (ZE =% :
1,888,000/ 70) HEREFE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

37. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 37. #RITREMER
2024 2023
—E-mE T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET
Bank borrowings, secured IRITER > BIKH 1,101,012 1,165,354
Bank borrowings, unsecured IRITERR » B 7,978 19,299
Other borrowings, secured HahER > B 36,970 73,017
Other borrowings, unsecured HhERr > Mg 286,878 329,268
Bank overdraft RITEX - 12,457
1,432,838 1,599,395
Carrying amount of the above BN THEERZRZ
borrowings are repayable* ARz EREE
— Within one year ——%FRN 308,481 529,595
— More than one year, but not — B —FERBBmE
exceeding two years 176,552 50,869
Sub-total IINEF 485,033 580,464
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37. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 37. RITREfERR (#B)
(continued)
2024 2023
—E_ME —EBC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET

Carrying amount of the bank and  SBRERMBIEENR

other borrowings that contains (BmEh&EE M)
a repayable on demand clause AR U TRIREERZR S
(shown under current liabilities) RIT R EMEREREE*
but repayable*
— Within one year ——&FR 42,242 59,699
— More than one year, but not — BB —FE N EEmE
exceeding two years 32,341 34,258
— More than two years, but not —BEMFERBBRFE
exceeding five years 226,391 239,808
— More than five years —iBEAE 646,831 685,166
Sub-total NG 947,805 1,018,931
1,432,838 1,599,395
Less: Amount shown under non- B IEREBaEE N IRZ
current liabilities BRIE (176,552) (50,869)
Amount shown under current R aEE TN IImZRIE
liabilities 1,256,286 1,548,526
Carrying amounts of bank loans RRsafE TR
that are repayable on demand EETENERER
that have loan defaults or BEZIREREEREY
breach of loan covenants (shown IRITEMIREE
under current liabilities) (947,805) (50,559)
Amounts shown under current RnEafEE T
liabilities for the borrowings mEMBONERER
without loan defaults or breach RIEERZ RIE
of loan covenants 308,481 1,497,967
& The amounts due are based on scheduled repayable * FERRALIRBER AP H 2 78
dates set out in loan agreements. EEEHRAETE -

-
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37. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
As at 31 March 2023, the banks overdraft carried
interest at Hong Kong Prime Interest Rate per annum.

As at 31 March 2024, the variable-rate bank
borrowings of approximately HK$126,671,000
(2023: HK$134,178,000) are secured by the
Group’s property, plant and equipment with
carrying value of approximately HK$20,066,000
(2023: HK$23,700,000) and investment properties
with fair value of approximately HK$677,016,000
(2023: HK$749,914,000). These borrowings carry
interests at variable rate of 6.90% per annum (2023:
7.35% per annum) which is based on the rate fixed
by People’s Bank of China (“PBOC Rate”) plus a
premium per annum as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, the fixed-rate bank
borrowings of approximately HK$974,341,000 (2023:
HK$1,031,176,000) are secured by equity interest
of certain Group’s wholly owned subsidiaries and
the Group's certain investment properties with fair
value of approximately HK$1,963,454,000 (2023:
HK$2,326,254,000). These borrowings carry interest
at fixed rates which ranged from 3.45% to 7.00%
per annum (2023: 3.65% to 7.10% per annum).

As at 31 March 2024, the remaining fixed-rate bank
borrowings of approximately HK$7,978,000 (2023:
HK$19,299,000) are unsecured, carry interest at
fixed-rate of 5.50% (2023: ranged from 5.50% to
6.70%) per annum and are repayable at maturity
date on 17 September 2024 (2023: ranged from 12
April 2023 to 10 June 2023).

ZNME=A=t—HILFE

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

TR EfhfETR (4F)
CZEZZ#=A=+—0 RTB

X EFREBREBNEAR -

AZEZZME=A=+—0H  FEE
R IBITIEFRA9126,671,00078 70 (Z
T =4 1 134,178,000 7T) A
EEIREE420,066,0008 T (ZE
=4 :23,700,00057T) 2 ~ BE
Kt B R A F1EAI677,016,0008 70
T =4 1 749,914, oooﬁém)z&
EYEERER R _NEKR_
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BARIRITFER)) BEZIBNXE
F6.90% (ZBE_=F: §4F7.35%)
EEE S o

RIZEMNE=Z/F=+—H » BEH
KIRITIERNA974,341,0008 T (ZZ
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=4 12,326,254,00087T) 2 & T
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E R EIRITIERNA7,978,00058 75 (Z
T =4 :19,299,000587T) A EHIK
o BEEFNZESLS0% (ZE =
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“ZTOEAB+TER(ZEREI=4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE_%

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the other borrowing
amounting to approximately HK$36,970,000 (2023:
HK$73,017,000) is secured by equity interest of
certain Group’s wholly owned subsidiaries. These
borrowings carry interests at fixed-rate of 10.61%
per annum (2023: fixed rates which ranged from
10.61% to 12.79%) and are repayable at maturity
date on 30 March 2026 (2023: ranged from 17 May
2023 to 30 March 2026).

As at 31 March 2024, the remaining other
borrowings of approximately HK$286,878,000 (2023:
HK$329,268,000) are unsecured, carry interests at
fixed-rates which ranged from 5.00% to 24.00% per
annum (2023: fixed rates which ranged from 5.00%
t0 24.00% per annum) and are repayable at maturity
dates which ranged from 1 April 2024 to 22 March
2025 (2023: 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024).

As at 31 March 2024, the unsecured other borrowings
included an amount of HK$150,339,000 (equivalent
to RMB139,510,000) (2023: HK$152,461,000
(equivalent to RMB133,510,000)) which represents
the capital injection in the form of registered capital
and capital reserve into Shaanxi Chinlink Financial
Guarantee Limited (“Chinlink Financial Guarantee”)
by ERMKREEREEBRAF

Investment”) pursuant to a cooperation agreement

("Hanzhong

entered into between Chinlink Financial Guarantee,
Hanzhong Investment and Chinlink Alpha Limited
("Chinlink Alpha”) on 17 May 2018. Chinlink
Financial Guarantee was wholly-owned by Chinlink
Alpha before the capital injection and was held as
to 65% by Chinlink Alpha and 35% by Hanzhong
Investment after the capital injection.
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37.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

According to the cooperation agreement, Chinlink
Financial Guarantee shall distribute profit to Hanzhong
Investment equivalent to 5.0% per annum of its
capital injected. If the profit distribution of the year is
less than that return, Chinlink Alpha or its nominated
third party shall compensate the difference in the
form to be agreed between the parties. Other than
the 5.0% per annum profit distribution to Hanzhong
Investment, all profit and reserves of Chinlink Financial
Guarantee shall belong to the Group.

If there is a change in national policy or material
adverse change in the business, assets, prospects,
operation or financial condition in Chinlink Financial
Guarantee, or if there is a material breach of
the cooperation agreement which has not been
rectified within 14 working days after notification,
the cooperation agreement may be terminated and
Hanzhong Investment can demand repayment. The
total amount payable to Hanzhong Investment shall
not exceed the actual total capital contributed by
Hanzhong Investment, or Chinlink Alpha can acquire
the 35% shareholding of the Chinlink Financial
Guarantee held by Hanzhong Investment based on
the total capital contributed by Hanzhong Investment.

Based on the above, the amount injected by Hanzhong
Investment is classified as other borrowing under
current liabilities.

37.

IR1T R E AR (&

REBEGIFHE > SETERERREA
EEPREDENE > HEFRHEIE
ZEE50% HZEEZ M DE
DRZER  EREERHERSS
ZHARINEAWEZ A ARMEE
B o REETREDESFS 0%
S BEETEREBEREFRZAMENER
REERBAER -

HERBREIREGHNEETERE
BRZER -BE -Aix - BERY
BIRALIREBRRTFES > HIEEE
WELIREAERBREFELBENE14
BEIERAMKELALE > BISIER
EATRIEREREZETNEREE °
BT ERREZBEAEBRER
KREERLEZERRE  NERT
ERGWBETLERBEFREL
BZBERBENEERATREERT
BZ35%R%HE o
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum
(which are also equal to contracted interest rates)
on the Group's bank and other borrowings are as
follows:

BRI -

Fixed-rate borrowings Bl HI=

Effective interest rate:

Variable-rate borrowings

The Group has bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately HK$916,343,000
and HK$31,462,000 respectively that contain
repayable on demand clause (2023: approximately
HK$983,109,000 and HK$35,822,000 respectively),
which were included in the current liabilities.

The Group has defaulted in repayment of principals
and interests of bank borrowing and other borrowings
amounting to approximately HK$23,743,000 and
HK$30,895,000 respectively during the year ended
31 March 2024. The outstanding principal amounts of
the bank borrowing and other borrowings in respect
of which the Group has defaulted in repayment were
approximately HK$916,343,000 and HK$13,749,000
respectively as at 31 March 2024 and are repayable
on demand as a result of the default clause in these
borrowings. Due to these defaults of borrowings,
this had triggered cross default of other borrowing
approximately HK$17,713,000 as at 31 March 2024,
which was originally due for repayment in December
2024. As at 31 March 2024, the bank and financial
institutions are contractually entitled to request for
immediate repayment of the outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$947,805,000.
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38.

COUPON BONDS
13.0% Coupon bonds

Pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 1
December 2017, 12.0% coupon bonds with principal
amount of USD15,000,000 (the “12.0% Coupon
Bonds”) were issued by the Company at par to
independent third parties on 1 December 2017.

On 5 August 2019, the Company commenced an
exchange offer to exchange all of its outstanding
12.0% held by the eligible
bondholders for a new 13.0% coupon bonds with
principal amount of US$30,000,000 (the “13.0%
Coupon Bonds") which will mature on August 2021

Coupon Bonds

("Exchange Offer”).

The Exchange Offer was duly accepted by the eligible
bondholders and all outstanding existing 12.0%
Coupon Bonds was cancelled on 16 August 2019
and the 13.0% Coupon Bonds have been issued
pursuant to the Exchange Offer on the same date.
The 13.0% Coupon Bonds are denominated in USD
and carry interest at 13.0% per annum. Interest is
payable annually in arrears.

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of USD30,000,000 were issued on
16 August 2019 (the “Issue Date 1) pursuant to
the Exchange Offer.

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds are denominated in USD
and carry interest at 13.0% per annum. Interest is
repayable semi-annually in arrears.

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds will mature on 30 August
2021 (the "Maturity Date 1").

ZNME=A=t—HILFE

38.
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COUPON BONDS (continued)
13.0% Coupon bonds (continued)

The effective interest rate of the 13.0% Coupon
Bonds is 12.99% per annum.

No early redemption of the 13.0% Coupon Bonds is
allowed by the Company except upon the occurrence
of certain events or circumstances as set out in the
bonds instrument.

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds are secured by equity
interests of certain Group's wholly owned subsidiaries
and guaranteed by certain shareholder.

As at 31 March 2024, the 13.0% Coupon
Bonds of approximately HK$163,988,000 (2023:
HK$228,108,000) are remain outstanding.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, interest charged
on the 13.0% Coupon Bonds of HK$21,380,000
(2023: HK$30,778,000) was recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group has defaulted in repayment of principals
and interests of bonds amounting to approximately
HK$154,605,000 and HK$9,383,000 respectively
during the year ended 31 March 2024 which
outstanding amounts of bonds of approximately
HK$163,988,000 as at 31 March 2024 remain
outstanding. Due to this breach of default clause
of bonds, the financial institution are contractually
entitled to request for immediate repayment of the
outstanding bonds of approximately HK$163,988,000.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

38.

COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds

Pursuant to the placing agreement dated 30 July
2019, 6.5% coupon bonds with principal amount
of HK$82,500,000, HK$24,000,000, HK$61,500,000
and HK$32,000,000 (collectively referred as the
"First 6.5% Coupon Bonds"”) were issued by the
Company at par to the independent parties on 7
August 2019 (the “Issue Date 2”), 8 August 2019
(the “Issue Date 3”), 19 August 2019 (the “Issue
Date 4") and 6 September 2019 (the “Issue Date
5") respectively.

The First 6.5% Coupon Bonds are denominated
in HK$, secured by the Group’s wholly owned
subsidiaries, guaranteed by Mr. Li, repayable on the
day falling on the first anniversary of the issue date
and carry interest at 6.5% per annum. Interest is
payable annually in arrears.

The First 6.5% Coupon Bonds will mature on the first
anniversary of the issue dates, which are 7 August
2020 (the “Maturity Date 2"), 8 August 2020 (the
“Maturity Date 3”), 19 August 2020 (the "Maturity
Date 4”), and 6 September 2020 (the “Maturity
Date 5") respectively. The Company can redeem
the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds in whole or in part,
at par together with all accrued and unpaid interest
calculated at the rate of 6.5% per annum accrued
thereon from Issue Date 2, Issue Date 3, Issue Date
4 and Issue Date 5 respectively and up to the date
of redemption less any interest paid by the Company
on it by giving not less than 10 business days’ notice
to the holder(s) of the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds at
any time from the Issue Date 2 to the Maturity Date
2 and Issue Date 3 to Maturity Date 3 and Issue Date
4 to Maturity Date 4 and Issue Date 5 to Maturity
Date 5, respectively.
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COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the First 6.5% Coupon
Bonds were matured, of which HK$41,500,000
were redeemed by the Company and the remaining
principal of HK$158,500,000 of the First 6.5%
Coupon Bonds were extended for one year pursuant
to the deed of amendment dated 6 August 2020.

As at 31 March 2022, the First 6.5% Coupon
Bonds were matured, of which HK$91,500,000
were redeemed by the Company and the remaining
principal of HK$67,000,000 of the First 6.5% Coupon
Bonds were extended for one year pursuant to the
second deed of amendment dated 23 August 2021.

As at 31 March 2023, the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds
were matured, of which HK$15,000,000 were
redeemed by the Company. Pursuant to the third
deed of amendment dated 12 August 2022, the
remaining principal of HK$52,000,000 of the First
6.5% Coupon Bonds were extended for two year.
According to the third deed of amendment, the
bondholders were granted early redemption right
to request for early redemption of bonds on the first
anniversary of the extension date. If the bondholders
do not exercise such early redemption right, they
shall receive a one-off additional fixed interest of
2% of the outstanding principal amount as at the
maturity date.

As at 31 March 2024, the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds
of which HK$1,000,000 were early redeemed on the
first anniversary of the extension date. The remaining
principal of HK$51,000,000 do not exercise such early
redemption right, and they shall receive a one-off
additional fixed interest of 2% of the outstanding
principal amount as at the maturity date pursuant to
the third deed of amendment dated 12 August 2022.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

38.

COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds (continued)

Transaction costs relating to the First 6.5% Coupon
Bonds of HK$2,580,000 are included in the carrying
amount of the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds. The
effective interest rate of the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds
is 9.5% per annum at the first year and 10.5% at
the second year, respectively from the date of the
deed of amendment.

On 23 July 2020, the Company entered into a second
placing agreement with a placing agent to issue
6.5% coupon bonds with principal amount of up
to HK$100,000,000 (collectively referred as the
“Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds”).

The Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds are denominated in
HK$, secured by the equity interests of a subsidiary,
guaranteed by Mr. Li, repayable on the day falling
on the first anniversary of the issue date and carry
interest at 6.5% per annum, and the interest is
payable annually in arrears.

As at 4 August 2020 (the "Issue Date 6"”), the
first tranche of the Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds
with principal of HK$66,500,000 were issued and
the proceeds were used for refinancing the existing
borrowings. The Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds will
mature on the first anniversary of the issue dates,
which are 4 August 2021 (the “Maturity Date 6").

As at 31 March 2022, the Second 6.5% Coupon
Bonds were matured, of which HK$66,500,000 were
fully repaid by the Company.
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COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds (continued)

On 23 August 2021, the Company entered into a
third placing agreement with a placing agent to
reissue the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds with principal
amount of up to HK$140,000,000 in aggregate
(collectively referred as the “Third 6.5% Coupon
Bonds"”), under best effort basis. On 23 August
2021 (the “Issue Date 7”) and 31 August 2021
(the “Issue Date 8"”), the first and second tranche
of the Third 6.5% Coupon Bonds with principal of
HK$56,300,000 and HK$3,000,000 (the First 6.5%
Coupon Bonds, the Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds and
the Third 6.5% Coupon Bonds, collectively referred
as the "6.5% Coupon Bonds”) were issued and
the proceeds were used for refinancing the existing
borrowings.

The Third 6.5% Coupon Bonds are denominated
in HK$, secured by equity interests of a subsidiary,
guaranteed by Mr. Li, repayable on the day falling
on the first anniversary of the issue date and carry
interest at 6.5% per annum. Interest is payable
annually in arrears.

The Third 6.5% Coupon Bonds will mature on the first
anniversary on the issue dates, which are 23 August
2022 (“the Maturity Date 7”) and 31 August 2022
(the “Maturity Date 8"), respectively. The Company
can redeem the third 6.5% Coupon Bonds in whole
or in part, at par together with all accrued and unpaid
interest calculated at the rate of 6.5% per annum
accrued thereon from Issue Date 7 and Issue Date 8
respectively and up to the date of redemption less
any interest paid by the Company on it by giving not
less than 10 business days' notice to the holder(s) of
the Third 6.5% Coupon Bonds at any time from the
Issue Date 7 to the Maturity Date 7 and the Issue
Date 8 to the Maturity Date 8, respectively.
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38.

COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Third 6.5% Coupon
Bonds were matured, of which HK$3,500,000 were
redeemed by the Company. Pursuant to the deed of
amendment dated 12 August 2022, the remaining
principal of HK$45,800,000 were extended for two
year. According to the deed of amendment, the
bondholders were granted early redemption right to
request for early redemption of bonds on the first
anniversary of the extension date. If the bondholders
do not exercise such early redemption right, they
shall receive a one-off additional fixed interest of
2% of the outstanding principal amount as at the
maturity date.

As at 31 March 2024, the Third 6.5% Coupon Bonds
of which HK$5,000,000 were early redeemed on the
first anniversary of the extension date. The remaining
principal of HK$40,800,000 do not exercise such early
redemption right, and they shall receive a one-off
additional fixed interest of 2% of the outstanding
principal amount as at the maturity date pursuant to
the third deed of amendment dated 12 August 2022.

Transaction costs relating to the Third 6.5% Coupon
Bonds of HK$2,190,000 are included in the carrying
amount of the Third 6.5% Coupon Bonds. The
effective interest rate of the Third 6.5% Coupon
Bonds is 9.5% per annum at the first year and 10.5%
at the second year, respectively from the date of the
deed of amendment.

As at 31 March 2024, the principal and interest of the
6.5% Coupon Bonds of approximately HK$91,800,000
and HK$10,575,000 respectively (2023: approximately
HK$97,800,000 and HK$2,849,000 respectively) are
remain outstanding.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, interest
charged on the 6.5% Coupon Bonds of HK$9,529,000
(2023: HK$11,803,000) was recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

DEFERRED TAXATION 39. RIETRIE

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities RmEFERFAEDS 2 EXNRERE
recognised and movements thereon during both BEEREEEFNT !

years:

Tax allowance
Fair value  on financing

gain on guarantee

investment contracts
properties recognised Total

EHRIME

BREMEZ BRENZ
ATERE RUEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHET FHER
At 31 March 2022 RZEB__#=RA=+—H 326,961 680 327,641
Credit to profit or loss HABEH (21,234) (23) (21,257)
Exchange realignment ERRHE (23,382) (49) (23,431)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=#=R=1+—H 282,345 608 282,953
Credit to profit or loss HAER (43,415) (295) (43,710)
Exchange realignment ERRAE (15,153) (31 (15,184)
At 31 March 2024 A ZETMNEZA=+—H 223,777 282 224,059
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

39.

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had unused tax losses of HK$800,646,000 (2023:
HK$763,282,000) available for offsetting against
future profits which are subject to the confirmation
from Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department and
the PRC tax bureau. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to unpredictability of future
profit streams. As at 31 March 2024, included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$382,241,000
which will expire in 5 years from the year of origination
which is ranged from 2025 to 2029, the remaining
balances of unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely (2023: 380,325,000 which will
expire in 5 years from the year of origination which
is ranged from 2023 to 2027, the remaining balances
of unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits
earned by the PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008
onwards. No deferred taxation has been provided for
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences relating to the undistributed
profits of certain PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$1,262,154,000 (2023: HK$1,291,971,000) as
the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it is probable that the profits will not
be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

40. SHARE CAPITAL 40. B&#&
Number of Nominal
shares value
i &E EfE
HK$'000
FAT
Ordinary shares: Bimhg
Authorised ordinary shares EESER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, AZE_"FOMA—H[
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 ZEI=F=B=+—H"
of HK$0.01 each “ZT=FMA—Hk
—ENE=ZR=1+—Q>
F#20.01787T 62,500,000,000 625,000
Issued ordinary shares and fully paid BETRHEEER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, AR THMA—H
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 “ECZFEZA=Z+—H-
of HK$0.01 each “E=FNA—HR
“EIME=A=1+—8>
F520.01%87T 1,169,287,752 11,693
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 21 September
2012 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors, eligible employee and consultants
(collectively, the “Grantees”).

On 24 April 2013, 93,100,000 share options (the
“Share Options 1”) were granted to the Grantees
who are entitled to subscribe for a total of 93,100,000
new shares at an exercise price of HK$0.58 per
share with nominal value of HK$0.0125 each in the
capital of the Company upon the exercise of the
Share Options 1 in full. Share Options 1 granted are
exercisable from 24 April 2014 to 23 April 2023 and
are vested in five tranches given that the Grantees
remain in service with the Group at the beginning
of each exercisable period with (i) 20% shall become
exercisable from 24 April 2014 to 23 April 2023; (ii)
20% shall become exercisable from 24 April 2015
to 23 April 2023; (iii) 20% shall become exercisable
from 24 April 2016 to 23 April 2023; (iv) 20% shall
become exercisable from 24 April 2017 to 23 April
2023; and (v) 20% shall become exercisable from 24
April 2018 to 23 April 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

On 29 November 2013, 15,000,000 share options
(the ”“Share Options 2") were granted to the
Grantees who are entitled to subscribe for a total of
15,000,000 new shares at an exercise price of HK$0.70
per share with nominal value of HK$0.0125 each in
the capital of the Company upon the exercise of the
Share Options 2 in full. Share Options 2 granted are
exercisable from 29 November 2014 to 28 November
2023 and are vested in five tranches given that the
Grantees remain in service with the Group at the
beginning of each exercisable period with (i) 20%
shall become exercisable from 29 November 2014 to
28 November 2023; (ii) 20% shall become exercisable
from 29 November 2015 to 28 November 2023; (iii)
20% shall become exercisable from 29 November
2016 to 28 November 2023; (iv) 20% shall become
exercisable from 29 November 2017 to 28 November
2023 and (v) 20% shall become exercisable from 29
November 2018 to 28 November 2023.
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RZE®2—=H+—BZ+hH>
15,000,00017 # A1 (TEERG 42 )) BE1%
FTEEBAN > HEEEREHITHEER
B2 BIITEESR0.70BTREBAR
BRAFPEREE0.0125B Tz aH
15,000,000 & #r %10 o PRI BE A 4
2RIZE—ME+—AZ+NABEEZZ
—=Ft+—BZ+NHAFTHLER
ABRARETTERDMNRBNAE
EZARTORMLEE > HFR(0)20%
BARE—mE+—AZ+AhH
EZER=F+—AZ+NBTE;
(i20% AR ZE—HF+—HB =+
NEEZE_=F+—B -+ N\H1T
68 5 (ii)20% BRI RN _E—RE+—H
“t+hABEZZEZ=F+—BZ+AN
HITE ; (ivV)20% IR 22—t &F+
—A-t+thHEZE_=F+—H_C
+NABITE ; RV)20%FIR _E—
NE+—BZ+ABHEZZEZ=F+
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-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

On 17 December 2013, 4,000,000 share options (the
“Share Options 3”) were granted to the Grantee
who is entitled to subscribe for a total of 4,000,000
new shares at an exercise price of HK$0.68 per
share with nominal value of HK$0.0125 each in the
capital of the Company upon the exercise of the
Share Options 3 in full. Share Options 3 granted are
exercisable from 17 December 2014 to 16 December
2023 and are vested in five tranches given that the
Grantees remain in service with the Group at the
beginning of each exercisable period with (i) 20%
shall become exercisable from 17 December 2014 to
16 December 2023; (ii) 20% shall become exercisable
from 17 December 2015 to 16 December 2023; (iii)
20% shall become exercisable from 17 December
2016 to 16 December 2023; (iv) 20% shall become
exercisable from 17 December 2017 to 16 December
2023; and (v) 20% shall become exercisable from 17
December 2018 to 16 December 2023.

“ME=A=t—HILFE

41.

fERetEstEl (&

wW_Z2—=%+Z8F++t8"
4,000,0001p BEAG#E (TEERR#E3)) B1%
FTAEBA > HEBRNEBERITEER
HE3BIRITEESRR0.68BTRBAL
BRAFPEREE0.0125B Tz a6
4,000,000 8T A& 1D © FRIZ L EEARHES
A TE—NFE+ B +tHEZEZ
=F+Z B+ NHAFTE R AR
AREZRITERINNRERAEEZ
BIIR T EHLERB - HF1)20%#& 7
RZE—NWE+ZB++tHEZZZ
=FE+ZA+NBTE; ()20% 85
R_E—AFE+"_B+tHEZE_
=FF+IZHB+/RBITE; (i)20%AF 7]
RN_E—RE+_A+tHEZEZ
ZFF+ZB+RBTE; (iv)20%HE 7]
A _E—tFE+_HBt+tEtHE_ZC
ZF+ZBAF+RBITE; RV)20%#
ARZE—NFE+ZBA+tHEZZE
Z=F+ZHB+/RB1TE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(continued)

The table below discloses movement of the Company's

share options during the year:

41. FBBRRHEE) (&

TERRBEFRATNENZBRIELT)

Number of share options

FEREHE
Exercise price Outstanding at Lapsed during Outstanding
Type of participants Option type per share 1.4.2023 the year 31.3.2024
RIEZ=F AZEZNE
B mA—H FRN =A=+—H
SHEER R SR T W K17 BEH WRTE
HK$
BT
Director Share Options 1 31.7390 412,914 (412,914) -
£ fafe i
Share Options 3 37.2227 73,082 (73,082) -
FEf 3
Employees Share Options 1 31.7390 475,034 (475,034) -
==] fEREN
Share Options 2 38.3120 146,163 (146,163) -
fERRE2
Other eligible Participants Share Options 1 31.7390 374,544 (374,544) -
HisBEKSHE fafg i
Total 1,481,737 (1,481,737) -
fast

Exercisable at end of the year

RERATE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 41. FERRHEETEI (&
(continued)
The table below discloses movement of the Company's TRFBARBN L —FEBEREZ
share options during the prior year: e

Number of share options

BRAHE
Lapsed
Exercise price  Outstanding during  Outstanding
Type of participants Option type per share at 1.4.2022 the year 31.3.2023
g e RZEZ=fF
=7 mA—H R ZBA=+—H
2HEEh R iEER TR W RITE BERH W17
HK$
AT
Director Share Options 1 31.7390 412,914 - 412,914
£ Bk
Share Options 3 37.2227 73,082 - 73,082
BkiEs
Employees Share Options 1 31.7390 584,657 (109,623) 475,034
& FERR
Share Options 2 38.3120 146,163 - 146,163
fERRiE2
Other eligible Participants Share Options 1 31.7390 411,085 (36,541) 374,544
HttaERsaE B
Total 1,627,901 (146,164) 1,481,737
st
Exercisable at end of the year 1,481,737
RERTITRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME 41. FERRHEETEI (&

(continued)

The following table discloses movement of and TRFEEARANBIZAITHEEREE
weighted average exercise prices of the Company's R N II1TEME -

exercisable share option:

2024 2023
ZEImE BT
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average  exercisable average exercisable
exercise price options  exercise price options
TSy AlfIfE TS A7
B EREHE TEE  EREHE
HKS HK$
per share per share
S#ET SRET
Exercisable at the beginning of ~ FAEANRI{THE
the year 32.6578 1,481,737 32.5753 1,627,901
Share option lapsed during RERKM 2 B
the year 32.6578 (1,481,737) 31.7390 (146,164)
Exercisable at the end of RERATE
the year - - 32.6578 1,481,737
The consultants provided services related to the ZEBERIREBMY AR ER R
development of logistics services business and BERRGEFBERZRT - BRAR
financial guarantee services business. Such services BHAERESRMERFEEEL -

are similar as in nature to those rendered by employees
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 42. HEMBAT

(a)

Disposal of a subsidiary — Real King
International (Xi‘an) Information
Technology Company Limited

On 29 April 2022, Chinlink Glory, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Shaanxi Tianheng Investment Co., Ltd.
(“Shaanxi Tianheng”) entered into the to
which Chinlink Glory agreed to sell and Shaanxi
Tianheng agreed to acquire 100% of the
equity interest in Real King International (Xi‘an)
Information Technology Company Limited
(“Real King") for a total cash consideration of
approximately RMB132,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$153,000,000). The
purpose of the disposal is to generate cash
for the repayment of borrowings and general
working capital purpose.

The disposal was completed on 30 June 2022,
the date on which the control of Real King
by the Group ceased. Details of which were
set out in the announcement of the Company
made on 29 April 2022, 24 May 2022 and 10
June 2022 and the circular by the Company
dated 25 May 2022.

Analysis of assets and liabilities derecognised
from the consolidated financial statements at
the date of completion of disposal:

(a)

HE—RHT/E 2 B] — B = ERF
(AZ) EERBRAE]

RIE-__FWB_-+AH8 >
AARZHE2ENBRAEE
FIBIE R RAKIEBRERRE
FraE(TBREXRIE)) 5T E
EpZE Bt ZHEBIER
BHE > mMPAXRIEREW
BESER(BR)EEMK
BRAB(TER]) 2100% K
o REREEENAAR
# 132,000,000 o (FHZE 4
153,000,000 7t) - HEBH
BHEEREUEEERRAE
—REEESAR

HEERZBE-__F,B=+
H5EM > AEBRZH BT
HIES c HEFEBHREARERN
“EITFMAZ+ABR
Z__FREZF+NHERZZE
_TEXATHHMEEZAE
AARBBAZE_"FHA
ZtTRHEZER

REmtE B BAREGHMBR
REUHESBZEEREGRDN:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 42. HEMBARE (&

(continued)

(a) Disposal of a subsidiary — Real King (a) WHE—RMELE—ESER
International (Xi’an) Information (AZ) 5 ERIBHRLE (48)
Technology Company Limited
(continued)
The results of Real King for the period from RIZEZZHFWHBE—HEZZ
1 April 2022 to 30 June 2022, which has —ZEARA=1+HHH 25
been included in the consolidated statement ArEEaREMEEREAR
of profit or loss and other comprehensive BOE =RAIZEAANT ©

income were as follows:

From 1 April
2022 to
30 June 2022
BZ®_C
ME—HEZE
k=S
~B=+H
HK$'000
FHET
Revenue ON 3,140
Cost of sales THE A (472)
Gross profit el 2,668
Other income, gains and losses H A ~ W k518 (450)
Selling and distribution costs THE R DA (108)
Administrative expenses THRX (1,773)
Finance costs FATE AN (812)
Loss before tax PRI AIES1E (475)
Income tax expenses FriSfRfsz -
Loss for the period KHARS1E (475)
Other comprehensive expense HttZ2mx
ltem that maybe subsequently reclassified to ~ HBAEHHBEEEREE !
Profit or loss:
Exchange different arising on translation of R BINEREL Z ERELR
foreign operations (17,524)
Total comprehensive expenses for the period  ZHIZERI 4258 (17,999)

.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 42, HEMWBAE (&

(continued)

(a) Disposal of a subsidiary — Real King (a) WHE—RMELE—ESER
International (Xi‘an) Information (A% EEREERLE ()
Technology Company Limited
(continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities over REZEFIENETEEEREE
which control was lost: b =Lt
As at
30 June 2022
RZE__F
~A=+H
HK$°000
T#&T
Property, plant and equipment Y2 ~ BB Rkt 68,285
Investment properties "EYE 636,218
Other receivables HihpEWERIE 3,893
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEFRIRE 40
Other payables and accruals HFE(TERIE M FEST & (336,226)
Construction costs accruals FESHRERA A (20,536)
Receipts in advance FEUERIE (2,668)
Deposits received from tenants mEFWEN  HE (3,178)
Amount due to related companies FERIEARIRIE (70,853)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE (10,551)
Net assets disposed of FTHEEEZSE 264,424
Reclassification of cumulative translation  PRHEESEBRRFAESR
reserve upon disposal of Real King to REEMDEEER
profit or loss (16,286)
248,138
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEHB AT ZEIE (95,353)
Total consideration B4EZE 152,785
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: BHEEL RS MATEE .
Total cash consideration received BURE(B4EZE 152,785
Bank balances disposed of T EIRTTHEF (40)
152,745
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries - Alpha Yield
Limited and its subsidiaries

On 14 November 2022, Trillion Up, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and
owned 51% of Alpha Yield Limited which
owned 100% of MCM Holdings Limited,
Investor A and Investor B entered into the
sales and purchase agreement, pursuant to
which Trillion Up agreed to sell and each of
Investor A and Investor B agreed to purchase,
29% and 22% of the entire issued share
capital of Alpha Yield Limited respectively for
a total cash consideration of US$1,530,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,953,000)
due to deterioration of operating results and
financial performance of financial advisory
services business during the year. Upon
completion on 14 November 2022, Alpha
Yield Limited and the MCM Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries were ceased to be the
subsidiaries of the Company.

Analysis of assets and liabilities derecognised
from the consolidated financial statements at
the date of completion of disposal:
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(b)

HEMBLE —BlEFRAE

REMBLAE

A ZEZTHE+—RB+TmA
FREER2AZENBLATE
BETEABRABNS1%#E
m o MuEAERABHEEMCM
Holdings Limited Y 100% #&
@) REEBEAKREEEBRIL
BEWE > Bt > AREREY
BEERBEFNCEEER
MHEXRREE > LEREHE
REBEARKEEBE B DT
FAEREETERRASZEE
BHITIRZARAI29% K 22% » 4BIR
£ 1B%A1,530,000E 7T (HHE
R#%911,953,00087c) c RZ=E
T TE+—Bt+HEHEMRE
BEBRATKRMCM Holdings
Limited R EMf B AR R B A
NEIZHIBAT o

S HE HBGREMBR
REUHEBZEERGRDN:

.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o W 5 T R B ek
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE_Z_NF=H=+—HI:

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries - Alpha Yield
Limited and its subsidiaries (continued)
The results of Alpha Yield Limited for the
period from 1 April 2022 to 14 November
2022 which has been in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and

included

other comprehensive income were as follows:

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income, gains and losses
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs

Loss before
Income tax expenses

Loss for the period

Other comprehensive income

Item that maybe subsequently reclassified
to Profit or loss:

Exchange different arising on translation
of foreign operations

Total comprehensive expenses for
the period
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42. HEWBAE (&

(b) HEHELRE-TEEERLE
REHIE 2] (B)

A — 5 — —

N

FOB—RHE_Z

" THE+—AtHAHM B

A

é/‘ri-! Pas
N |3

BokHME2E WD

KB REARABNEGENT:

WA
54 & A

E7
HAWA ~ Wm k18
SHE R D IHM
TR

BT RS

BRI 1R
PRiSMF

EREE
HithZ Eiam

HEe SO EERm 2 IER !

RSB EBEEZERELR

AR IS ABER

From 1 April
2022 to
14 November
2022
B
mA—HEZE
B —F
+—B+mA
HK$'000
FAET

6,672
(317)

6,355
(325)
(49)
(16,398)
(166)

(10,583)

(10,583)

(10,576)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries - Alpha Yield

Limited and its subsidiaries (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities over

which control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Bank balances and cash

Other payables and accruals

Loan from staff

Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Net assets disposed of

Reclassification of cumulative translation
reserve upon disposal of Alpha Yield
Group to profit or loss

Less: non-controlling interests

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Total consideration

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Total cash consideration received
Bank balances disposed of
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(b) HEHELRE-TEEERLE

REMBLE (E)
RELHENTEEERER
E=Ei
As at
14 November
2022
MRIEZZHF
+—A+mA
HK$°000
FET
M2~ BB Rkt 585
EREESE 2,804
(S 10,222
BAFEF AR SREE
1,060
FEUW E ZER1B 17,319
HMEWERIE ~ 2 MFENHRIE
15,899
IRITEFERIRE 5,989
HENRBARETE A (21,599)
BIEx (19,526)
BHEE (236)
HEa® (2,958)
FrtEEEFEE 9,559
REECSEEERBRER
REEMDEEER
(37)
IR R (946)
8,576
HE—RBNB ARz WE 3,377
IE4EEE 11,953
BHEELZIRESRAFEE .
BUERE L E4EEE 11,953
FrHEIRITHETR (5,989)
5,964

-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE
43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 43. THAEE
Corporate guarantee VATE 45
2024 2023
“EIME “EBC=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Guarantee given to banks in respect A TR FRME S ME
of financial guarantee services BRRBMERITIEY
provided to: ZHER
— Independent third parties —BIUE=H 99,257 245,011
99,257 245,011

Details about the management of credit risk by the
Group regarding these financial guarantees are set
out in Note 48.

As at 31 March 2024, financial guarantee contracts
of approximately HK$804,000 (2023: HK$1,792,000)
represents the fair value of the financial guarantee
contracts initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation at the end of the reporting period
of approximately HK$nil (2023: HK$98,000) and
the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 of approximately
HK$804,000 (2023: HK$1,694,000). Details of the
ECL amount are set out in Note 48.

FEERZERERFREESEERAR
ZEFIBEIHIEEAS o

A ZEMFE=F=1+—H > ®EE
REHIA804,000BT(ZE =4 !
1,792,000 7T) 164 & R R B (R
BRHZATFERRRSHARZ Rt
HNZ BT (TET=4:98,000%7T)
KRGS B HEIRE LA FOHETN
BB B £ REAY804,0008 T (—ZE —
=4 :1,694,00087T) c BEAEEE
B R IB I MIEE48 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant
payroll costs or capped at HK$1,500 (based on the
choice of employees) to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Company'’s subsidiaries in the
PRC are members of retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. The relevant PRC
subsidiaries were required to contribute certain
percentages of the monthly salaries of their current
employees to fund the benefits. The employees
were entitled to retirement pension calculated with
reference to their basic salaries on retirement and
their length of service in accordance with the relevant
government regulations. The PRC government was
responsible for the pension liability to the retired
staff.

The employer’s contributions to the retirement benefit
scheme charged to profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income amounted to HK$3,483,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$4,082,000).

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was no forfeited
contribution under any defined contribution retirement
schemes available which may be used by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contributions, nor
any contribution under any defined contribution
retirement schemes was forfeited by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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IRIREFIEHE
AEERFREIEATEEEE > H#AT
BB 2EBREEZHE - SH2IEE
HAERBEESHEE WUEEA
AHTTEAEE - AEEFFERFS
AR 2 5% 3% L 1,500 50 2 EBR (3%
BEER) nEARGELTREEHE
;oo BEEMEREEMER o

AABHEANBARZB IR
FRPTEFR R EFIGTRIFIRE - B
HPENEARERRABTIR#HZ

ETEDLLMHER > BEZEAA R
BERBRER » BETRAZAZRA

EHRERKEZBERFERIRFBE
Bt E - PEBAFHRAE TAER
RENSE ©

REBEE_ZE_NE=F=+—HIHF
B BERBREMNE ZHRELR
EERREMEEKERZEHFN
b2 £%8743,483,0008 T (—E - =
£F 1 4,082,00057T) ©

N ZECNERZFI=ZF=ZR=1
—B > EERER-BRAE THE
AR A AR E RN EE
WEHMKE » BRBETZT"MF
RZEZ=—ZF=ZR=+—HLEFE
2 55 [ 0 4R 02 WA A 57 B (R RUR IR 5T
I TN AVERIMRR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

45, OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 45. RETHEXIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REEHE » KEBERUTHR S
future minimum lease receivable under noncancelable 2RISR EIE TR 2 KK
operating leases which fall due as follows: RIEEWHEERIENT :
As lessor TEALHFEN
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within one year —FR 4,511 4,968
Operating lease income represents rental receivable BEHBWAIEREEGRHEEESE
by the Group for its leasing of retail shop, offices 5~ WAERFBEAMEWZEE -
and car park.
46. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 46. BAKIE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Capital expenditure contracted for but EAEEREYEFRHZ
not provided in the consolidated [EEIESHENES S
financial statements in connection BRRIEHBHEZER
with the investment properties 53
under construction 24,932 21,426
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts, which includes the amounts due to related
companies and directors, bank and other borrowings
and 6.5%/13.0% coupon bonds’ net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves. The directors of the Company monitor
current and expected liquidity requirement as well as
the summary compliance report on loan covenants
regularly. The directors of the Company review the
capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of
this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors
of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends
and issuance of new shares as well as raising of
new bank/other borrowings or advances from related
parties and the repayment of existing bank/other
borrowings or repayment to related companies.
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ZERREHNMUFEEESNEE -
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FEBEXNEEOQEERFE > B
FEEECRAEATRESRE - IR
TREMERK6.5% / 13.0%Z2E&E
FNBRREAREEEER A AT
BEEAEGOER (BEEBTRARH
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. £FTH
48a  Categories of financial instruments 48a TRATHEDEE
2024 2023
—EmE —EI=fF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Financial assets TREE
Equity investment at FVTOCI BATESFARMEE
Witz @R E 69,605 93,443
Financial assets at R IER AT IR 2
amortised cost BRIEE 152,559 476,930
222,164 570,373
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities at HRIE AT BR 2 TR
amortised cost BE 2,380,497 2,609,600
Financial guarantee contracts REEREL 804 1,792
2,381,301 2,611,392
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade receivables, trade receivables
from related companies, loan receivables, other
receivables and deposits, equity investment at
FVTOCI, factoring receivables, amounts due to
related companies, amounts due to directors,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade payables, construction cost
accruals, other payables and accruals, loans
from staff, deposit received from tenants
and customers, bank and other borrowings,
6.5%/13.0% coupon bonds, lease liabilities
and financial guarantee contracts. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
other price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Market risk 5 e b
Several subsidiaries of the Company have NATETHE AT B UINE
foreign currency sales, which expose the FHEZHE » SAEE@EEEIS
Group to foreign currency risk. In addition, R o i BETRIKES
certain trade receivables, bank balances and BRIE N RTTHEFERENE SR
trade payables are denominated in foreign BEHUENERBRE ZINES
currencies other than the functional currency BEIN Z SMNEEHE ©
of the respective group entities.
The Group currently does not have a 7 & [E IR B O A Ah B g
foreign currency hedging policy. However, oA BIEEGERINE
management monitors foreign exchange Rl ERNREEESEHIE
exposure and will consider hedging significant KIMERE ©
foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group'’s foreign DONESHEZ A EBERKEE
currency denominated monetary assets and rRE¥EERBRESHBZERA
monetary liabilities at the reporting date are BT
as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ECME 2= BI@EFE —TT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHT FET
usD E7T - 163,988 228,108
RMB AR - 2 - -
- 9 163,988 228,108
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

For certain group entities whose functional
currency is HK$ the change in exchange rate
of its functional currency against USD or HK$
respectively has not been considered in the
sensitivity analysis below as HK$ is pegged to
USD and is always stabilised with unchanged
value to HK$. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group does not expect any
significant movements between the exchange
rate of relevant functional currency against
USD or HKS.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the exposure to foreign currency risk in relation
to RMB is minimal taking into account the
insignificant carrying amounts of the Group's
assets denominated in RMB at the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis on foreign currency risk is presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to the impact of interest-
rate changes on variable-rate bank and other
borrowings, variable-rate bank overdraft,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to the impact of interest
rate changes on lease liabilities, factoring
receivables, fixed rate loan receivables, fixed-
rate bank and other borrowings, fixed-rate
loans from staff, fixed-rate finance lease-
receivables, 6.5%/13.0% coupon bonds.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on
financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity
risk management section in this note. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the PBOC
Rate arising from the Group’s HK$ and RMB
denominated borrowings.

The Group currently does not have interest
rate hedging policy. However, management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

5 (.

AEBTA KBS H T BIRTT
REMER ~ FERBTEX
BIRIRIRITERRIRITEFN
FEMEFERTRENRER -

REBTHAMNEESHHEES
BE-EREEFRENE T
BERERBER - EEIRITREM
ER - TEEIGBR TR
FEWMERERIE 65%
13.0%ZEEFNEEME R
N EMZERR o

AEBEFTEBNERE RN X
R BN AN ERESE
TRBREE - - ZAEENIR
EREMNXRBREEZETERA
FEEUBTRAREEYN
BRELENTEARRITHE
KE) ©

7 & B 3R By A A1 5T R R
BR o AT > BEEERMX
ERKkiHBEERR  REZE
HREARHFXER ©

304 CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rj & B 2 5 FR 23 5] | Annual Report 2024 4R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERITH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HFRMEEBEREE (E)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) G R g (48

MR _E_MFER_E_=F
ZR=+—HZARRITHERF
ms > Kt RmBHIENRND
KE o BEEDRREEZ KK
BEREMNXRABHMAIEE
rate. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis on w25 B ER R 28
E&Fﬁﬁ*ﬁ °

For the variable-rate bank balances at 31
March 2024 and 2023, the directors consider
the Group's exposure to future cash flow
interest rate risk is minimal taking into account
the minimal fluctuation on market interest

interest rate risk is presented.

WM R ASEZSMBEY
FBUWA W ALEZEIIT ¢

Total interest revenue/income from financial
assets that are measured at amortised cost is
as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
gE HE
—E-UE TET=F
=BA=+—H =BA=+—H
IEEFE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Interest revenue B
Financial assets at FRARE R AT IR 2
amortised cost SREE 5,339 11,363
Other income HsA
Financial assets at FRARE R AT IR 2
amortised cost TREE 760 3,888
Total interest income FIE U A 4BZE 6,099 15,251
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) G R g (48
Interest expense on financial liabilities not IR FEFABRFTES
measured at fair value through profit or loss: TMERZFEHZ !
2024 2023
k- 111 2 BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET
Financial liabilities at HE AR
amortised cost EREE 173,499 186,115
The sensitivity analyses below were determined THBRAEDTERENRRSE
based on the exposure to interest rates for BRFERITREMMBER ~F
the variable-rate bank and other borrowings, BIRTEX RBEMRITER
variable-rate bank overdraft and pledged bank ZHRIEREE o ZAMTHERER
deposits at the end of the reporting period. The SHRZAREEGEREE
analysis was prepared assuming the amount TN BEFEEREZEMH
of liability and asset outstanding at the end o 25EEM(ZE=F:
of the reporting period was outstanding for 25EEE) AN TRARERE
the whole year. A 25 basis points (2023: 25 B EESEBR FAMEZA
basis points) increase or decrease represented pEZAE o

management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.
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A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

If interest rates had been 25 basis points
(2023: 25 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$2,991,000 (2023: loss for the year ended
31 March 2023 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$3,339,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent interest rate risk as the end of
the reporting period exposure does not reflect
the exposure during the year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in unlisted equity
instruments measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI.
The Group currently does not have the risk
hedging policy. However, management
monitors the risk exposure and will consider
hedging significant price risk exposure should

the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)

policies (continued)
Other price risk (continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the exposure to equity price risk in relation to
unlisted equity instruments measured at FVTPL
and FVTOCI is minimal taking into account
their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis on other price risk is presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the amount of contingent
liabilities in relation to financial guarantees
provided by the Group as disclosed in Note
43. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risks associated with factoring
receivables and financial guarantee contracts
is mitigated because they are secured over the
plant and equipment leased, trade receivables
of counterparties and upfront deposit received
in financial guarantee contracts.

BB a5 (E

AABDEERR P K5t R
BAFEst A ABmstBZIFE
mREDTERREARZERE
B> BUERAFEFART
BT ES ARMERE WS
BZFEmRETRERARZRK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or
based on provision matrix. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HHEMREIEBRREBER (B)

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

In order to minimise the credit risks of the
loan receivables, only referral customers and
short term borrowing requests are accepted.
Besides, the credit department is responsible
for formulating appropriate credit policies.
It also conducts background and credit
searches and carries out credit assessment
and submits proposal to executive directors
of the Company for further consideration.
Then the executive directors of the Company
take reference of this information and
assess the financial position of each referral
customer to consider if the loan is approved.
Subsequently, the credit department performs
subsequent loan review regularly to assess if
any outstanding loan requires attention to its
collectability. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

= B R B EL ()

%ﬁ:FTEEFEH&%fTAZTDfﬂEm )
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A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

In relation to the Group’s provision of
guarantees to secure obligations of customers
for repayment of their bank borrowings, if there
is a default in repayment by these customers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding bank borrowings together with
any accrued interests and penalties owed by
the customers to banks. Such guarantees will
be released by banks upon the repayment of
the underlying loans. In order to minimise
the credit risks of these loans, only referral
customers are accepted and short term
guarantees are granted. Besides, the credit
department conduct background and credit
searches and submit to executive directors of
the Company for further consideration. Then
the executive directors of the Company take
reference of this information and assess the
financial position of each referral customer
before the guarantee is granted. Upfront
deposit will also be received at the start of
the financial guarantee contracts. In addition,
the credit department performs site visit and
loan review regularly to ensure follow up
action is taken to recover overdue debts, if
any. Further, certain portion of these loans
had been settled by the customers to banks
subsequently. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk on such guarantees is significantly
reduced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and M RAREIEBRREBER (&

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

For factoring receivables, it is secured by
the trade receivables of the counterparties.
Besides, the Group monitors financial position
of debtors of other receivables closely and
follow-up action will be taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12 months ECL for pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. Based on
the average loss rates, the 12 months ECL on
pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore
no loss allowance was recognised.

= B R B EL ()
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48.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE_%

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical location is in Hong Kong, which
accounts for 58.63% (2023: 52.45%) of the
trade receivables and 14.35% (2023: 45.59%)
of the loan receivables.

Other than the concentration of credit risk
on bank balances and pledged bank deposits
which are placed with several banks of high
credit ratings, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk
except for the loan receivables. As at 31 March
2024, 14.35% (2023: 45.59%) of the loan
receivables are due from two (2023: two)
individual borrowers. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the individual borrowers had
entered into extension agreement with the
Company. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company consider the risk has been properly
addressed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

» A ;\
wn o W15 TR B AR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE
48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal

credit rating  Description

NEEETR

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and
does not have any past-due amounts

Rk RBUFEBRENRRRIL BT ARRIE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle after due date

BERE BEHEANCERIBEENEBREENEHEREE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
external resources

R BRAEFMSER NG REHN B SH#R
DRGSR EEEREM

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

518 BRBELZEECHRESRE

Write-off There is evidence indicating hat the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

i BRBEELEEABAREMHEE B AEE

WEIREIRURR BRI A

48.

®RITR (&
48b B RS

EEERKBER (&)

= B R B EL ()

7 £ [ 9 2 15 65 L IR ST AR BT A
BELTER

Trade receivables

B ZRE

Lifetime ECL

- not credit-impaired
L HEREEEE

- REREERE
Lifetime ECL

- not credit-impaired
THEREEERE

—REREERE
Lifetime ECL

- not credit-impaired

SHRIMEERE
—REREERE
Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
HEREERE
—-EREERE

Amount is written off

Gk
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Other financial assets/
other items

HiteREE HitEE

12-month ECL

12BRBRHEERE

12-month ECL

REREHEEEE

Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired

2HRIEERE
- RHREERE
Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
HRREERE
- EREERE

Amount is written off

bk



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. =T A (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMMEBEIEBRREBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERE R ET G ()
(continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk TREMNR _ZE_WFEF=A=
exposures of the Group's financial assets at +—8 > NEEBETHEIAE
amortised cost, trade receivables-operating BRI 4 2 g iH a5 iR
leases, trade receivables from related company ZEREE > BKREBFIRE—
and financial guarantee contracts, which are KERE EREEATE S
subject to ECL assessment as at 31 March REKMERERFRENZEER
2024: %
Internal Gross carrying
External credit 12-month or amounts at
Notes  credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2024
RIEZmE
e A 12ER5 28 =ZR=+-B2
2024 “SOmE i GEMMR e BEEGESH REE
HK$'000
Fix
Financial assets at  IRESBHATIEZ
amortised cost tREE
Loan receivables fElE 24 N/A Low risk' ~ 12-month ECL
TER HER NEREHEESE 12,177
Loss' Lifetime ECL
B - credit impaired
PHBHEESE
—HREEHE 72,707
84,884
Factoring receivables  FEUBERETE 25 N/A Low sk’ 12-month ECL
TER BERE REREHEERE 18,573
Watch List' ~ 12-month ECL
Eres ERBEEESE 38,810
Loss' Lifetime ECL
Ba - credit impaired
SHBHEESE
~HREERE 40,682
98,065
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERIT H (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b WMHRMBEBIEBEERBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R E G (8)
(continued)
Internal Gross carrying
External credit 12-month or amounts at
Notes  credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2024
RZBZME
e ki 12(8R52H ZA=+-Rz
2024 _ECME ik Bk  GETHR  FEBEESE HERE(E
HK$'000
TAT
Pledged bank deposits B iEIFSE(TER 27 AMAorAA+  N/A 12-month ECL
AMATIAA+ER  TER 2{EREHEERE 56,346
Bank balances RITER 28 AMAorAA+  NA 12-month ECL
AMATIAAER B REREHEERE 7,523
Other receivables and ~ HHEWEREREE 26 N/A Low risk' ~ 12-month ECL
deposits TER EERE REREHEERE 22,899
Watch list'"  12-month ECL
ERLE ERRHEESE 171
Loss' Lifetime ECL
L - credit impaired
SHBHEESE
~HREERE 12,255
35,325
Trade receivables ErE 26 N/A Doubtful?  Lifetime ECL
- goods and services  — SRR TER RER? - not credit impaired
SHBHEESE
—RREEAE 1,640
Loss? Lifetime ECL
B8 - credit impaired
2HEREESE
—HREEHE 12,400
14,040
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A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERITH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMMEBEIEBRREBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment &5 E R R E L (8)
(continued)
Internal Gross carrying
External credit 12-month or amounts at
Notes  credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2024
AZECNE
e ki 12(8R52H =A=+-8z
2024 —ZmE It GEHR GEIR EBEESE HERE(E
HK$'000
TR
Other items HitIEE
Trade receivables BB ZHE 26 N/A Doubtful?  Lifetime ECL
- operating lease —EHE TER RER? - not credit-impaired
2HEHEERS
- REREEHE 319
Trade receivables from  FEUEEAT] 26 N/A Low risk'  12-month ECL
related company B5RE Nl EEE 1ERREEESE 1,179
Trade receivables EREZRE 26 N/A Doubtful  Lifetime ECL
- financial quarantee ~ —BIBEREY TEA RIE - not credit-impaired
contracts 2HEHEERS
- REREEHE 261
Loss? Lifetime ECL
B8 - credit-impaired
2HEREESE
-EREERE 217
478
Financial liabilities tHBR 43 N/A Low risk®  Lifetime ECL
- financial guarantee  —FEIERAEN TER e - not credit-impaired
contracts 2HBREESE
- REREEHRE 100,061
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A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48.

(continued)

48b  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets at
amortised cost, trade receivables-operating
leases, trade receivables from related company

and financial guarantee contracts, which are
subject to ECL assessment as at 31 March

2023:
External
Notes  credit rating
e
2023 _Z_=F & EEHR
Financial assets at B ASIRZ
amortised cost SRIEE
Loan receivables ERER 24 N/A
TEA

EMIRGE
48b  MBEMEEEIRREEE (&

Internal
credit
rating

i
E

Low risk’
BER
Watch list!
BEnE
Loss'

BE

= B R B EL ()

TREMN _SE_=ZF=H=
+—HB > AEEBETEIE
BEEET G 2 B A S iR
EREE BREZRE—
REHRE  BURBAEARES
RERBEERAENZEER

oo |
ZZNI

Gross carrying

12-month or amounts at
lifetime ECL 31 March 2023
RZEZ=
28R 2H =B=+-Rz
BEEEEE REE
HK$'000
T#7
12-month ECL
EABHEESE 58,048
12-month ECL
1EARHEESE 57,863
Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
LHBREERE 23,730
—HREEHE
139,641
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48.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERITH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMMEBEIEBRREBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment &5 E R R E L (8)
(continued)
Internal Gross carrying
External credit 12-month or amounts at
Notes  credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2023
N R 12(8R%2H =B=+-RHz
2023 “EocE Iz GEM  EEIMR  FHEEEE HRmEE
HK$'000
TR
Factoring receivables  EMEZ{RIEE 25 N/A Low risk"  12-month ECL
TEA RER 1EARHEESE 96,964
Watch list'  12-month ECL
EreE  NEREHEESE 98,333
195,297
Pledged bank deposits ~ EIEIFRITEM 27 AAAorAA+  N/A 12-month ECL
AMAZIAAHR  FER NEABHEESE 80,694
Bank balances R 28 AMAorAA+  NA 12-month ECL
AAZAAHE  TEH 12BRBHEEEE 90,197
Other receivables and ~ EMEKREREE 26 N/A Low sk’ 12-month ECL
deposits TEH EREE REREHEESE 19,548
Watch list'  12-month ECL
BB ERBHEERR 1778
Loss' Lifetime ECL
B - credit-impaired
SHEBEERE 15,445
-HREEHE
36,771
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_NF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERITH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HHEMREZEERMECR (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment &5 E R R E L (8)
(continued)
Internal Gross carrying
External credit 12-month or amounts at
Notes  credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2023
RIEZ=f
s PeE 12{8R52H =A=t+-Rz
2023 _ZCE i GEM  GEIM  BHEEEE HREE
HKS$'000
TR
Trade receivables EWEZEE 2 N/A Low risk?  Lifetime ECL
- goods and services  —ERKIRH TEA EER - not credit-impaired
SHEBEERE 699
- RXEREERE
Doubtful?  Lifetime ECL
R - not credit-impaired
SHEBEERE 3174
- RXEREERE
Loss? Lifetime ECL
iR - credit-impaired
SHEBEERE 10,987
~-HREERE
14,860
Other items HttIBE
Trade receivables B ZERE 26 N/A Low risk?  Lifetime ECL
- operating lease -REHE TER R - not credit-impaired
2HRREERR 197
- REREERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R E G (8)
(continued)
Internal Gross carrying
External credit 12-month or amounts at
Notes  credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2023
RIEZ=f
s g 12{8R52H =A=t+-Rz
2023 “F°CE I GEM  GEM  BHEEEE HREE
HKS$'000
TER
Trade receivables from  FEWEIEAT 26 N/A Low risk"  12-month ECL
related company BB TEA RER EARHEESE 1,249
Trade receivables EWEZEE 26 N/A Low riskz  Lifetime ECL
- financial guarantee  —REIEREH TEA EER - not credit-impaired
contracts 2HRHEERS 39
- RUREERE
Doubtful?  Lifetime ECL
RER? - not credit-impaired
2HRREERR 1,491
- REREERE
1,530
Financial liabilities tHBE 43 N/A Low risk®  Lifetime ECL
- financial quarantee  — BEREREK TEA R - not credit-impaired
contracts 2HRHEERR 246,705
- FHREERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIBEMREBIEBRREBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R E G (8)
(continued)
Notes: ByaE -

For the purposes of internal credit risk
management, the Group uses internal credit
rating information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

For trade receivables — goods and services,
trade receivables — operating lease and trade
receivables — financial guarantee contracts,
the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors
with significant outstanding balances or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by
using a provision matrix, grouped by aging.

For financial liabilities — financial guarantee
contracts, the gross carrying amount
represents the maximum amount the
Group has guaranteed under the respective
contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

As part of the Group’ s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the
impairment for its customers in relation to
its trade customers because these customers
consist of a large number of small customers
with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables — goods and services,
trade receivables — operating lease and trade
receivables — financial guarantee contracts
which are assessed based on provision matrix
as at 31 March 2024 within lifetime ECL (not
credit impaired). Debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit impaired with
gross carrying amounts of HK$12,617,000 as
at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$10,987,000)
were assessed individually.

Provision of ECL on trade receivables

As part of the Group's credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the
impairment for its customers because these
customers consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The following
table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed on a collective basis by using
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired).
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48. =RMT A (&

48b

R EIEBRKRBUR (B)

IEE B R EE S ()

ERTEBEERMEBIEY —
4y > ANEBE LB AR ERER
MEEBSELAFHGHEREZRE
B WhHRZERREES
FRZHRBEHER 2 /NE
BE > MZERABRREXRELIR
BEMNBRRZAPAERAMRIE
ZEEN c TRIEHBERNZZE
“HHE=ZB=+—HIREERE
EETEEAEREESERN
(RHEREERB) ZERES
RIE-Em&MRE - BKES
RIE-REHEUREKRES
RE-MEERENZEER
BrBR  RZEBE-_ME=A4
=+ HEAEAXREBEERTIR
HIREEREZEBERZE
RMEE 12,617,000 (ZF =
=4 110,987,000/ 7T) L B
TS ©

RWEZREZAREEHER
i
ERrEREERREEZ —
o AEEUBWIRTRERE
SFMEEERZEE  LhER
ZEFZRARRERZERR
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B AREREPIRE SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R E G (8)
(continued)
Provision of ECL on trade receivables FEWE ZIRIBEZ B E A
(continued) B (8)
Allowance
Expected Gross for
credit loss Carrying  expected
rate amount credit loss
TEEAEE TEHAEE

BEE  REKREE GRS
%  HKS$'000  HKS$'000

As at 31 March 2024 RIZE-_NFE=A=+—H FHT FHET
Current (not past due)  BDER (ki#EHA) 58.0% 1,376 798
1-30 days —BE=+H 81.3% 107 87
31-60 days =—+—HZERTH 82.2% 213 175
61-90 days ~NT—BEA+H 84.9% 53 45
91-365 days h+—BE=8G,"x+xH 87.9% 471 414
Individual assessed 8 55T {H 100% 12,617 12,617
14,837 14,136

Allowance

Expected Gross for

credit loss Carrying expected

rate amount  credit loss

TEHREE TERREE

BRE  REEE  BRERE
%  HK$'000  HK$'000

As at 31 March 2023 W_E_=F=H=+—H FET FHE7T
Current (not past due)  BIHR (RiEHR) 10.8% 1,790 193
1-30 days —HE=+H 14.3% 356 51
31-60 days =+—H=EXR+H 17.0% 712 121
61-90 days ~t+—HEA+H 19.3% 83 16
91-365 days h+—BE=\/1+aH 21.2% 2,659 565
Individual assessed (EGIERRE 100% 10,987 10,987

16,587 11,933
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERIT H (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIHEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERE R ET G ()
(continued)
Loan receivables FEWRE =k
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
R{EEE
MHEREIE  Frksia= BE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2024 WIEZNFE=HA=+—H FHET F#ET
Low risk R b 12,177 2.9% 355
Loss 518 72,707 100% 72,707
84,884 86.1% 73,062
Factoring receivables FEW E E (RIETRIE
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
REEE
EEREIE  FrEsia= B
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2024 WZZ-ZME=H=+—H FHET FAET
Low risk /= g2 18,573 1.7% 318
Watch list B E 38,810 22.1% 8,567
Loss J5Ei=] 40,682 91.4% 37,178
98,065 47.0% 46,063

-
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A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48.

(continued)

48b  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables and deposits

As at 31 March 2024 WZ-ZE_M@OFE=HB=+—H

Low risk 6L @ B
Watch list BRIESEE
Loss 518

Trade receivables from related companies

As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_NMNE=HA=+—H

Low risk {6 & B

EMIRGE
48b  BIBEMERERRECK (&)

EERERR R B ()

HEWIRIER %S

Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
BRI
MHEREIE  Frksia= BE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
22,899 2.7% 618
171 25.1% 43
12,255 100% 12,255
35,325 36.6% 12,916

FEWRERATI 2 B ZRIE
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
REEE
MEREE  FOssiaxR A
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FAT
1,179 0.5% 6
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERIT H (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= Bz R R E s (42)
(continued)
Financial liabilities — financial guarantee SHAaE-EEESY
contracts
Corporate Impairment
guarantee Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
ATER R{EEE
% FIEEX e
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2024 RZZEZNME=ZA=+—H FAET FHET
Low risk /= B2 100,061 0.8% 804
Loan receivables FEWRE =k
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
R{EEE
EEREIE  FEsia= BE
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2023 RIZE-=F=H=+—H FHET FAET
Low risk aia9Ea 58,048 3.2% 1,861
Watch list B E 57,863 19.8% 11,433
Loss SEi=] 23,730 100% 23,730
139,641 26.5% 37,024

-
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A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE_%

48.
(continued)

ZE=A=+t—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48.

48b  Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Factoring receivables

As at 31 March 2023

Low risk
Watch list

K-®-=£=A=+—H

(29
EiERE

Other receivables and deposits

As at 31 March 2023

Low risk
Watch list
Loss

RZE_=%=A=+—H

29z
EiERE
518

EMIRGE
48b  BIBEMERERRECK (&)

IEE B R EE S ()

FEU P 2 (RIETRIAE

Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
RS
WERME(E FIIESIEER B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
96,964 1.0% 936
98,333 19.8% 19,430
195,297 10.4% 20,366

HittEIKARIAE R IZE
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
ERS1E
MERTE(E TIIRSIEER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
19,548 3.0% 593
1,778 19.7% 351
15,445 100% 15,445
36,771 44.6% 16,389
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g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMMEBEIEBRREBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R R E G (8)
(continued)
Trade receivables from related companies FEWREARIZ B ZRIE
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
ERSE
MEREE FIIRIEE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2023 RZIZEZ=F=H=+—H FHET FHET
Low risk R E kR 1,249 0.4% 5
Financial liabilities - financial guarantee EHBE-MERFREL
contracts
Corporate Impairment
guarantee Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
REEMR ERTIE
R THESIEX e
HK$000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2023 RIZEZ=F=H=+—H FHET F#ET
Low risk 9N 246,705 0.7% 1,694

-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIBEMREBIEBRREBER (&

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure relevant information about specific

debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2024,
an allowance for expected credit losses of
HK$2,305,000 (2023: HK$2,416,000) was
made on trade receivables — goods and
services and HK$243,000 (2023: HK$15,000)
was reversed.

= B R B EL ()

et BRI ERBRERER
RHFHRZEEHRENL
KREE > WIREBEBAEETL
ERANE AP ERF Z AT
MEMEHAR - EEEETE
HERSEDAUBRREER
BAZBEERHSUER o

BME_Z-_NMF=A=+—H
IFFE > MEKRESKRE-&S
mMREIER AR E BB
52,305,000/ (Z2E =4
2,416,000/ 7T) K #[61243,000
BIU(ZE_=4:15000%F
JT) ©
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and 48b

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment =

(continued)

The following table shows the movements
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for
trade receivables — goods and services under

the simplified approach.

As at 1 April 2022

- Transfer to credit-impaired

- Disposal of a subsidiary

— Impairment loss recognised

- Impairment loss reversal
for the year

— Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2023 and
1 April 2024
- Transfer to credit-impaired
— Impairment loss recognised
- Impairment loss reversal
for the year
— Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. =T A (&

TRETRESLEZMEWE
SERE-ERkRBERZE
HATERRE BRI E) o
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit- Total
impaired) impaired) amount
EHEEE Z2HEBEE
B8 CREIR 518 (LHRE
E8RE) HiRfE) k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT TR TAET
RZEZZ£MA—H 1,037 8,699 9,736
—BEEHRESRE (508) 508 =
—HE—ENEAR (468) - (468)
—BERRERSE 606 1,810 2,416
—FRRERBED
(15) S (15)
—EREE ) (30) (32)
RZEZ=5£=B=+—H
RZE_MEMA—H 650 10,987 11,637
—EREHRESHE (502) 502 =
—BERRERSE 1,064 1,241 2,305
—FRRERBED
(80) (163) (243)
—ERAE (17) (167) (184)
RZE-ME=F=+—H 1,115 12,400 13,515

MR EIEBRKRBER (&

E R R EE L (B)

I=§=|

-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following table shows the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for
trade receivable — operating lease under the
simplified approach.

As at 1 April 2022
Impairment loss reversal for the year
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

Impairment loss recognised
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2024

48. WM T A&
48b BIHEMEEEEREE(E
= B[ K BT (4E)
T%%?@#%%%#TW%

SRE-KEHERISZE
TREEEEIRES -

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

2 HATAHA

58518

(KRR

EERE)

HK$'000

FHT

=St 211 = B =| 3

FRREREER (1)

bE SRR (1)
RZZ2Z=F=A=+—Bk

—F_=HNA—H 1

BRTRESE 181

ERAE )

RIZEZME=A=+—H 180
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following table shows the movements
of loss allowances that has been recognised
for trade receivables — financial guarantee
contract, financial liabilities — financial
guarantee contracts and trade receivables
from related companies under 12-month ECL

and lifetime ECL — not credit impaired.

Trade

receivables

from related

company -

12-month

ECL

EhmEEAT

2BARE-

NERESE

gFR

HKS'000

Thn

As at 1 April 2022 W-%-ZEMmE-A 6
- Transfer to lfetime ECL -BERLHRREEE S
- Impairment loss recognied -DEHESE S
- Impairment loss reversal for the year ~ ~ERAERERE S

- Fxchange redlignment -ERFE (1)

As at 31 March 2023 and R-B_=F=B=+-HR

1 April 2023 Z5CZEMB-A 5

- Transfer to credit-mpaired o E -
- Impairment loss recogpised -DEHERE 1
- Impairment loss reversal for the year ~ ~ERAEFEAR S
- Fichange realignment -EREE s
As at 31 March 2024 RZEF_MEZA=+-A 6
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48.

Trade
receivables -
financial
guarantee
contracts -
12-month ECL
EHERRE-
HEERaS-
2EREHE
a5k
HK$'000
Thn

ST A&
48b M EMEEBZ KRB (&
= B[ K BT (4E)
TRETEREB12EARHAE
EFEREHAERESHRE -
FHBEERENEWRE SR
BH-MEBEEREHN - EMAE
BE-REEREN B EE
NEZ BRRIBME 2 1B 1
CFZ-L
Trade receivables - Financial
financial quarantee ~ Trade receivables - liabilities -
contracts -~ financial guarantee Financial
lifetime ECL - contracts-  quarantee
(not credit- lifetime ECL-  contracts -
impaired)  (credit-impaired)  12-month ECL  Total
mhgaps-  SUERER-  omeq-
HagRen-  HRARSA- pEegen-
MENEEGE-  GHEEEERR-  n@RENE
(REREEAE)  (tRESHE) gFR 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000
Tn Thn Tén Tin
- - 203 2088
2 2 - -
13 - - 13
(6 - (m)
(" - (n (19
295 - 1694 1,99
(84) 8 - -
198 139 - 338
(173) - 84 (©97)
(12) (6 8) (104
2 n1 804 1,251
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIBEMREBIEBRREBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERE R ET G ()
(continued)

TREHIERF12EREHRE
BEEAREHBRRESHIEM
H B ERIB R IR TR 28
BEEHEZHIER -

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for other
receivables and deposits under 12-month ECL
and lifetime ECL.

12-month Lifetime ECL
ECL  (credit-impaired) Total

PHEMEE

12{BR T B (HH
BEBE EEHE) fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TR
As at 1 April 2022 312 B 665 13,633 14,298
— Transfer to 12-month ECL -BRENERREEEER 517 (517) =
- Transfer to credit-impaired ~BEEHREEAE (120) 120 -
- Impairment loss recognised -ERRAEEE 586 3,152 3,738
~ Impairment loss reversal for the year —ERAEHEEED (626) S (626)
- Exchange realignment —ERAE (78) (943) (1,021)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZZE-=£=B=+-AkK

—Z--EmA-H 944 15,445 16,389
- Impairment loss recognised -BRRHESR 238 - 238
~ Impairment loss reversal for the year — N ERSBELD (465) (2,348) (2,813)
- Exchange realignment —[ERAE (56) (842) (898)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE_MFE=A=+-A 661 12,255 12,916
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIBEMREBIEBRREBER (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERE R ET G ()
(continued)
The following table shows movements of loss TRETORE12E 8 FEHE
allowance that has been recognised for loan EFiEREHATERESSEERM
receivables and factoring receivables under FEWE T BN i £ RIERIE
12-month ECL and lifetime ECL. MR B IREEES o
Lifetime
12-month ECL (credit-
ECL impaired) Total
2HBHEE
12{8ATEH B (LR
EEER EERE) g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#n TR TR
As at 1 April 2022 AZE__EMA-A 2,967 - 2,967
- Transfer to credit-impaired ~BREEHWRESAE (355) 355 -
- Impairment loss recognised -BRDAESE 11,095 23315 34,410
- Impairment loss reversal for the year —ERREHEEE (#13) S (413)
- Exchange realignment -ERHER - 60 60

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 A_EZ=£=B=1+-H

RZE2-=%£MA—H 13,294 23,730 37,024
— Transfer to credit-impaired -EREERERAE (10,326) 10,326 -
— Impairment loss recognised -BRIRESE - 40,950 40,950
- Impairment loss reversal for the year —FREESEEE (2,613) - (2,613)
- Exchange realignment —ERAE S (2,299) (2,299)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=A=+-A 355 72,707 73,062
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R E G (8)
(continued)
Factoring receivables
Lifetime
12-month ECL (credit-
ECL impaired) Total
2GR
12{8R B4 B (LR
H=(3 E&HME) g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR
As at 1 April 2022 AZ8__#MA-A 1,161 - 1,161
- Impairment loss recognised —BHRERE 19,216 = 19,216
- Exchange realignment -ERAR (1 S (1
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=f=A=1+-H
RZEZZEMA-A 20,366 - 20,366
— Transfer to credit-impaired -EEFHBREEAE (15,517) 15,517 =
~ Impairment loss recognised -ERRAERE 8,444 28,161 36,605
— Impairment loss reversal for the year —ERHERBELD (4,095) (5,413) (9,508)
- Exchange realignment -ERBE (313) (1,087) (1,400)
As at 31 March 2024 RZF-ME=A=1-H 8,885 37,178 46,063
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48.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE_%

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The Group has assessed the financial position
of the debtors of loan receivables and factoring
receivables at the end of the reporting period
using internal credit rating and concluded
that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition during
the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group
also considered the credit risk on pledged
bank deposits and bank balances is limited
since they are placed with banks with high
credit ratings. Accordingly, no loss allowance
is made for pledged bank deposits and
bank balances for the year ended 31 March
2024. As at 31 March 2024, an allowance
of for expected credit losses HK$73,062,000
(2023: HK$37,024,000) and HK$46,063,000
(2023: HK$20,366,000) was recognised on
loan receivables and factoring receivables
respectively.
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= B R B EL ()

RBEHER  AEEEHKARN
IS ETRE BN E R EY
BAEREBERBZEBAZTKE
RTETHE > RAGEERR
BHE_T_NE=B=+—
EﬁigmiﬁmuXﬁm%
EBN e AEBENTRA
ﬁﬁﬁﬁrﬁ&ﬁﬁmrzm
ERBRER  FREERELE
ENESGEEFRZIERIT o &
> EZE-WE=Z/=+
—HLEEE > BMERBIKRER
TERRIBRITEEERGEE
#H oM TE_MWE=ZA=+—
B > BRI U E 7R FE W 2
RIERBED B ERTBHEERS
18 73,062,000 T (2=
Z =4 137,024,000 1) &
46,063,000 T (ZE =4 :
20,366,000 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

= B R B EL ()

For trade receivables-financial guarantee MEWEZRE—MEBERERS
contracts, the Group has performed AME > AEBESRBREHRE

impairment assessment at the end of the
reporting period and concluded that there
has been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts during the year ended 31
March 2024. Accordingly, the loss allowance
for financial guarantee contracts issued by
the Group is measured at an amount equal to
12 months ECL and reversal of allowance of
HK$173,000 (2023: HK$6,000) was recognised
in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2024. An allowance of HK$337,000
(2023: HK$273,000) was recognised on
financial guarantee contract as at 31 March
2024.

ETRENE > RAEERR
BEE_ZE_NWE=B=+—
HEFEYTEIMEERS
ALITRIE B ZIE I o FIE >
AEBEFRELMBERENZ
BIEBEEBER 1268
EHEERBZSBEtE M
HEZZE-_MF=/B=+—H
IEFERBR AR EERD
173,000 (=& 2=
6,00087) e RZEZIMF =
B=+—H BEimEERS
NSRBI 337,000/8 L (28
=4 :273,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

The Group relied on bank and other borrowings
as a significant source of liquidity. The Group
monitored and reviewed periodically the
conditions of loan covenants of the existing
banking facilities and tried all efforts to comply
with the loan covenants. In case of any breach
of the loan covenants noted, the Group would
communicate with the respective bank to
discuss the possibility of revising the relevant
loan covenants and arranging for waiver of
immediate repayment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZE—

48.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group incurred a net loss from continuing
operations and net loss for the year of
approximately HK$385,126,000 (2023:
HK$378,275,000). As of 31 March 2024,
the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$1,454,031,000 (2023:
HK$1,460,206,000), while its bank balances
and cash amounted to approximately
HK$7,606,000 (2023: HK$90,286,000) only
as at 31 March 2024. In addition, the Group
had outstanding borrowings and bonds of
approximately HK$1,256,286,000 (2023:
HK1,548,526,000) and HK$266,363,000
(2023: HK$328,757,000) respectively which
were repayable on demand or due for
repayment or renewal in the next twelve
months after 31 March 2024. The Group
has defaulted in repayment of principals
and interest of borrowings and bonds of
approximately HK$178,348,000 (2023:
HK$17,807,000) and HK$40,278,000 (2023:
HK$347,000) respectively as at 31 March
2024, as a result the carrying amounts
of the defaulted borrowings and bonds
of approximately HK$930,092,000 (2023:
HK$18,154,000) and HK$163,988,000
(2023: HK$nil) respectively as at 31 March
2024 were repayable on demand as of
31 March 2024. The default of these
borrowings and bonds triggered cross
default of another borrowing, approximately
HK$17,713,000 (2023: HK$32,405,000) as
at 31 March 2024, which was originally due
for repayment in December 2024. The bank
and financial institutions are contractually
entitled to request for immediate repayment
of the outstanding borrowings and bonds
of approximately HK$947,805,000 (2023:
HK$50,559,000) and HK$163,988,000
(2023: HK$nil) respectively as at 31
March 2024. Further details are set out in
Note 37 and Note 38. These events and
conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern.

ZNME=A=t—HILFE

48.

EMIRGE
48b  BIFEREIEERREE (#

P s@]é@ﬂ ? (&

454 031 0007%75(
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7606000,%71:(_“:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HHEMREIEBRREBER (B)

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) BB ()

The directors of the Company have BESEKH K TIEIEE

performed an assessment of the Group's
future liquidity and cash flows, taking into
account the following matters:

(i)

(i)

the Group is seeking to accelerate the
construction progress and thereby the
preselling of the service apartments
of the Phase Two Development (as
defined below). The proceeds arising
therefrom will be used for settling
the construction fees, repayment of
existing loan facilities and general
working capital;

the Company has actively negotiated
with banks and financial institutions
to secure the renewals of the Group’s
bonds and borrowings to meet its
liabilities when they fall due;

(a) the Group has requested
extending the repayment of
the defaulted principals and
interests of the bank and other
borrowings of approximately
HK$23,743,000 and HK$30,895,000
respectively. The directors of
the Company are confident
in further extending the
repayment of the principals of
the bank and other borrowings
taking into consideration the
long-term relationship with
the lenders. However, the
extensions were subject to
final approval by the lenders
as of the date of these
audited consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERITH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TENE LA ()
(i) (continued) (i) (#8)
(b) On 22 September 2023, by RHIEZ=ZFAh
the Group entered into a BZ+ZH » &

supplemental deed in respect
of the settlement and purchase
deed with a financial institution
for 13.0%
According to the supplemental

coupon bonds.

deed, the Group agreed to
repay accrued interest and
principal in a total amount of
approximately US$10,700,000
in two tranches on or before
2023. Upon
fulfilment of

31 December
the Group's
the conditions, the Group
will obtain a discount for
repayment of the remaining
balance in the last instalment.
However, the Group failed to
repay as scheduled. The Group
has been actively negotiating
with the financial institution
for the rescheduled repayment
plan and the directors of the
Company are confident that
the rescheduled repayment
plan will be agreed with the
financial institution.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

the Group has received written
confirmation dated 28 June 2024
from Mr. Li, the ultimate controlling
shareholder, that he will provide
continuing financial support to the
Group to enable the Group to meet
its financial obligations as and when
they fall due for the foreseeable
future, and agreed not to demand
repayment of any of the amounts due
to him by the Group in the next twelve
months from the date of approval for
issue of these consolidated financial
statements;

the Group has taken measures to
tighten cost controls over production
costs and expenses with the aim of
attaining profitable and positive cash
flows from its operations;

the Group may consider to dispose
non-core business and/or financial
assets if required; and

the Group is currently soliciting
different sources of funds, including
additional banking facilities to further
support the Group’s funding needs
should the aforesaid operating cash
inflows turned out to be less than
forecasted
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. EMTH (&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIFEMEBIEERREBER (E)

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The directors of the Company have

considered the above measures and
refinancing plans and believe that the
Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the foreseeable future. On this basis,
the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
However, should the above refinancing plans
not be able to be implemented successfully,
or the existing facilities provided by Mr.
Li are no longer available to the Group,
the Group may not have sufficient funds
to operate as a going concern, in which
case adjustments might have to be made to
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to reclassify the
non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively and to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise.

REET R (B

TRBREFCER LB
BRESI IR/ TERRE
ERENEZEEERHEER
HESRBETHEHRAIARR R
EZMBEE - FUILER
b REMBRRERETERL
EEERR A LA
BRESEREMRNBETHE
EEABAEREFREMEMR
PIRAME » AEBERLHE
EHETRHELE > RILER
T JEARETEREEZ R
HEABEHJWOEEE &
FRBEERFRBEEDF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

48b  Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity tables

31 March 2024

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Deposits received from tenants
and customers

Lease fiabiities

Construction costs accruals

Amounts due to directors

Amounts due to related
companies

Loans from staff

Other borrowing - fived rate

Bank borrowings - fised rate

Bank borrowings - variable rate

6.5% coupon bonds - fixed rate

13.0% coupon bonds - fixed rate
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERTH (4&
(continued)
48b  Financial risk management objectives and 48b HIHEMEBIEERREBER (E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity tables (continued) RENEZSE (B)

Weighted Total carmying
average  On demand Total  amounts at
effectie orlessthan 3 months to 1-2 Over  undiscounted 31 March

interest rate 3 months 1 year years 2years  cash flows 3
S
mEM  BENE FHERE ZBIt-E

BRIE  ORSER ZBRE-F -ERE BERE  REMR  JUREE
Speramum  HKSOD0  HKSOD  HKPOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOD0  HK$'000
EfIE% TEn tEn  TEn TEn TEn TEn

31 March 2023 ZEZEZA=+-A
Trade payables ENEREE - 705 = = = 705 705
Other payables and accruals EtE(REREER - 154,999 = s s 154,999 154,999
Deposit received from tenants PERRERUE e

and customers - 24334 - - - 24334 24334
Lease liabiltes i 9.19 1,176 5879 7,055 16,945 31,055 U9
Construction costs accruzls EigSns - 347478 - - - s 347478
Amounts due to directors RS 1197 = - = 3978 34,035
Amounts due to related companies  [ERIERATEE 1468 e - 115,08 e 115,089 8,626
Loans from staff 8187 1250 1415 5299 - - 6,714 6,339
Other borrowing - fied rate EftfE-7S 105 269406 Wes 692 S B2 40085
Bank borrowings - fired rate BAET-%8 687 1678460 53953 - - 1TR413 1050475
Bank borrowings - variable rate B985 13 2,466 135,822 e e 138288 134178
Bank overdraft - variable rate Ffz-98 5.5 12,620 = = = 12,620 12,457
6.5% coupon bonds - fied rate 6.5%EEEE-FE 950 114,510 - - - 114510 100,649
13.0% coupon bonds - fired rate~ 130%Z8E5-TE 13.00 B17% - - - BT 28,108

2,840,305 9605 81137 16945 338992 2,609,600
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Liquidity tables (continued)

The amount included above for financial
guarantee contracts is the maximum amount
the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to
the guarantee. Based on expectations at the
end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company consider that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee
which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The Group has bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately HK$916,343,000
and HK$31,462,000 respectively that
contain repayable on demand clause
(2023: approximately HK$983,109,000 and
HK$35,822,000 respectively), which were
included in the current liabilities.

The Group has defaulted in repayment of
principals and interests of bank borrowing and
other borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$23,743,000 and HK$30,895,000
respectively during the year ended 31
March 2024. The outstanding principal
amounts of the bank borrowing and other
borrowings in respect of which the Group has
defaulted in repayment were approximately
HK$916,343,000 and HK$13,749,000
respectively as at 31 March 2024 and are
repayable on demand as a result of the default
clause in these borrowings. Due to these
defaults of borrowings, this had triggered
cross default of other borrowing approximately
HK$17,713,000 as at 31 March 2024, which
was originally due for repayment in December
2024. As at 31 March 2024, the bank and
financial institutions are contractually entitled
to request for immediate repayment of the
outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$947,805,000.

48.

EMIRGE
48b  BIBEMERERRECK (&)

HBEZIZE (A

LRI ERERGOZED
AEBERERRXS D RERR
BEMEFRESBRLIAIERE
ENRSEHE -  RERSHR
BTEH > AXRBEFRR > B
ARBRBEZARIEZ A
B o A > At ERER
ZARBHERFRELRENA
MEMEE LR > M EMER
RZHHEANEERY R
MEARZEERRANAENER
@0

AEEFEEEREREE
BRI TER R EMER
2 B #9916,343,000 3% 7T K&
31,462,000 T (ZE =4 :
2 B 49 983,109,000 3 7T &
35,822,000/ 7T) » 2585t
AREEE o

AEBCECHREBEE_ESE_NFE=
B=+—HLtEEHXEE
BTEAREMERELRE M
A B 49 B %923,743,000 % 7T
230,895,000 c R &
_MME=ZRB=+—H " &&E
BiE X ERIBTERREME
RZEKREBEREDINONA
916,343,0007875 13,749,000
B BRZEEANENK
AMBRBEKRERE - AZEE
TEL ) BT AERE—
EERN_E_NE=Z/F=
+—H#&7%417,713,0003% 7T)
RXYEH  ZEBREENRZ
T_UE+_FBHEERE o
—E-E=RB=+—H R
ThEmigEmcRRETAE#
ERITEEREENEBIRDN
947,805,000 7T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48c

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how
the Group determines fair value of various
financial assets and financial liabilities.

In estimating the fair value, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not
available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation committee works closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The accounting officer reports
the findings of the valuation to the board of
directors of the Company every half year to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair
value.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets
are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets are
determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on
the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.
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48c

THRTAZATENE

AWNERHEALIEREES
RtREEREHEEQATE
B ERER} ©

At AT ER » ZEEER
BERSZHMHEIRREE - B
BERNSE—MRBAER > &
EEZERFE = ERMAEM
EITHE HEZEERGE
B BEEMBELSIE > U
BUYUBEGLERZEZRELHA
B -EtEEBFEFEAEAT
EFTHREMELER > MURHA
NHERBZIREA o

() FEEEATEIEEL
ATEEEZSREE
AFLE
AEEZETEREE
NEREHRRATE
HE o TRIEGEMNE
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2755k (R ERFRAZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERTH(#&
(continued)
48c  Fair value measurements of financial 48c EMTAZAFEFHEHE)
instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) REF IS E B
assets that are measured at fair value RFEFIECHEE
on a recurring basis (continued) WNFE ()

Fair value as at
RUTREZATE
Fair value  Valuation technique
Financial assets 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 hierarchy  and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
tHEE “ECRESA=Y-A ZBCCEZAS+-R ATEER BERIRIEEAE EATUREBAE
Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Net asset value Probability of default of 1.4 per cent
instruments at instruments in a instruments in a £ EEBE (2023: Probabilfy of default of 1.2
FvTocl company engaged i~ company engaged in per cent) (Note ¢)
BATETARME finance lease services finance lease services BlEEA 4y (CEZE:
ANGZELHE ("Finance Lease’) - ("Finance Lease") - BNEEAI %) (Hs)
HIE HK$69,605,000 HK$93,443,000
—fitErERS —itErERE
Fiz08 (HER B0 (HER
Bl) JFtilsT ) ZEETERT
B-69,605,000%7 B-03,443 0007
Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 2 Cost approach - based ~ N/A
instruments at FVIPL ~ instruments in a instruments in a ] on the replacement A
BATER AR company engaged company engaged cost of identical or
FITRATR in financial advisory ~~ in financial advisory similar asset on the
senvices - HK$nil and — senvices - HKSnil and market.
acompany engaged  a company engaged HE - BTG L
ina premium global  in a premium global AYENEE ER
innovation hub for innovation hub for WA
startups corporations,  startups corporations,
HKS- HKS-
B 2
JhEEETREE  ZAEETER
I2-BEnk-B  IE-ZHEnR-@
BEMACENEE  SENAAENEE
RREHRLNE ESVElEIN
i- & f- £
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

48c  Fair

value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (continued)

Note a:As at 31 March 2024, a slight
increase in the probability of default
used in isolation would result in a
slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity
instruments, and vice versa. A 2%
increase in the probability of default
holding all other variables constant
would decrease the carrying amount
of the shares of Finance Lease
by approximately HK$2,554,000
(2023: HK$9,986,000).
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48. =RMT A (&

48c EMIBZAFEFEE)

()  FEEREEEREL
RNFEGIEZEHEE
2P E ()

Mizta -

A B ZNE=A
=+—H > BEE
FBBYE A9 B R ES Ty
EABERIELT
EHmITENAFE
STEEMTE K
2R EFRA
Hihn@#ErEN15
MTE o BHOBEXL
F+2% i 5 Ab &
&R BR AR
/1y 492,554,000 #
T(ZEZ=%:
9,986,000 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERITH (&
(continued)
48c  Fair value measurements of financial 48c SMTEAZAFEHEHE)
instruments (continued)
(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) BRI TEFEZH
measurements R

Financial assets
EMEE

Unlisted equity  Unlisted equity
investments at  investments at
FVTPL FVTOCI
BATEStABR BATE
ZIEET FHAHMZENKE
BERE ZFLmEERE

HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THT
At 1 April 2022 ATE-"FBA—H 2,090 -
Addition hE = 92,924
Fair value loss recognised in REERER 2 ATERE
profit or loss (2,047) -
Fair value gain recognised in REMEEWZRRZ AT
other comprehensive income BEWE - 519
Exchange realignment ERAE (43) -
At 31 March 2023 and RIEI=FZA=1—H
1 April 2023 RZEZ-FHA—H - 93,443
Fair value loss recognised in other REfZEWEERZ AT
comprehensive income ErBE S (23,838)
At 31 March 2024 RIZ_MFE=RA=1+—H - 69,605

352 CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rj & B 45 FR 23 5] | Annual Report 2024 4R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. ERITH (&
(continued)
48c  Fair value measurements of financial 48c EMTAZAFEFHEHE)
instruments (continued)
(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i)  BERAFEEEZH
measurements (continued) BR (&)
Of the total gains or losses for the FREtAB@m 2B WG
year included in profit or loss, no gain HEEP > BEE
or loss (2023: loss of HK$6,949,000) BR(CE=F ' 5E
relates to financial assets at FVTPL held 6,949,000 7t ) JH B it
at the end of the reporting period. Fair WREARMEFERRERAT
value gains or losses on financial assets Bt ABmzEmMEBEE
at FVTPL are included in ‘other income, B - BATES AR
gains and losses’. M EMEEZATE
W SRS IE L 5 AT E A
WA ~ U s e E51E ] ©
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i)  FEEFIEEAFEFE

assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value (but fair
value disclosures are required)

The fair values of other financial
assets and financial liabilities have
been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based
on a discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being
the discount rate that reflects the credit
risk of counterparties.

The directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their
fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's

liabilities arising from financing activities, including

both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising

from financing activities are those for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified

in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash

flows from financing activities.

2024

Bank and other borrowings

Loans from staff

Amounts due to related companies
Amounts due to directors

6.5% coupon bonds

13.0% coupon bonds

Lease liabilities

Total
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ZEIpE

FREMED
N
RAEELTRE
ENESRE
65%ZEE5
130%ZEES
gk

it

1 April
2023

.
mA-A
HK$'000
Tin

1,599,395
6,339
88,626
34,035
100,649
228,108
24,932

2,082,084

Financing
cash flows
other than

interest
HERE
e (g
fE18)
HK$'000
Tin

(82,694)
(3.860)
105
1,029
(6,000)
(68,528)
(4,685)

(158,633)

49,

Accrual
interest

fithlg
HKS'000
T

120,326
3%
15,523
4,146
9,529
21,380
2,199

173499

BB EBI A > B IR

TRFALFAEEREZHELEZER
28 (aRREhFHREET) - ME
EHEEZERARERECIAREK

RERERT

A g A
NEZN=

RERERDER

METHELEZREREBZERE -

Interest
paid

EffflE
HKS'000
T

(115,608)
(396)

(1.803)
(9,016)
(2.199)

(129,022)

Others

Eft
HK$000
TAn

(9,146)"

(9,146)

Exchange
realignment

ERAE
HK$'000
TAn

(88,581)
(354)
(4,634)
(7,956)
(822)

(102,347)

31 March
2024

ZECME
ZA=t-A
HKS'000
Tin

1,432,838
2125
90,474
45,210
102,375
163,988
19,425

1,856,435
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (continued)

49. RMEIFDEEZGRHRE)

financing
cash flows
1 April other than Accrual Interest ~ New lease Exchange 31 March
2023 TRk 2022 interest interest paid entered Others  realignment 2023
HER:
= ) 3
ME-B #AE)  EHE  EFHE  WIEE Eft EQ#E =B=t-H
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TEn Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tirn
Bkand oherborowings  BTREMER 163814 @195 118719 (112430 S000 ) 15930
Loans from staff SIER 2213 (1,160) 840 (840) - (195260 (2,188) 6,339
Amounts due to related companies FEfIEIEATRE 7700 29010 17,868 - - ()0 (5,091) 88,626
Amounts due to directors S 26,289 8330 4322 (1,587) - (3,319 - 34,035
6.5% coupon bonds 6.5%ZEES 128489 (1433 11803 (8200 - (10,0000 = 100,649
13.0% coupon bonds 13.0%ZE65 261,125 (1,774) 30,778 (52,811) - - 790 228,108
Lease liabiltes HEAE 8716 (82760 1785 (1783 27,280 (2958)" 170 2493
Total b 2,219,346 (132600 186,115 (177,670) 21,280 (50,664) (49,063 2,082,084
(i) The amounts represents the adjustment on (i) ZEEEHEMNREARREBEZER
carrying amount of amounts due to related EEEH 2 8% #%99,146,0008 7T
companies of approximately HK$9,146,000 (2023: (ZE” =4 1 24,861,00087T) °
HK$24,861,000).
(ii) The amount represents the transfer from 6.5% (ii) ZEREIEH6 5% EEESFERER
coupon bonds to bank and other borrowings. ITREAMMERR o
(iii) The amount represents the liabilities derecognised (iii) ZERERHENBARBREE

over which control was lost upon the disposal of
subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o W 5 T R B ek
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
provided financial guarantee services to the related
companies which also constituted as continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules and
the amounts as listed in the table below:

g (faz)

>

Related Companies (Note) filE

Related Companies (Note) REAE (Kfat)

Note: Companies in which the controlling shareholder of
the Company (who is also a director of the Company)
or the relatives of this controlling shareholder has
significant influence to these companies (“Related
Companies”).

50.

FEALRS
HETEALZXS

RE=E
ER

RO NFE=RB=+—HLHF

AEERREATRHMER

RARTS > MARELHER - BRARS
TERFERERS > EBRIW RS

P

Mzt -

Rental Income

AL ON
2024 2023
—EME TET=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT

= 2,154

Property management
services income and
other utilities income

MESERBWA K
HMABEEWA
2024 2023
—E-mE S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
- 3,127

TABERBRRRITB/ERABE
B)AZERRRZHEBHARNEE
FEN2ZZERE (TREAF) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Balances with Related Companies

Details of the balance with Related Companies which
is trade in nature and non-trade in nature as at 31
March 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 26 and
Note 36, respectively.

Compensation of key management personnel

Salaries and other benefits

RER R AR

Post-employment benefits

All the directors are considered as key management
of the Group. During both years, certain managerial
employee have been authorised to plan, direct
and control activities of the Group. Accordingly,
compensation to those managerial employee has
been included as part of compensation of key
management personnel.

The remuneration of key management is determined
by the Company’s nomination and remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.
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HBIfEL ] 24557

A TETNER_E_ZF=ZRA=+
—H > BN AR (DRAES
HENRIEBSMHE) B0 R &SR
26521536 ©

FTEEEARZHME
2024 2023
“ETE —BT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTaERT FTET
8,538 15,151
108 148
8,646 15,299

FREEFHATEBRZETEEE
B -rmEFER  ETEERERS

BEEESE #5%\&@&%74&%2
REEe o EHit > 2FEEREESZ
MEEBFERATEEEABZMEZ—
DA ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

LRl YNSIEE
UTAERABDR - E-NER-E
ZEZA=+-BZHEATZHIE:

51. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 51.
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Place of
Issued share

incorporation/

Proportion of

establishment capital/paid up ~ ownership interest held
Name of company and operations registered capital by the Company Principle activities
Bl BB/ FATMRE
NEHE HAREENE BEMES RERLZILA) IEEH
2024 2023
ZEomE —TocE
Alphamount Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERAF ABERRES 1RRHERERIZT RERR
Balance Pursue Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEARAT ABEMRES 1RRHERERIER RERR
BD Capital Limited Cayman Islands 100 shares of USD1 each 51% 51%  Investment holding
HEHE 100RRAERERI T RERR
Beyond Success Global Limited BVI 1 Share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRRRERAT EBURTEE \RRHEREE1E Rank
Brave Plan Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEBRRAT &# IRERRERER AR RERR
Chinlink Alpha Limited (Note i) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
EhmEERAR (Wi &R \RERRERER AR RERR
Chinlink Business Operation Management PRC Nil 100% 100%  Inactive
(Xi'an) Company Limited (Note i) i z HEey
EETEHEELER (BR) BRAF
(hrstii)
Chinlink Capital Limited (Note v) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each N/A 100%  Investment holding
EETEEAERAT (W) & IRERRESRER AR byl RERR

RMB277,800,000 100% 100%
AE#277,800,0007C

Chinlink Commercial Management (Hanzhong)  PRC
Company Limited (Note i I
LETEHEER (%) BRAT (W)

Property investment

NERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 51.
(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued share
establishment capital/paid up
Name of company and operations registered capital
BT BB/
Gk HIREENE BYHMEE
Chinlink Forever Rich Company Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each
(Note vi) ¥ 100 EERERAR BT
EgEERAT (M)
Chinlink Glory Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary

ETEEARAT

Chinlink Group Limited
EEPEERERARAT

Chinlink Hanzhong Logistics Limited
EEPEEPMRERAT

Chinlink Hong Kong Company Limited
EEhe (B8 BRAT

Chinlink Makerspace Management (Xi'an)
Company Limited (Note i)
EETeRAIZHER D)
BRAR (W)

Chinlink Management Consulting (Xi'an)
Company Limited (Note ii)
LRETREEEN (B%) BRAT (W)

Chinlink Mega Limited
EREARAT

&5 share of HK$1 each
1,000,000 EBREREE BT

Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
&k \REBRERAER BT
Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
¥ \REBRERAEG AT
Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
&k \REBRERARET
PRC Nil
T g
PRC Nil
" z
Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
&k \REBRERAER BT

MEBATFE (&

Proportion of
ownership interest held

by the Company
L YNEITTEER ]
BRRREDZILA
2024 2023
—ECmE —E-CF
N/A 51%
ER
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principle activities

IBEH

Inactive
kT ES

Investment holding
RERR

Inactive

EEEx

Investment holding
&R

Investment holding

REER

Inactive
ks

Consulting

GiE)

Investment holding

REER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 W55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

51. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 51. MBABFRE &
(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued share Proportion of
establishment capital/paid up  ownership interest held
Name of company and operations registered capital by the Company Principle activities
BT BB/ L YNEITTEER ]
Gk HIREENE BYHMEE HEERLZILA) IEEH
2024 2023
—ECmE —E-CF
Chinlink Property Management (Shaanxi) PRC Nil 100% 100%  Inactive
Limited (Note 7 " z BRex

EZEMENEER (WB) BRAR (W)

Chinlink Supply Chain Financial Management ~ PRC USD4,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of logistics

(Shaanxi) Company Limited (Note if) HE 4,000,000%7% services
EEDSHEESHER (M) BRAF AR
(i)

Chinlink Supreme Limited
EEREEHARAT

Chinlink Strategic Limited
EEPEREERAT

Chinlink Tian Hui Company Limited
EhRERRAR

Dawn Brightness Global Limited
BHRIRERAR

E-Innovation Limited

IRRIBRAR

Esteemed Zone Limited
LHBRAT (REEN [Ehal
BRAT) 2 ARETER)

Hong Kong
&B

Hong Kong
&#

Hong Kong
&8

BVI
e

BV
ABERRES

BVI
REURRES

1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
IRERRESRER AR

1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
\REBREREB AT

1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
IRERRSRER AR

1 share of USD1 each
IRRASREEIZR

1 share of USD1 each
\RRAERER1ER

1 share of USD1 each
\RRAERER1ET

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
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Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

e

Trading of electronic
products
BYERER

Investment holding

kaEk

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding
RERR



51.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g p s EA TS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name of company

AT

Fair Fortune Group Limited

AHERERAR

Galactic Power Limited
FRBRAT (REBMN [HRER
BIRAR) 2 ATRETER)

High Express International Limited

BRERERAR

HZ Tiannong Green Agriculture International
Limited (Note ii)
ENRRERELERERAD (Wati)

MCM Enterprise Operations Management
(Xi'an) Company Limited (Note / & iif)
BREEMELELEEERAT (Waiki)

MCM Asset Management (Shaanxi)
Company Limited (Note / & Jii)
MALHEEEEERERAR (Watikii)

Mega Zone Investments Limited

KERERRAT

Shaanxi Chinlink Financial Guarantee Limited
(Note ii and iv)
MELETERERRERAT Wik

Shaanxi Chinlink Factoring Company Limited
(Note ii and fv)
MELETEBERERRAD (Wtiki)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operations
BT
FIREENR

BVI
RRURRES

BVI
RBUERRES
Hong Kong
&R

PRC

thE

PRC
el

PRC
el

BV
RBEARHE
PRC

T

PRC
el

51. MEBARFEE

Issued share
capital/paid up
registered capital
BB/
BAHRES

1 share of USD1 each
\RRNEREE1ET

1 share of USD1 each
\RRAERER1ET

1 ordinary share of HK$1 each
IREBRSRERE AT
RMB20,000,000

AE20,000,0007

RMB2,510,000
AE#2,510,0007

RMB2,248,000
AE2,248,0007

1 share of USD 1 each
1RRAERER1ER
USD30,000,000

30,000,000%7c

RIMB90,000,000
AE190,000,0007

Proportion of
ownership interest held

by the Company
L YNEITTEER ]

BRRREDZILA
2024 2023
—ECmE —E-CF
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
66% 66%
51% 51%
51% 51%
100% 100%
65% 65%
65% 65%

Principle activities

IBEH

Investment holding

e

Financial services

SRR

Investment holding
Rank

Trading of chinese
medicine
BETE

Financial advisory
services

b

Financial advisory
services

MHRRIRE

Investment holding
RERR

Provision of financial
guarantee services

RIHEERRE

Factoring services

BERERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

51.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name of company

AT

Sino Yield Enterprise Limited
PRAEERAT

Tender Corporation Limited (Note ;)
XETERAR (Witv)

Tian Hui Global Limited
RERRERAF

Trillion Up Limited
HEARAR

Xi'an Chinlink Commercial Operation
Management Company Limited (Note i)
BREPHEELERERAT (i)

Xi'an Da Ming Gong Ba Qiao Furniture and
Fixture Limited ("Ba Qiao") (Note i)
RZAREBRENZXEERAT
(T8t ) (i)

Xi'an Tang Rong Real Estate Limited
("Tang Rong") (Note ii)
RREREXERAR (RE)) (i)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operations
BT
FIREENR

BVI
RRURRES

HK
&R

BVI
RRURRES

BV
RBERRES

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
TR

51. MIBATFEGE

Issued share
capital/paid up
registered capital
BB/
BAHRES

1 share of USD1 each
\RRNEREE1ET

100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each
100RERRSRER BT

1 share of USD1 each
\RROEREE1ET

1 share of USD1 each
\RRAERER1ER

RMB1,000,000

AE#1,000,0007

RIB30,000,000
NE180,000,0007

RMB320,000,000
320,000,000

13

Proportion of

ownership interest held

by the Company
L YNEITTEER ]
BRRREDZILA

2024 2023
—

S

100% 100%

N/A 100%
TER
100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
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Principle activities

IBEH

Investment holding

e

Inactive

Investment holding

e

Investment holding

et
Investment holding

e

Property investment

NERE

Property investment

ESE]



51.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
Note:
(i) These companies are indirectly held and controlled

by a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

(i) These companies are domestic enterprise with
limited liabilities established in the PRC.

(iii) These companies are wholly foreign owned
enterprise in the PRC.

(iv) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
acquired the equity interests held by non-controlling
shareholders in Chinlink Alpha Limited, Shaanxi
Chinlink Financial Guarantee Limited and Shaanxi
Chinlink Factoring Company Limited with aggregate
consideration of USD1,500,000 (Equivalent to
approximately HK$11,719,000), which result in
the increase of other reserve of approximately
HK$21,684,000 and decrease of non-controlling
interests of approximately HK$33,403,000.

(v) The company deregistered on 20 October 2023.

(vi) The company deregistered on 12 January 2024.

(vii) The company deregistered on 15 September 2023.

All the subsidiaries are owned indirectly by the
Company except for Trillion Up Limited, Chinlink
Hong Kong Company Limited, Sino Yield Enterprise
Limited, Esteemed Zone Limited, Dawn Brightness
Global Limited and Beyond Success Global Limited
which are owned directly by the Company.

All PRC subsidiaries are legal entities with limited
liability.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year or at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s subsidiaries
do not have material non-controlling interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

52. ZFARZHMBRRARKHEE

POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

COMPANY

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Rental deposits
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Current assets

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
6.5% coupon bonds

13.0% coupon bonds
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Deferred income

Net current liabilities

FERBEE
RNBARZKE
Y ENAYSES
EREEE
HEEe
FEW N B A EIRRIAR

REEE
HMEWERE « BE K
iEINE/SC!
RN B A RIIRIE
RTTEFRREE

mENBE
HAFE(IERIB M e &
HEAaE
RIT R EH A AR
6.5%ZEEH
13.0%ZBEH
FE(IBY A B ARIE
IRIEUTA

2024
—EImE
HK$°000
FET

7,286

196
6,662
1,356
7,344

22,844

435
707,726
186

708,347

26,916
2,646
31,462
102,375
163,988
1,858,715
1,593

2,187,695

(1,479,348)
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2023
B
HK$'000
T

35,467
272
9,327
1,356
37,406

83,828

1,751
744,968
434

747,153

23,619
2,381
38,102
100,649
228,108
1,776,650
1,593

2,171,102

(1,423,949)



52.

-
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z_UF=H=+—HILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 52. AABZMBERRRRAHE
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE (48)

COMPANY (continued)

2024 2023

ZE-UE —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Total assets less current liabilities MEERADERE (1,456,504) (1,340,121)
Non-current liabilities EREEE

Lease liabilities HEaRE 4,534 7,180

Amount due to directors S EEIRIE 44,884 34,063

Deferred income RIEUTA 133 1,726

49,551 42,969

Net liabilities BE3E (1,506,055) (1,383,090)
Capital and reserves BEAR R

Share capital [RZN 11,693 11,693

Reserves B (1,517,748) (1,394,783)

Equity attributable to owners of the KABEBE NELZ#ER
Company (1,506,055) (1,383,090)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 S 25 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z _F=H=+—HILFE

52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 52. ZAFRRZMBRRARRGHE
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE (%)
COMPANY (continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves /NS e
(Accumulated
Share losses)/
Share options Retained Total
premium reserve profits reserves
(R5t
B8 /
RNEE  BREHE REBEF fRfERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET TERT T#T T#ERT
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZ#=RF=t+—R 2,244,781 33,146 (3,678,085 (1,400,158)
Profit for the year KEERF - - 8,279 8,279
Lapsed of share options BBIRIELR - (2,904) = (2,904)
At 31 March 2023 RIE2Z=f=A=+—H 2,244,781 30,242 (3,669,806) (1,394,783)
Loss for the year AEERE = = (122,965) (122,965)
Lapsed of share options FERER A - (30,242) 30,242 =
At 31 March 2024 RZF-ME=B=+—H 2,244,781 - (3762,529)  (1,517,748)
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53.

54.

55.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 WA 5 % B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E_Z-UF=H=+—HILFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
had no material non-cash transaction undertaken
by the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There are no material events undertaken by the
Group subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the
date of this report.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 28 June 2024.
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55.
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Group Properties

LIk PG

MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR
INVESTMENT

Location

A=

Junction of Jinger Road and Weiyi Road,
Baohe Logistic Park, Hantai District,
Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province, The PRC

FREIRAEE ERHESERAYIRERE K
BB — PR TP RR

Junction of Jinger Road and Weiyi Road,
Baohe Logistic Park, Hantai District,
Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province, The PRC

FRERFEE EF T ES BRI AYRERE K
BB — PR IPERR

The eastern side of Ban Yin Road, Ba Qiao
District, Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province,
The PRC

FREIPRFEE AL T #is & 5| kR

Lot number

HhEG AR SR

61070200900G-
500285

61070200900G-
500285

61070200900G-
500286

61070200900G-
500286

BQ3-4-11

BQ3-4-11

FHEREZTEME

Existing use

RERR

Under development for
commercial use

LERPERERS

Under development for
residential use

LERPEETRE

Commercial Complex held
for rental purpose

FEHERGZ BmEKNE
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Term of
lease

THEA

Medium

FRHEA

Long

£

Medium

FRHEA
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